

Evolution of *de novo* multidrug resistance in experimental bacterial populations: insights from pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes, recombination, and compensatory mutations

Hasan Chowdhury Mehedi B.Sc. (Hons.) in Biotech, & M.Sc. in Infection Biology

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of Queensland in 2017 School of Biological Sciences

<u>Abstract</u>

Antibiotic resistance is an emerging global medical crisis. Resistant pathogens can evolve and spread rapidly in response to selection pressures exerted by antibiotics. A major concern in particular is the evolution of resistance to multiple drugs in many clinical pathogenic bacteria. Specifically, multidrug resistance (MDR) can appear either by *de novo* mutations or by acquiring resistance determinants from exogenous sources via recombination. However, the relative influence of mutation and recombination on bacterial adaptation to multiple drugs remains largely unknown. Therefore, I studied the evolution of *de novo* multidrug resistance in *Acinetobacter baylyi*, a Gramnegative environmental bacterium has also recently been found to be associated with clinical infection, by characterizing two-locus pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes, by assessing the role of recombination through natural transformation, and studying the spread of compensatory mutations.

In chapter 2, I characterized two-locus pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes (PDFLs) by constructing three sets of four different genotypes comprising streptomycin, rifampicin and kanamycin resistant mutants. I analysed the resulting PDFLs by characterising epistasis, collateral sensitivity or cross-resistance, drug interactions and mutation selection windows to understand the trajectories and rate of evolutionary adaptation of resistant pathogens at multiple loci under each of the corresponding antibiotic pairs with several hundreds of antibiotics concentrations. My results showed that fitness landscapes were largely non-epistatic between each pair of resistance conferring mutations in all three pairs of drug environments. However, a wider mutant selection window (MSW) was apparent for some drug pairs. I also found that a wider MSW can also occur in presence of cross-resistance (associated with a mutation conferring simultaneous resistance to several drugs belonging to the same class), which may have important implications in resistance evolution. In addition to this, I found a minor sign of an Eagle effect (non-monotonic effect of drug concentration on growth rate). Overall, the results we present here underline the importance of choosing the right drug for both combination and cyclic treatment to exclude the prolonged exposure of sub-MIC level of antibiotics.

In chapter 3, I investigated the impact of recombination via natural transformation on the MDR evolution under static two-drug (rifampicin and streptomycin) antimicrobial combinations by employing an experimental evolution experiment. Here, I characterized the ancestor and the evolved populations with respect to *de novo* multidrug resistance by using different phenotypic assays and by next generation sequencing. Growth rate and competition assays demonstrated higher fitness of the populations propagated under drug pressures, but there was no difference in fitness gain between recombination-proficient and -deficient populations. Moreover, antibiotic

susceptibility assays showed that clones that evolved in presence of drugs had become strongly resistant to rifampicin but resistance to streptomycin was only weak. Additionally, *de novo* resistance to other antibiotic classes including ciprofloxacin was also observed in these populations. Consistent with these findings, whole genome sequencing revealed an abundance of drug specific resistance mutations, including *rpoB* mutation indicating target alteration for rifampicin as a resistance mechanism as well as mutations associated with multidrug efflux system encoding genes representing phenotypic resistance to multiple drugs. In conclusion, adaptive benefit of recombination via natural transformation under sub-lethal concentration of rifampicin and streptomycin is likely constrained by the low number of mutations that were spreading, which prevented clonal interference.

In chapter 4, I investigated the adaptive role of compensatory mutations in a set of resistant populations comprising both single and multidrug resistant A. baylyi carrying both rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutations by employing an evolution experiment in absence of drug pressure. I characterised the evolved endpoint and ancestral populations through phenotypic assays and by next generation sequencing to explore the adaptive mechanisms that have taken place during the course of evolution. My results revealed that the deleterious effects of resistance mutations are compensated for by varying degrees among different sets of resistant genotypes. Specifically, adaptation to the cost of resistance in a set of multidrug resistant and rifampicin resistant populations was higher compared to the subset of streptomycin resistant populations. This greater fitness improvement in multidrug resistant genotype was influenced by some of the fittest lineages following a bimodal fitness distribution without altering the MIC of the primary antibiotics. Whole genome sequencing data revealed that both costly rifampicin resistant and double resistant lineages adapted by compensatory mutations in the RNA polymerase core enzyme. However, only minor fitness compensation to the low cost streptomycin resistance mutation was observed, and without evolving any putative compensatory mutations. We observed a different parallel adaptive evolution in the double resistant genotype, which harboured an unexpected additional deleterious mutation. Surprisingly, half of the lineages originating from this double resistant genotype were better compensated for through reversion mutations, which were also accompanied by distinct compensatory mutations in RNA polymerase core enzyme, and those mutations were not shared by any rifampicin resistant genotypes. Finally our data suggest that adaptation to the cost of multidrug resistance is independent of the genetic background of mutations that appeared in single resistant genotypes.

Declaration by author

This thesis is composed of my original work, and contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly authored works involving in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my research higher degree candidature and does not include a any part of work that has been submitted to qualify for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that an electronic copy of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library and, subject to the policy and procedures of The University of Queensland, the thesis be made available for research and study in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 unless a period of embargo has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material. Where appropriate I have obtained copyright permission from the copyright holder to reproduce material in this thesis.

Publications during candidature

"No publications".

Publications included in this thesis

"No publications included".

Contributions by others to the thesis

Chanter	Activities	Contribution						
Chapter		HCM	JE	DOB	JH	NH	HNNV	SUM
Chapter 1	Writing	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
Chapter 2	Concept and experimental design	80%	20%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Resistant genotype construction	95%	0%	0%	0%	5%	0%	100%
	Performed experiments	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Data analysis	95%	5%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Interpretation of data	95%	5%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Writing	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
Chapter 3	Concept and experimental design	80%	20%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Performed experiments	98%	0%	0%	0%	0%	2%	100%
	Data analysis	80%	10%	10%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Interpretation of data	95%	5%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Writing	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
Chapter 4	Concept and experimental design	90%	10%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Performed experiments	98%	0%	0%	2%	0%	0%	100%
	Data analysis	95%	5%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Interpretation of data	95%	5%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
	Writing	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%
Chapter 5	Writing	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%

HCM: Hasan Chowdhury Mehedi; JE: Jan Engelstaedter; DOB: Daniel Ortiz-Barrientos; JH: James

Hereward; NH: Nils Hülter; HNNV: Hong Nga Nguyen Vu

Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to qualify for the award of another degree

"None".

Acknowledgements

I would like to pass my heartfelt acknowledgement and gratitude to the following people for their continuous support: at the very beginning, I would like to thank my principal supervisor, assistant professor Dr. Jan Engelstaedter. Thank you so much for taking me on as a PhD student in your new lab. After coming here and working in your group, I realized that you (and Acinetobacter baylyi) have floated me onto the ocean of population and evolutionary genetics of multidrug resistance in bacteria. Jan has given me so much of independence, trust, supports, guidance, and generosity; otherwise this entire work would not have been possible. Now I feel like I have grown up as a little researcher under your guidance.

I am extremely gratitude to Dr. Daniel Ortiz-Barrientos for quick insightful discussions on different issues related to my PhD projects and also for the help with statistics. Without his help, it would not have been possible to analyze my data independently.

I would also like to thank my examiner Professor Mark Schembri, for being very kind and has helped me and given me the much needed inputs and encouragement to pursue my dreams. I would also like to thank my reader A/Professor Katrina McGuigan, for being very kind and also for seeing me through my persistent craving for research during each milestone.

Special thanks are due to some people for passing through their valuable suggestions from far:

Assoc/Professor Christian Giske (Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm) for his insights and suggestions on resistance profiling; Assis/ Professor Michael Baym (Department of Biomedical Informatics and Laboratory of System Biology, Harvard Medical School) for prompt reply with detailed suggestions on my library preparations during the last Christmas vacation.

I was surrounded by a great number of people during undertaking my PhD here at the Engelstaedter laboratory, UQ. I would like to thank all of them for being very kind all the time whenever I needed any help. Among them, I would like to pass my big thanks to Dr. Milos Tanurdzic for being easy-to-approach for many issues related to genomics.

My heartfelt thanks go to Dr. James Hereward who was also very supportive during library preparation.

I would like to thank Beth, Maddie and Angie (all belong to the Engelstaedter lab) for their valuable supports. Especial thanks go to Jazz, Alex, Nicole for their enthusiastic encouragements during writing this thesis report.

Many thanks go to the School of Biological Sciences, University of Queensland for providing me with full-time scholarships support. Special thanks are due to A/Professor Steve Chenoweth for making my last part of PhD easier.

Also many thanks to Dr. Nils Hülter and Pål J. Johnsen (UiT The Arctic University of Norway) for their generous gift of initial *Acinetobacter baylyi* bacterial strains.

I would like to pass my love and regards to my parents for their affection, support and guidance. Finally, I appreciate the patience and support of my wife Sabina for making my thesis smoother even in the presence of 'our (Arvid, Sabina and myself) life at critical juncture'; truly she played significantly a very big and very precious role during this entire process of my PhD, and I am sure she deserves more than this PhD.

Keywords

infectious diseases, adaptive evolution, multidrug resistance, pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes, epistasis, drug-interaction and cross-resistance, collateral sensitivity, mutant selection window, clonal interference and recombination, compensatory mutation

Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)

ANZSRC code: 060411 Population, Ecological and Evolutionary Genetics 45% ANZSRC code: 060503 Microbial Genetics 45% ANZSRC code: 110309 Infectious Diseases 10%

Fields of Research (FoR) Classification

FoR code: 0605 Microbiology 50% FoR code: 0604, Genetics, 40% FoR code: 1103 Clinical Sciences 10%

Table of contents

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XIV
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
DRUG RESISTANCE EVOLUTION: A GLOBAL THREAT	1
ANTIBIOTICS AND THEIR FUNCTIONAL TARGETS	4
TYPES AND MECHANISMS OF ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE	6
INTRINSIC RESISTANCE	6
ACQUIRED RESISTANCE	9
THE MDR BACTERIA AND THEIR CLINICAL IMPACT	14
ANTIBIOTICS USED IN THIS STUDY: ACTION AND RESISTANCE MECHANISMS	15
AMINOGLYCOSIDES	15
ANSAMYCINS	17
EVOLUTIONARY ASPECTS OF DRUG RESISTANCE	19
ANTIBIOTICS ON THE MUTATION FREQUENCY AND MUTATION RATE	19
ROLE OF HGT AND RECOMBINATION	21
EVOLUTIONARY DYNAMICS OF MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE	21
STUDY ORGANISM	26
SCOPE AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS THESIS	26
THESIS OUTLINE	27
References	28
LANDSCAPES IN THE EVOLUTION OF MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE	42 42
INTRODUCTION	43
MATERIALS AND METHODS	48
BACTERIAL STRAINS, MEDIA AND GROWTH CONDITIONS USED IN THIS STUDY	48
MUTANTS SCREENING FROM ANCESTRAL SENSITIVE STRAIN AND SANGER SEQUENCING	49
CONSTRUCTION OF DOUBLE RESISTANT STRAIN AND SANGER SEQUENCING	50
STRUCTURE OF TWO-LOCUS FITNESS LANDSCAPE	51
GROWTH RATE ASSAYS	51
DETERMINATION OF MINIMAL INHIBITORY CONCENTRATION (MIC)	52
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	52
Results	52
DETERMINATION OF RESISTANCE MUTATIONS INVOLVED IN THE TWO-LOCUS EMPIRICAL FITNESS	
LANDSCAPES	52
COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH SINGLE AND DOUBLE RESISTANCE GENOTYPES	54
GROWTH RATES FOR THE TWO-LOCUS PHARMACODYNAMICS FITNESS LANDSCAPES	57
DRUG INTERACTIONS POTENTIATE THE EVOLUTION OF MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE	60
MUTATION-SELECTION WINDOW (MSW)	62
EPISTASIS BETWEEN RESISTANCE MUTATIONS	65
DISCUSSION	68
KEFERENCE	76
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	84

SUMMARY	
INTRODUCTION	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	95
STRAINS, MEDIA AND GROWTH CONDITIONS USED IN THIS STUDY	95
EXPERIMENTAL EVOLUTION EXPERIMENT	96
GROWTH RATE ASSAYS	96
ANTIBIOTIC SUSCEPTIBILITY ASSAY BY DISK DIFFUSION	97
ANTIBIOTIC SUSCEPTIBILITY ASSAY BY E-TEST	98
COMPETITIVE FITNESS ASSAY	99
BACTERIAL WHOLE GENOME SEQUENCING AND LIBRARY PREPARATION	99
ANALYSIS OF GENOME DATA	100
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	101
Results	101
PHENOTYPIC INVESTIGATION ON THE EVOLUTIONARY BENEFIT OF NATURAL TRANSFORMATION	IN DE
NOVO MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE	101
GENOMIC INVESTIGATION OF NATURAL TRANSFORMATION IN THE EVOLUTION OF MULTIDRUG	
RESISTANCE	112
DISCUSSION	119
References	124
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	130

SUMMARY	
INTRODUCTION	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
GENETIC BACKGROUND OF STRAINS AND GROWTH CONDITIONS	141
GENOTYPES CONSTRUCTIONS	141
MEASURING COST OF RESISTANCE	
EVOLUTION EXPERIMENT	
GROWTH RATE MEASUREMENT	
ANTIBIOTIC SUSCEPTIBILITY ASSAY BY E-TEST	
FITNESS ESTIMATION BY COMPETITION EXPERIMENT	
GENOME SEQUENCING	
ANALYSIS OF SEQUENCING DATA	
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
Results	
DETERMINING MUTANTS GENOTYPES	
COSTS OF RESISTANCE	
GROWTH RATE TRAJECTORIES OVER TIME	
GROWTH COMPENSATION AS A MEASURE OF MEAN COMPETITIVE ABILITY	
MIC-DETERMINATION AS A MEANS OF TRACKING THE EVOLVABILITY	
GENOMIC BASIS OF COMPENSATION	
DISCUSSION	
References	
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	
CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION	

Reference

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1	1
Figure 1 Sequential drug discovery and resistance evolution	3
Figure 2 Drugs, their cellular targets and the mechanisms cellular death	5
Figure 3 Intrinsic mechanism of antibiotic resistance.	9
Figure 4 Acquired resistance mechanism in bacteria	12
Figure 5 Multidrug resistance via acquisition of mobile genetic elements (MGEs).	14
Chapter 2	
Figure 1 Illustration of the simplest two-locus fitness landscape.	45
Figure 2 The three resulting pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes (PDFL).	51
Figure 3 Fitness of different genotypes in absence of drug pressure	56
Figure 4 Pharmacodynamic fitness landscape of Kan-Rif.	
Figure 5 Drug interactions between kanamycin and rifampicin.	61
Figure 6 Drug interactions and drug concentrations affect the mutant selection window (MSW).	64
Figure 7 Epistasis between resistance genes in three different fitness landscapes	66
Chapter 3	85
Figure 1 Growth rate for the ancestral and endpoint population.	. 102
Figure 2 Mean growth rates for the endpoint populations.	. 103
Figure 3 Mean growth rates for the evolved endpoint populations	. 105
Figure 4 Mean growth rates for the evolved endpoint populations	.106
Figure 5 Competitive fitness for the evolved endpoint populations.	.107
Figure 6 Mean competitive fitness vs. evolved environment across replicate plates	.108
Figure 7 Disk diffusion test	. 109
Figure 8 MIC distribution for three different antibiotics.	.111
Figure 9 Mutational events in the evolved endpoint population	.113
Figure 10 Number of deletions and intergenic mutations in endpoint population	.114
Figure 11 Major mutations identified in the endpoint populations	.115
Chapter 4	.129
Figure 1 Genetics of compensation to the cost of resistance.	.140
Figure 2 Fitness cost among ancestral resistant genotypes	. 149
Figure 3 Growth rate trajectories over time.	.150
Figure 4 Histogram of minimum replication times	.151
Figure 5 Mean selection rate (competitive fitness) vs. transfer (generation)	.152
Figure 6 Stability of the antibiotic-resistant phenotype after ~325 generations	.154
Figure 7 Observed secondary mutations in different resistance lineages.	.158
Figure 8 Mutations and corresponding fitness compensation in double resistant lineages	. 159
Figure 9 A map of <i>rpoB</i> gene showing the distribution of secondary mutations	. 159

List of Abbreviations

MDR	Multidrug resistance
PDR	Pandrug resistance
MRSA	Methicillin resistance <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>
VRE	Vancomycin resistant Enterococci
VRSA	Vancomycin Resistance <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>
XDR	Extensively Drug Resistance
ND	Not Detected/Determined
Mar	Multiple antibitoc resistance
SA	Staphylococcus aureus
TCA	Tricarboxilic Acid Cycle
PBP	Penecillin Binding Protein
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
OMP	Outer Membrane Porin
MGE	Mobile Genetic Element
ESBL	Extended Spectrum β-lactamase
RpsL	Ribosomal protein sub-unit L
RpoB	RNA-polymerase bete-subunit
QRDR	Quinolone Resistance Determining Region
PDFL	Pharmacodynamic Fitness Landscape
СМ	Compensatory Mutation
Gyr	Gyrase
NDM-1	New-Delhi Metallo-β-lactamase 1
RNAP	RNA polymerase
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
SE	Sign epistasis
nptII	neomycin-phosphotransferase-II
Cfp	Cyan fluoresence protein
Yfp	Yellow fluoresence protein
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
E-test	Epsilometer test
HGT	Horizontal Gene Transfer
ND	No Drug
LD	Low Drug
HD	High Drug

Chapter 1: General introduction

Drug resistance evolution: a global threat

The introduction of antimicrobials to treat against infectious diseases was one of the greatest medical accomplishments in history. The objective was to save millions of lives facing severe infectious diseases. These antimicrobial drugs were used against a wide array of infectious diseases caused by bacteria, fungus, viruses and parasites [2]. However, the global emergence of resistance mechanisms among these pathogens has seriously undermined our current treatment options in many ways. Therefore, treatment failure due to the emergence of antimicrobial resistance has now become a global public health threat and a great economical problem [3]. Among these pathogens, bacteria are the most striking example – in terms of morbidity and mortality. Bacteria exploit many efficient strategies to deactivate the action of antibiotics, often leaving no effective antimicrobial compounds. Such resistant pathogens evolve very rapidly whenever antimicrobials are applied. Successful use of these therapeutic agents is mainly compromised due to the development of tolerance or resistance against them. Pathogens use diverse physiological and biochemical mechanisms in order to develop tolerance or resistance against antimicrobials. Studies concerning the population biology and evolutionary principle of such resistance are largely lacking, which is probably paving the way for these pathogens to develop resistance against diverse classes of antimicrobials.

The first antibiotic to treat against infectious diseases – the sulphonamide – was in clinical practice in 1937, but the development of resistance against this compound was severely compromised by distinct mechanisms of resistance which are still found to operate in current ages. The first discovered naturally occurring antibiotic, namely penicillin was discovered by Alexander Fleming from *Penicillium notatum* in 1928 and introduced in the 1940s; however, the penicillin degrading enzyme penicillinase severely compromised the usefulness of this drug soon after its introduction [4]. The first antibiotic belonging to the aminoglycoside class called streptomycin was introduced in 1944 to treat against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* – the causative agent of tuberculosis. The usefulness of this antibiotic was also thwarted by as soon as resistance was evolved. In almost every cases, resistance mechanisms against antimicrobials were reported before their introduction, which raises important but yet unsolved questions regarding the origin of resistance and antibiotics [2]. Many studies have highlighted the source of these resistance genes, where most resistance genes were found in natural environments [5].

The bulk of the antibiotics that are used today were discovered and introduced into the market during the 1950s, sometimes referred to as the golden years in the history of the antibiotics era. Before the 1960s, resistance plasmids were found to be responsible for resistance against those antibiotics; therefore many pharmacological studies were carried out during 1960s and those studies mainly concentrated on the understanding of the mode of action of antibiotics as well as their administration. Later on, sixty-one different antibiotics were approved by the FDA (Food and Drug Administration, U.S.A.) between the year 1980 and 2009, but nearly half of them were withdrawn. Some drugs were removed for the safety and effectiveness issues while other were (apparently most of the drugs) removed owing to marketing policy related issues [6], such that it could be due to (1) infrequent prescription of those drugs, (2) the raw materials were very expensive, (3) the production process required multistep complicated process. Together these had made those drugs less profitable for the company; therefore those drugs were withdrawn from the market.

However, the dearth of new antimicrobial classes was apparent between 1943 and 2000; during this period, only a few (~9 different classes) new antimicrobial classes were discovered and launched into the markets (Figure 1). Overall, in the last 50 years, only seven new classes of antibiotics, namely linezolid (2000), tigecycline (2005), daptomycin (2006), retaparmulin (2007), telavancin (2008), fidaxomicin (2011), and bedaquiline (2012) have come into clinical application with a single variant of each class [7, 8]. All these new classes of antibiotics were introduced after 2000, and resistance emergence against three of them, namely linezolid, daptomycin and tigecycline were also documented in clinical bacterial strains - for example drug resistance to more than one antibiotic was reported during this time in *Escherichia coli*, Salmonella, Shigella, MRSA (methicillin-resistant S. aureus), VRE (vancomycin-resistant enterococci), and others [9]. The rest of the four new classes, including retaparmulin, telavancin, fidaxomicin, and bedaquiline fall into narrow spectrum antibiotics targeting only a limited number of bacterial species belonging mostly to gram positive; no resistance emergence has been reported against them. This situation reflects the fact that the emergence and spread of resistant strains has been faster than antimicrobial drug development [10]. Further, this scenario suggests that antibiotics are gradually decreasing their efficacy against infections due to the evolution of extremely multi-resistant bacteria - mostly deadly Gram negative bacteria via enormous genetic flexibility. Most of these resistant bacteria are found in hospital settings where bacteria encounter high selective pressure exerted by antibiotics [11].



Figure 1 Sequential drug discovery and resistance evolution. Left panel shows year of drug discovery, and the right panel shows year of resistance emergence. No reported case of resistance evolution documented for Retaparmulin, Telavancin, Macrocyclic and Diarylquinolone. R – resistant

Based on the extent of resistance to multiple drugs, bacteria have been classified into three groups. According to this definition, multi-drug resistant (MDR) bacteria are those that are resistant to one agent of three or more antimicrobial classes. Extensively drug-resistant (XDR) bacteria remain non-susceptible to at least one antimicrobial agent of 2 or fewer categories, whereas pandrug-resistant (PDR) bacteria are non-susceptible to all agents of all antimicrobial categories. This definition is applicable to both Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria such as *S. aureus, Enterococcus* spp., *Enterobacteriaceae* (other than *Salmonella* and *Shigella*), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter* spp. [12]. In this study, we defined multidrug

resistance bacteria are being resistant to at least two antimicrobial compounds belonging to either the same chemical class or two different classes.

Antibiotics and their functional targets

Antibiotics belong to different classes of chemicals, are of biological, synthetic or semisynthetic origin and have selective modes of actions. Based on their mechanism of actions, antimicrobial compounds are classified into two groups, namely bactericidal and bacteriostatic. Drugs are called bactericidal when exposure to this particular group of antibacterial compounds leads to the death of bacteria, whereas bacteriostatic drugs are only able to inhibit or hinder growth of bacteria but cannot kill bacteria. Both of these drug actions are principally targeted to the interference of bacterial cell-wall biosynthesis, DNA or RNA synthesis or repair [4]. Further, antibiotics have been classified based on the cellular component or system they affect [13]. Some of these antimicrobial agents target the synthesis of important cellular components, whereas some other classes target bacterial nucleic acid synthesis or repair [14, 15]. For example, fluoroquinolones target and inhibit important bacterial cellular system, such as topoisomerase II (also known as DNA gyrase), and lead to the cellular death by formation of double-strand DNA breaks [16]. Another class of bactericidal antibiotics is the β -lactam antibiotics (i.e., penicillins, cephalosporins, capbapenems and monobactams), which act by binding to and inhibiting the penicillin binding proteins (PBP) leading to stop in cross-linking or transpeptidations within the bacterial cell wall, thus undergo cellular death [17]. Furthermore, some antimicrobial induced cell death is mediated by common detrimental response to drug-induced stresses. For example, bacteria response to most of the bactericidal antibiotics in a unfavourable way, such that bacterial important metabolic system, including central metabolic system called tricarboxilic acid (TCA) cycle as well as iron metabolism is inhibited by reactive oxygen radicals in response to lethal bactericidal antibiotics, resulting in cellular death [18, 19].

In what follows, I will briefly outline the mechanism of cellular killing by the bactericidal antibiotics namely rifampicin (belongs to ansamycin) as well as streptomycin and kanamycin (both belong to the aminoglycoside), since I have used these antibiotics in all three individual research projects of this PhD thesis.

Rifampicin is a semi-synthetic bactericidal antibiotic that can induce cell death by inhibiting bacterial RNA synthesis. Rifampicin triggers catastrophic effect on prokaryotic nucleic acid metabolism by interfering with β -subunit of RNA polymerase [20]. During execution of normal cellular function, β -subunit forms a stable channel between RNA–polymerase and DNA complex from which newly synthesized RNA strand arises [21-23]. Rifampicin binds stably and with high affinity to the β -subunit of DNA dependent RNA–polymerase (encoded by *rpoB* gene), thus inhibiting the high fidelity transcription and causing cellular death.



Figure 2 Drugs, their cellular targets and the mechanisms cellular death. This figure shows different drugs and their different targets. Figure 2 reproduced from [1].

Aminoglycosides cause cellular death by interfering with cellular energetics, ribosome binding and protein synthesis [24]. Bacterial protein synthesis through translation of mRNA occurs in a sequential fashion involving the phases including initiation, elongation and termination. This process is operated in the cytoplasmic space involving ribosome as factory and many other important accessory translation factors available in the cytoplasm [25]. The ribosome is composed of two ribonucleoprotein subunits called 30S (encoded by rpsL gene) and 50S (Figure 2). Following formation of a complex between mRNA-transcript, Nformylmethionine-charged aminoacyl tRNA, several initiation factors and a free 30S subunit (this process is called initiation step of translation), ribosome is assembled for the next translational step [25, 26]. Since this translation is a complex process requiring many cellular component parts and translation factors, drugs can interfere with protein synthesis in many different ways. Protein synthesis inhibitors are classified into 50S inhibitor and 30S inhibitor. 50S inhibitors (i.e. erythromycin, clindamycin, streptogramin, chloramphenicol, and linezolid) interfere with protein synthesis by blocking initiation of protein translation (i.e., oxazolidinones), or translocation of peptidyl tRNAs [27, 28]. Inhibition of 30S ribosome involves blocking of the access of aminoacyl tRNAs to the ribosome. 30S ribosome inhibitor comprises tetracyclines and aminoclyclitols. Both spectinomycin and aminoglycosides, including streptomycin, kanamycin and gentamycin bind to the 16S rRNA component of the 30S ribosomal subunit. Aminoglycosides binds to 16S rRNA which in turn alter the conformation of the complex formed by an mRNA codon and its cognate charged aminoacyl tRNA at the ribosome. This altered complex molecule results in defective protein [14, 29, 30].

Types and mechanisms of antibiotic resistance

Antibiotic resistance can be defined as the property inherent in bacteria by which successful uses of therapeutic agents are compromised by the evolution of tolerance or resistance against it [2, 31]. Generally, antibiotic resistance is associated with prolonged exposure to antibiotics. More specifically, bacterial population remains susceptible to antibiotics at the beginning of a treatment, but can sustain and evolve resistance against antibiotics gradually. Therefore, the continuous selective pressure exerted by antibiotics help bacteria evolve resistance to one or more drugs simultaneously [32]. Bacteria can subvert the action of antibiotics through many different ways, and this resistance fall into two major types, namely innate resistance and acquired resistance. In innate resistance, genes encoding resistance to antibiotics are inherently present in bacteria. On the other hand, bacteria can both survive and acquire resistance is called acquired or adaptive resistance. Now I will give a brief over view of these two mechanisms:

Intrinsic resistance

With intrinsic resistance, naturally occurring genes in the host cell chromosome impart resistance. All bacterial species exhibit intrinsic resistance to a certain array of antimicrobial classes. The biology of these resistance mechanisms varies from bacteria to bacteria. Many bacteria carry genes or enzymes giving intrinsically resistance to particular antibiotics. For example, Streptomyces possesses some genes, which provide resistance to streptomycin antibiotic produced by itself. Enzymatic modifications of antibiotics have been well reported in many clinical bacterial populations. Such resistance mechanisms have commonly been documented for natural antibiotics, including aminoglycosides (i.e., kanamycin, amikacin and tobramycin) and b-lactam antibiotics. In each case, certain enzymes can modify the chemical component of the antibiotics, which in turn result in altered drug-target interactions [60]. observed aminoglycosides modifying enzymes Commonly are aminoglycoside acetyltransferase (AAC-3-II), aminoglycoside phosphorylase (APH-3'-I), and adenylate (nucleotidyltransferases). For example, AAC-3-II can modify a number of different aminoglycosides including amikacin, gentamycin and tobramycin. These enzymes are mostly carried by mobile genetic elements, and responsible for resistance to multiple antibiotics. It has been reported that multiple acetyltransferase encoding genes were carried on class-1 integron in clinical P. aeruginosa, and this bacterium was non-susceptible to many other classes of antibiotics including carbapenems and sulfonamides [61]. Aminoglycoside acetyltransferases also exhibits broad-spectrum activity. For example, in E. coli, a variant of aminoglycoside acetyltransferases (i.e. AAC(6')-Ib) has been found to be associated with reduce susceptibility to ciprofloxacin – a synthetic antibiotic compound belongs to the fluoroquinolone class [170]. Enzymatic inactivation of b-lactam antibiotics is also common in many multidrug resistant clinical bacteria. Genes located on plasmids mostly encode these b-lactam degrading enzyme, but chromosomal genes can also encode this enzyme. Most clinical relevant b-lactam hydrolyzing enzymes are b-lactamase (first reported in S. aureus against penicillin), TEM blactamase (gives resistance to multiple drugs and commonly found in gram negative bacteria containing also multidrug resistant R plasmids), CTX-M b-lactamase (this enzyme is encoded by chromosome of gram negative bacteria, subsequently transferred to the R plasmid). All these enzymes are belonging to ESBL (extended spectrum b-lactamase) enzyme [62, 63].

Impermeability is another form of intrinsic resistance inherent in bacteria, where antimicrobial compounds cannot pass through the bacterial outer membrane. For example, glycopeptide antibiotics such as vancomycin can only target peptidoglycan cross-linking by binding to peptide chain of D-ala-D-ala of gram-positive bacteria, but it cannot pass through the outer membrane and reach to the peptides in the periplasm in Gram negative bacteria [35]. Another important resistance predominantly found in Gram negative bacilli is intrinsic mechanism of

resistance via efflux pump system. Efflux pumps are the major contributor of intrinsic resistance in Gram negative bacteria, which can actively transport multiple antibiotics out of the cell [59]. Even if an antibiotic can pass through to the periplasmic space by a membrane spanning porin protein (i.e. outer membrane porin (OMP)), it is removed or pumped out from the periplasm by active efflux system. Overexpression of efflux systems has been found to be associated with high-level resistance to many clinically important antibiotics. Efflux systems in bacteria are classified into two major groups based on their substrate specificity: substrate specific efflux pump can only transport a certain antibiotics (e.g., Tet efflux system which can only pump tetracycline out), whereas a broad-spectrum substrate specific efflux system can pump out many different antibiotics (MDR efflux pumps). Chromosomal genes encode these MDR efflux pumps, and sometimes these genes are transferred onto plasmids, which in turn disseminate to many other bacteria. There have been many of such MDR efflux systems reported in MDR bacterial populations [44]. Recently, it has been reported that genes encoding RND (resistance nodulation division) efflux pumps have been mobilized onto plasmid IncH1 in *Citrobacter freundii*, which also carried an NDM-1 metallo-β-lactamase 1[76]. An example of intrinsic resistance mechanisms have been provided by Figure 3 which shows that β-lactam antibiotic (A) targeting a penicillin-binding protein (PBP) first channel through the periplasm via membrane spanning porin protein and binds to the target site of penicillin binding protein (PBP), and thus interfere with bacterial cell wall synthesis – a natural mechanism of action of β-lactam antibiotic. However, antibiotic B can pass through the porin channel but is effectively pumped out from the periplasm via efflux pump, whereas antibiotic C cannot cross bacterial outer membrane. Therefore, such mechanism of resistance to both antibiotics (antibiotic B and C) called intrinsic resistance [36].



Figure 3 Intrinsic mechanism of antibiotic resistance. Figure 3 reproduced from [36].

Acquired resistance

Acquired mechanisms are associated with mutations in different chromosomal genes targeted by antibiotics, or the acquisition of many different resistant genes from other bacterial species mediated by mobile genetic elements (MGEs) such as plasmids, transposons and integrons [11, 34, 37, 38]. In the case of mutational resistance, bacteria often alter the binding site of the proteins targeted by antibiotics. Bacteria often alter the binding site of the proteins targeted by antibiotics. Mutation in the drug target also promotes over expression of targets during transcription step, these targets otherwise are naturally expressed at very low level. Or it could be another mechanism by which certain mutation can modify the drug target to withstand the lethal effect of an antibiotic. Consequently, the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of a particular antibiotics rises beyond the therapeutic value which in turn preclude the clinical use of the drug [39]. Such mechanisms are not induced by antibiotic exposure, rather such resistance mutations appear during chromosomal replication. In Gram negative bacilli, such as in Enterobacter sp. and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, mutation in regulatory gene can give overexpression of the *blaA*_{mpC} together with AmpC cephalosporinases, this overexpressed gene undergoes imbalance between enzyme and substrate ratio, and both of them thus give resistance to both penicillin and extended-spectrum cephalosporin [40].

There have been plenty of such mutational resistances documented in bacterial populations; for example, mutational changes in the penicillin binding protein 2b can result in penicillin resistance in *Pneumococci*. Mutations in *M. tuberculosis, S. aureus, E. coli, P. aeruginosa*, and *Acinetobacter baumannii* give altered ribosomal binding sites and confer high-level resistance

to aminoglycosides. Certain mutations can cause up-regulation of enzyme production or alteration of outer membrane porin (OMP), and this in turn impedes antibiotic penetration inside the bacterial cell, for example mutational change in the outer membrane porin (OMP) in E. coli and P. aeruginosa gives resistance to many antibiotics. Up-regulation of efflux pumps by mutation can also expel antibiotics out of the bacterial cells, and this phenomenon has been observed in fluoroquinolone resistant S. aureus and P. aeruginosa [34, 40-43]. These acquired mechanisms conferred by mutations in different chromosomal genes are collectively called vertical evolution. More example of mutational resistances such as clinically important fluoroquinolone resistance is conferred by mutations within the targets such as DNA gyrase (comprised of GyrA and GyrB protein) and topoisomerase IV (comprised of ParC/GrlA and ParE/GrlB protein) [64]. Most of these mutations conferring resistance to fluoroquinolone are located in a region called quinolone resistance determining region (QRDR) of GyrA and ParC/GrlA protein. Interestingly, mutations occured first in DNA gyrase in gram-negative bacteria, whereas mutations in topoisomerase IV first reported in gram-positive bacteria [53]. Another prominent example of resistance mediated by mutational target alteration is resistance to rifampicin antibiotic. Rifampicin in combination of another drug including isoniazid, pyrazinamide, ethambutol, or streptomycin remains the first-line therapy against tuberculosis infection [65]. However, mutation in rpoB gene causes conformational change in RNA polymerase β-subunit, thus inhibiting rifampicin from binding to its target site of the RNApolymerase. Mutation-conferring resistance to aminoglycosides are also common in many resistant bacterial populations including *M. tuberculosis*, whereas mutations in *rrs* gene conferring resistance to amikacin and kanamycin are also well documented in many other bacterial populations. Mutational alteration in small ribosomal protein (S12) encoded by *rpsL* gene, and also mutation in rrs gene conferring resistance to streptomycin or other aminoglycosides in *M. tuberculosis* are well documented [66]. Therefore, target alteration by mutation in many different genes can give rise to multiple drug resistance in clinically important pathogens including *M. tuberculosis*. From a population genetics perspective, these mutational alterations at multiple loci often produce extensive patterns of genetic interactions across the loci in antibiotic resistant bacteria, called epistasis [67-70]. This interaction also determines the evolutionary responses to a variety of environmental conditions, including in presence of multiple antibiotics [71-75]. Thus, even if the drug exposure is halted, resistant mutants may outcompete the susceptible counterparts and adapt in the drug free environment by this evolutionary responses through extensive multilocus genetic interactions, as has been reported in a multidrug resistant bacteria [69].

Certain mutations in bacterial cell wall components can cause altered membrane permeability. For example, in Gram negative bacteria, cells are covered by an additional layer, which restricts the entry of both hydrophobic and hydrophilic compounds into the cell. Under diverse physiological circumstances, bacteria transform this permeability barrier mediated by porin proteins, which helps bacteria transport different compounds in and out of the cell. These evolved porin proteins have been associated with multidrug resistance. For example, OmpF and OprD protein are commonly occurring porin proteins found in *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*, respectively. Both of them are involved in non-specific entry and exit points for different antibiotics and small chemical molecules. These porin proteins are involved in both acquired and adaptive resistance to multiple drugs. For example, imipenem and meropenem are passed through this entry, and mutations can cause reduced levels of OprD expression that confers resistance to these drugs. Moreover, mutations in genes involving an altered cell envelope can confer polymixin B resistance in *P. aeruginosa*. There have been numerous bacteria where multidrug resistance through altered membrane permeability have been reported [53].

In addition to the occurrence of mutational resistance, bacteria can acquire resistance elements from outside sources by a process called horizontal gene transfer (HGT). There are three main mechanisms of HGT by which bacteria acquire resistance genes or genetic elements from their exogenous sources (Figure 4). For example, a recipient cell can acquire a resistant gene from the donor either by transduction, transformation or conjugation [44]. During transduction process, gene transfer is mediated by bacteriophage where virus infects bacteria on a speciesspecific mode. Although this process was thought to be relatively rare, bacteria acquire resistance genes via transduction whereby bacteriophages can infect and transfer resistance genes to a new bacterium. One such example is methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), which was thought to develop resistance through acquisition of *mecA* resistance gene from other bacteria by transduction [45]. Bacterial natural transformation is accomplished by taking up dead or degraded DNA (called donor DNA) by recipient bacterium from its exogenous sources and incorporates this DNA into the recipient's genome by homologous recombination. Such transformation-mediated acquired resistance is thought to have occurred in Streptococcus pneumoniae, which acquired genes for altered penicillin binding proteins (PBP2Bs) from degraded Streptococcus mitis and conferred low affinity binding with penicillin antibiotics [46]. This mode of resistance acquisition has also been reported in the case of ceftriaxone resistance conferred by *penA* gene in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* [47].



Figure 4 Acquired resistance mechanism in bacteria. Transmission of genetic material by horizontal genetic transfer, which is accomplished by three different mechanisms. Figure 4 reproduced from [44].

Mobile genetic elements (MGEs) are defined as DNA molecules that facilitate both inter- and -intra cellular movement of DNA by encoding the necessary proteins and enzymes in their own DNA [77]. The widespread prevalence of MGEs in bacteria has facilitated the evolution of antibiotic resistance, multidrug resistance in particular. Examples of such MGEs include plasmids, insertion sequences, and integrons. [53]. The general mechanism of resistance transfer through MGEs is as follows: multiple resistant determinants are borne on the MGEs and later mobilize or exchange their genetic elements conferring resistant to multiple antibiotics by the HGT. The majority of resistance genes harbouring plasmids are thought to disseminate to other bacteria by conjugation - the third mechanism of HGT. Some of the most notorious resistance enzymes, including carbapenemases were encoded by plasmids found in Gram negative *Enterobacteriaceae* [48]. Specifically, serine β-lactamases (KPC carbapenemase) and metallo-β-lactamases (e.g., NDM-1: New Delhi Metallo-β-lactamase) belong to carbapenemase enzyme, and both of them are capable of hydrolysing most of the β lactams currently available in the markets [49-51]. Another striking feature of conjugation is the dissemination of resistance genes between plasmid and bacterial chromosome via integrative chromosomal elements (ICEs) – these are also mobile genetic element (MGE). This type of resistance propagation has found to be prevalent in most of the gram negative bacteria and has been reported in streptococci [52].

It has also been reported that some bacteria can swap genes from evolutionarily distant bacteria via HGT (from Gram negative to Gram positive bacteria) [53, 78], this has probably enabled bacteria to evolve resistance to multiple drugs [79]. Therefore, the MGEs are regarded as an open source of bacterial multiple resistance evolution [80], as they can move from one cell to another or from one genetic location to another. To date, various plasmids (such as R factors/R plasmids with varying sizes ranging from 1 to 100 kb), transposons (i.e., Tn1, Tn4, Tn1545, Tn1691) and integrons (i.e., class 1 to 4) have been documented to capture and disseminate multidrug resistance [53]. Multidrug resistance can be transferred into susceptible bacteria by a single-event conjugation of a mobile R plasmid.

Transposons are also mobile genetic elements and are found on the R plasmids, (Figure 5a). Transposons can integrate other transposons or can be integrated into host chromosome by transposase or recombinase encoded by its terminal region, thus mobilize resistance genes from plasmid to chromosome. Integron contains many different genes, called gene cassettes. A large integron contains more than one hundred gene cassettes. It has been reported that $\sim 3\%$ of *Vibrio cholerae* genome comprised of these large integrons [81]. Integron with gene cassettes can also be transferred and integrated into new DNA through a single event mediated by integrase enzyme. Integrons can transfer and integrate multiple genes particularly resistance genes. More specifically, integron mediated resistance is accomplished by a site-specific recombination gene sequence called *int*. This gene encodes an integrase enzyme and integrates gene cassette (which may contain different resistance genes) to a specific site [82]. Mechanism of bacterial integron mediated resistance gene captures system is shown in Figure 5b.



Figure 5 Multidrug resistance via acquisition of mobile genetic element (MGE). Resistant plasmid harbouring many different transposons can confer multidrug resistance by a single conjugation event (a). Integron mediated resistance gene capture system is shown in Figure b. Integrase (transcribed under a downstream promoter (P_{int}) catalyse the insertion of an integron (blue). Resistance gene cassette 1 (red) is integrated into the attI site, which is under the influence of an upstream promoter (P_{ant}). This way, many different resistance genes can be captured repeatedly, where all the resistance genes remain under the influence of the same promoter, thus become a resistance operon. Figure 5 reproduced from [60].

The MDR bacteria and their clinical impact

Simultaneous resistance to several antimicrobial compounds in diverse pathogenic bacterial populations has become the major impediment in treating infectious diseases globally. Since bacteria develop such resistance very rapidly by newly arising resistance mechanisms, it is now very challenging to treat even common infectious diseases [53]. More specifically, our current standard treatment protocols fail to produce any significant therapeutic response against multidrug resistant pathogenic bacteria. Treatment failure due to the evolution of such pathogens also leads to the extended hospital stay with severe illness where patients are mostly exposed to higher risk of morbidity and mortality. The occurrence of such resistance mechanism has been reported in many clinical bacterial populations belonging to both Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria. These populations have been defined as multidrug resistant organisms (MDROs), and these MDROs show *in vitro* resistance to at least three or

more antimicrobial classes [12]. The most problematic MDR bacteria that clinicians frequently encounter are pan-resistant Gram negative bacteria, including *P. aeruginosa*, *E. coli*, *A. baumannii*, extended spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs) and metallo- β -lactamases (MBLs, including KPC, VIM and NDM-1) producing *K. pneumoniae*, methicillin resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), vancomycin resistant *enterococci* (VRE), and extensively drug resistant *M. tuberculosis* (XDR) [11, 15, 34, 49, 53-58].

Antibiotics used in this study: action and resistance mechanisms

Aminoglycosides

Streptomycin and kanamycin, both are belonging to the aminoglycoside class, have been used in this PhD work as selective environments. Aminoglycosides are historically important for their role in the treatment of severe bacterial infections, especially infections caused by M. tuberculosis and S. aureus. Most antimicrobial drugs belonging to the aminoglycosides are bactericidal in nature, exhibit predictable pharmacokinetics, and often produce synergistic interactions when combined with other antibiotics [83-85]. These antibiotics mainly inhibit bacterial protein synthesis by interfering with small ribosomal subunit comprising 16S rRNA encoded by the *rrs* gene and many polypeptide units such as S12 encoded by the *rpsL* gene. 16S rRNA plays a central role in protein synthesis, especially a highly evolutionarily conserved 530 loop region is part of the A site of the 30S ribosome (Figure 6). AminoacyltRNA partially binds to this A site and initiates the decoding process. Aminoglycoside molecules bind to the 16S rRNA and S12 protein in the 30S subunit of ribosome. Thus interfere with the decoding site in the vicinity of 16S rRNA and this disrupts the formation of the initiation complex, leading to mistranslation of mRNA and consequently cell death [24, 83, 86-89]. Resistance to aminoglycosides is widespread in many bacterial pathogens, including M. tuberculosis, A. baumannii, E. coli, and P. aeruginosa; therefore, the usefulness of aminoglycosides has been greatly compromised. This resistance is mostly attributed to target alteration, enzymatic inactivation and reduced uptake or decreased cell permeability.

First, alteration of the 30S subunit of the bacterial ribosome by commonly occurring singlestep chromosomal mutations confers high-level aminoglycoside resistance. This phenomenon has frequently been observed in both clinical and experimental bacterial populations when exposed to streptomycin. Mutations mainly occur in the *rrs* and *rpsL* genes which result in an altered ribosomal binding site for the antibiotics. Mutations in *rpsL* gene, specifically at residues 42 and 87, interact with 18, 27 and 44 helixes of 16S rRNA and prevent drug binding. It has also been evident that fitness costs caused by *rpsL* mutations can be compensated for by mutations in the rRNA or other ribosomal proteins. A conformational change in 530 loop region of the 16S rRNA due to mutations in *rrs* gene also contributes to the high-level resistance to streptomycin, kanamycin and other aminoglycosides, and this mechanism has been observed both in gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria [89-93].

Significant resistance to streptomycin conferred by mutations in *rrs* and *rpsL* was reported in clinical isolates of *M. tuberculosis*. Most of these mutations were characterized by $A \rightarrow C \text{ or } A \rightarrow T$ transversion at position 513, $C \rightarrow T$ at position 516 in *rrs* gene; in *rpsL* gene, resistance to streptomycin was due to mutations at residues 42 and 87, and these are associated with Lys \rightarrow Thr and Lys \rightarrow Arg substitution respectively. Mutations at multiple sites of these genes conferring resistance to streptomycin and kanamycin have been reported in a wide range of other bacteria including *E. coli, S. typhimurium, Pseudomonas putida* and *Borrelia burgdorferi* [86, 87, 92, 94-98]. Therefore, it is anticipated that in my experimental system using *Acinetobacter baylyi*, similar resistance mutations to streptomycin will arise.



Figure 6 Partial structure of 16S rRNA showing the 530 bps loop. Resistance to streptomycin is conferred by different point mutations in the 530 bps loop region shown by the solid arrows. This figure is based on *E. coli* 16S rRNA nucleotide numbering system. For *M. tuberculosis*, position of the mutations are estimated by subtracting 10 from the 530 bps loop region numbers, and 8 from the 915 region numbers. Figure 6 reproduced from [99].

Second, enzymatic inactivation mediated by the aminoglycosides nucleotidyltransferases (ANTs), the aminoglycosides acetyltransferases (AACs) and the aminoglycosides phosphotransferases (APHs). These enzymes are by far the most commonly found enzymes conferring resistance to aminoglycosides and observed in clinically significant bacterial species. Structural modifications catalysed by these enzymes reduce the binding affinity by inducing unfavourable electrostatic or static interactions between aminoglycosides and the target rRNA. This phenomenon has been reported in P. aeruginosa, K. pneumoniae, E. coli and other bacteria. To date a vast array of these enzymes has been detected in both Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria of clinical origin, and most of these enzymes are harboured on plasmids and transposons [79, 83, 86, 87, 100]. In the first part of my project, I have used a strain carrying the *nptII* gene inserted in the chromosome. This gene encodes the neomycin phosphotransferase-II enzyme belonging to the aminoglycosides phosphotransferase (APH) family. Enzymes belonging to the APH family can inactivate a number other aminoglycoside antibiotics, including kanamycin. Therefore, strain harbouring *nptII* gene will enable me to ascertain to what extent collateral resistance to another antibiotic from the same class (streptomycin) occurs.

Finally, mutations in the respiratory chain or ATP-synthatase and the regulatory genes encoding the efflux systems (*acrB*, *mexZ*, *opmG*, *opmI*) have also been reported to be associated with aminoglycoside resistance in a diverse bacterial species, especially in *E. coli*, *A. baumannii*, *S. aureus* and *P. aeruginosa* of clinical and laboratory origin. Aminoglycoside resistance can also be conferred by mutation at the *ksgA* gene encoding S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)-dependent RNA methylase which interferes with post-transcriptional methylation of A1518 and A1519 of 16S rRNA nucleotides leading to inhibition of the initiation step of translation in *E. coli* and *B. stearothermophilus*. However, most clinically relevant 16S rRNA methyltransferase encoding genes are carried by plasmids, for example *rmtA* and *armA* were carried and disseminated by plasmid of *P. aeruginosa* and *K. pneumoniae* species, respectively [34, 57, 86, 101-105].

Ansamycins

Rifampicin, a semisynthetic bactericidal antimicrobial drug. This antibiotic is derived from the ansamycin family, and has been used as a selective environment in this study. This antibiotic has a broad-spectrum antibacterial activity and is particularly effective at low concentration. Rifampicin has long been used as a first-line of drug against *M. tuberculosis*, the causative

agent of tuberculosis. Due to its broad-spectrum action, this antibiotic has also been used for the treatment of various other infections caused by Gram negative bacteria such as P. aeruginosa, E. coli, A. baumannii and many more. This antibiotic inhibits DNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RNAP), which has five subunits $(\alpha_2\beta\beta'\sigma)$. The RNAP is an important transcriptional component, which catalyses the transcription of DNA to RNA through polymerization of the ribonucleoside triphosphate on a DNA template. Rifampicin binds to and forms a stable complex with the β -subunit of the RNAP, thus suppress the initiation of protein synthesis in susceptible bacterial populations [106-109]. Bacteria acquire resistance to rifampicin at high rate. The most observed form of resistance to rifampicin is by spontaneous mutations in the *rpoB* gene. Specifically, a point mutation in the *rpoB* gene encoding the β subunit of RNAP is the main mechanism of acquired resistance. Mutation alters the binding site of the β-subunit structure of RNAP enzyme, as a consequent rifampicin loses its binding affinity and cannot produce any inhibitory effect on bacteria. This mechanism of resistance has frequently been observed in clinically significant bacteria, most notably in *M. tuberculosis*, *P.* aeruginosa, E. coli and many more. Commonly occurring rifampicin resistance mutations in E. coli are located in the central region of the polypeptide within cluster I, II and III. In M. tuberculosis, 40% of resistance is acquired by mutations at codon 432 to 458 within cluster I (Figure 7). In clinical A. baumannii strains, mutations are observed at multiple nucleotides located within a range of 500 to 580, whereas in laboratory strains mutations are located within a nucleotide region spanning from 1565 to 1741 nucleotide regions [106, 108, 109].



Figure 7 Map of the RNAP β -subunit rifampicin resistance mutations in bacteria. Gray shaded zones correspond to highly conserved regions (labeled A to I) and red shaded zones correspond to rifampicin resistance region of the RNAP β -subunit (labelled I to III). Green, yellow and purple triangles correspond to resistance mutations in *M. tuberculosis*, *E. coli*, and *B. subtilis* respectively. Figure 7 reproduced from [106].

Additionally, many studies have attempted to investigate the potential impact of different

mutations in *rpoB* gene from other species by selecting spontaneous rifampicin mutants [70, 110-113]. Therefore, we also expect to observe mutation in the *rpoB* gene conferring resistance to rifampicin antibiotic. Apart from this, other resistance mechanisms against rifampicin have been reported, including modification of cell permeability or membrane-associated efflux pumps, target duplication (presence of two different RNAP β -subunit genes gives high-level resistance to rifampicin), as well as resistance mediated by enzymatic modification. However, the occurrence of these resistance mechanisms has been reported only in a few instances [22, 106, 113-115].

Evolutionary aspects of drug resistance

Bacterial resistance to antibiotics is thought to be one of the best-known examples of biological evolution. The continued selection pressure exerted by different antimicrobial compounds is the main driving force contributing to this process. For example, an indiscriminate use of different types of antibiotics inhibiting the growth of bacteria in the host environment has resulted in the emergence and spread of resistant determinants in different bacterial populations, thus producing the resistant populations. There are two main processes involving bacterial evolution towards antimicrobial compounds. First, there are processes generating genetic variability, thus providing the raw material in this process of resistance evolution. This variability is attributed to a number of factors, including spontaneous resistance mutation, recombination and horizontal gene transfer. Second, natural selection acts on this genetic variation and thus driving the spread of resistant determinants in presence of a given drug.

Antibiotics on the mutation frequency and mutation rate

Exposure to antibiotics results in hyper mutator or mutator resistant genotypes in the populations. This means that antibiotics exert inhibitory effect on bacterial physiology, which in turn selects for the mutator or hypermutator genotypes. There are several types of antibiotics from different chemical classes can induce the mutagenesis effect in bacteria in many different ways, including ROS (reactive oxygen species) oxidative damage induced by sub-inhibitory concentration of antibiotics in *E. coli* [18], SOS response [116], and general stress response [117]. Among these, SOS response is widespread in bacteria and is activated when DNA damage occurs. The SOS system promotes cell survival by repairing the damaged genome. This system has been extensively studied in *E. coli* involving more than 40 different genes, which are under the control of a repressor protein encoded by *lexA* gene. In response to DNA damage, multiple RecA protein binds at damaged DNA. Following binding to the damaged site, RecA induce proteolysis of the LexA, thereby de-represses the SOS regulon. An

intriguing feature of this system is inducible mutation at an elevated frequency. Many antibiotics activate SOS response in bacteria, including aminoglycosides (translational-stress induced mutagenesis), fluoroquinolone (DNA damaging antibiotics are clearly an SOS inducer since they can directly damage the DNA), and β -lactam classes of antibiotics [118]. The SOS response produces mutator phenotypes by inducing error prone DNA polymerase II, IV and polVI.

The second way of generating mutator phenotype in response to stress (i.e., when nutrients become limited at stationary phase - this is called general stress) is down regulation of the enzymes involved in the correction of post-replicated DNA errors or mismatches. Enzymes and proteins involved in this process called mismatch repair system (MMR). Proteins involved in the MMR system play significant role in maintaining normal cellular function. Defective MMR system results in high mutation rate in the population. For example, in E. coli MutS and MutH are important MMR proteins, but both of them are down regulated by general stress (regulated by RpoS) due to the depletion of nutrients at the stationary phase, and thus increased mutation rates in this organism. Hypermutator P. aeruginosa have been reported in cystic fibrosis patients with altered MMR system with *mutS* is the most affected gene. These hypermutable genotypes are associated with antibiotic resistance in those patients [119-121]. In E. coli, mutS gene acquired an increased frequency of A:T \rightarrow G:C transversion mutation and thus affected the distribution of fitness effect when challenged with rifampicin antibiotic. More specifically, when *mutS*- and *mutS*+ populations of *E. coli* were exposed to rifampicin, greater part of the *mutS*- populations were fixed by one of the two-transversion mutations, but the *mutS*+ strain fixed a wide array of mutations [123].

ROS oxidative damage occurs when aerobic respiration system is distorted by the production of superoxide (O_2^-), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and hydroxyl radical (OH). Many bactericidal antibiotics and also immune responses produce these ROS species. ROS species have detrimental effect on normal cellular functions of bacteria, for example these molecules damage DNA and membrane proteins. In *E. coli*, drug-target interactions induce oxidation of NADH via respiratory electron transport chain (ETC) system. Hyper activation of the ETC results in ROS species. In experimental *P. aeruginosa*, H_2O_2 was reported to be associated with direct selection of elevated mutation rate. However, mechanism of antibiotic induced-ROS killing in bacteria and the increased mutation frequency has become an active debate since in many bacterial species, including *L. monocytogenes*, *S. pneumoniae*, bactericidal antibiotics were unable to produce ROS since those bacteria were devoid of cyclic TCA cycle and ETC system, respectively.

Therefore, it is apparent that resistance evolution is based on the generation of genetic variation (by mutation) in response to antibiotics followed by natural selection acting on this genetic variation [124, 125]. This mutation rate varies in bacterial species due to the MMR system [126].

Role of HGT and recombination

In addition to mutation, there are some other mechanisms in bacteria that produce genetic variability in response to antibiotics. For example, intragenomic reorganization of genomic sequences mediated by intra-chromosomal recombination can produce genetic variability in bacteria [124, 127]. Intragenomic recombination enables transfer of repeated homologous sequences, where a non-reciprocal transfer of information occurs between homologous sequences. Therefore, this process was thought to be less costly in the acquisition of a new mutation, it can maximize the benefits of having a weak mutation by increasing copy number [128]. Bacteria can take up foreign DNA from exogenous sources (i.e., from other organisms) by means of HGT. Both mechanisms play crucial role in bacterial evolution and adaptation to multiple antibiotics [129], as well as play role in immune evasion [130] and increased virulence through acquisition of new genes [131]. In particular, many different resistant determinants borne on MGEs (i.e., plasmids, transposons and integrons) are transferred and disseminated between different bacterial cells and species by means of HGT [125]. Gene recombination produces adaptive response through replacing the deleterious phenotype driven by mutation or by bringing beneficial mutation in diverse population [132]. It is thought that multidrug resistance through recombination; natural transformation in particular, brings more evolutionary benefits to the recombining bacterial population since natural transformation entirely takes place at the chromosomal level [133-135]. It has been reported that evolution of multidrug resistance in clinical strain of Acinetobacter baumannii was due to transformation, and later on it was suggested that more than 45 resistant genes had been acquired by this bacterium from other genera including E. coli, Pseudomonas and Salmonella by transformation [136].

Evolutionary dynamics of multidrug resistance

Mutation supply rate determines the genetic variability in the infecting clonal populations under antibiotic selective pressure, as mentioned in preceding sections. Mutation supply rate is determined by population size and rates of mutation and HGT. However, adaptive evolution of drug resistance, for example the rate at which antibiotic resistance will evolve and spread in the population is determined by several other factors, including relative fitness of the resistant genotypes as the function of drug concentration, strength of selection pressure, clonal interference, compensatory mutation, presence of epistasis, and drug-drug interaction [137].

Relative fitness in absence or presence of drug is a key component in determining how fast fixation and spread of a resistant population occurs at a given mutation supply rate [54]. When selective pressure is reduced, the frequency of resistant populations or reversibility is determined by the relative fitness cost. In many clinical conditions, fitness has been shown to be a key factor in shaping the evolutionary adaptation of pathogen populations of clinical and laboratory origin [138-140]. Both natural and clinical bacterial population confront a wide array of selective pressures in their surroundings. At high drug concentration, the rate of resistance emergence is determined by the pre-existing mutations in the populations [141, 142]. It has been shown in one recent study [143] that strong selection pressure favours high level of cross-resistance (negative collateral sensitivity) to many other antimicrobial classes, whereas under low selection pressure populations enrich with weaker cross-resistance Together, this suggests that the emergence and spread of resistant population is attributed to the strength of selection pressure, which further complicates the resistance evolution.

Number of mutants and their rates of emergence are two important factors, which help predict the simultaneous presence of different resistant mutants in a given population. For example, diverse mutants can appear and simultaneously present in the same population of bacteria, as has been reported in clonal *M. tuberculosis* population during long-term antibiotic treatment. Specifically, this bacterium experienced gradual increase in resistance mutations with apparent clonal sweeps and co-existence of different resistance mutations [144, 145, 171]. Therefore, in this particular situation, clonal interference is thought to influence the evolutionary dynamics [172]. More specifically, when different beneficial mutations (i.e., beneficial in the context of resistance evolution such that a particular resistance mutation appears in response to an antibiotic) arise independently in different lineages, they compete against each other, leading to the loss of most clones from the population and the appearance of dominant clones [146]. This phenomenon has been termed as clonal interference which has been demonstrated in the cost of resistance when experimental resistant bacterial population evolved in absence of particular antibiotic induced selective pressure [147, 148]. Thus, clonal interference is likely potentiated
by the large population size with increased mutation frequency. This phenomenon has already been confirmed experimentally during adaptation of resistance plasmids to their bacterial hosts and adaptation to the fitness cost conferred by resistance mutations [172]. Similarly, multidrug resistance can be the result of concomitant presence of multiple resistance conferring mutations in individual clonal lineage.

Epistatic interactions - where the fitness effects of mutations depends on the genetic background – plays an important role in the evolution of multidrug resistance [75]. Epistasis can occur between genes [149], within a single gene encoding a single resistance protein [68, 150], or between a chromosomal gene and a gene encoded on a plasmid [151]. A large body of studies has identified pervasive epistasis in bacterial adaptive evolution under a variety of conditions. For example, in two studies, positive epistasis (when a double mutant has a higher fitness than expected from the sum of the costs of individual mutations) was reported to be associated with the evolution of multidrug resistance in the cost of resistance [69, 152]. Although reduced use or withdrawing of antibiotic use has been suggested to reverse antibiotic resistance [54], epistasis plays a major role in determining the adaptive potential of resistant populations. For example, in some form of epistasis, called reciprocal sign epistasis, the fitness of multidrug resistant genotypes in the absence of drugs is greater than either of the singly resistant genotypes. This means that acquisition of additional new resistance determinants (new resistance mutation or new resistance plasmid) can further accelerate fitness of the initial resistant genotype. Therapeutic options become limited when this particular form of epistasis arises in clinical pathogens.



Figure 8: The relationship between relative fitness, resistance and rate of formation is shown by considering hypothetical sets of all possible drug-resistant mutant variants shown by panel a. Each circle represents one specific resistant mutant, and the size of each circle corresponds its rate of formation. The probability of fixation of a resistant mutant is determined by the rate of formation or mutation rate, extent and level of drug selection and relative fitness. Interaction between two resistant genotypes and the resultant epistasis are shown by panel b. Different mechanisms such as the efficacy and potential failure of cycling collaterally sensitive antibiotics shown by panel c-e. Fitness landscapes with collaterally sensitive antibiotics are shown by panel c and d, which show that genotypes that are resistant to drug A or drug B appear as fitness peaks when the environment contains the drug to which they are resistant but as fitness valleys in alternative drug treatment. Such rotation of the drugs can lead to a cycle of evolution switching between these genotypes (solid arrows). However, doubly resistant mutants can evade this trap (dashed arrows). Panel e shows two possible evolutionary routes in the MICs of component drugs during antibiotic cycling. During cycling treatment bacteria gain resistance to multiple drugs when resistance swaps between two states (shown by solid arrows) even in the case where each individual mutation induces collateral sensitivity (dashed arrow).

In this figure, panel a and b are reproduced from [137], while panel c and d are reproduced from) [153].

Compensatory evolution is another important means of adaptive evolution of antibiotic resistance , which also involves epistasis. Antibiotic resistance is deleterious (on bacterial fitness) in absence of drug pressure. In absence of drug pressure, resistance determinants often impose fitness costs in the form of reduced growth, reduced transmission or reduced virulence [154]. However, secondary mutations may arise in the resistant population that compensate for these costs of resistance. This phenomenon of adaptive evolution has been reported both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies [155, 156]. Compensatory mutations can also be resistance mutations themselves, which can both compensate and confer resistance to other antibiotics. Here, the initial resistance mutation (conferring resistance to drug A) in absence of drug pressure is deleterious, but is compensated by another mutation conferring resistance mutation and a rifampicin resistance mutation in *E. coli* [152].

Drug interaction is an important factor in determining bacterial evolutionary adaptation to multiple drugs. Drug interactions are classified into two types: physiological interactions and evolutionary interactions. During physiological interaction, two antibiotics are used in combination and they can produce synergistic interaction, antagonistic interaction, or they can suppress each other's effect – called suppressive drug interaction.[157]. Such drug interactions arise when the combined inhibitory effect of two drugs is larger (called synergistic interaction which is more inhibitory) or smaller (called antagonistic interaction, where higher MIC is needed to obtain the same level of inhibition of synergistic drug pair) than expected based on an additive model. During suppressive drug interaction, two drugs in combination produce weaker effect than the null additive expectation and also weaker than the effect of each of the drugs alone. It has been reported that synergistic drug pairs, at a certain concentration threshold, potentiate the evolution of resistance by extending the traditional mutant selection window towards the sub-inhibitory concentration [158, 159]. These studies have shown that certain drug specific resistance mutation arise first (resistance mutation to drug A) in a combination of two drug (drug A + drug B), which diminish the synergistic action of that pair owing to that drug specific resistance mutation. Subsequently, this mutation confers enhanced growth advantage against that drug pair and drives the acquisition of resistance mutation for another drug (drug B). Thus multiple resistance mutation appears in presence of combination of a synergistic drug pair. Therefore synergistic drug pairs used at concentrations below the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) accelerate the resistance emergence. On the contrary, with drugs that interact antagonistically certain mutation or mutation to drug A breaks and convert antagonistic interactions into synergistic. Thus antagonistic drug pairs decelerate the resistance evolution to the second drug. On the other hand, evolutionary interactions are classified into two types: cross-resistance and collateral sensitivity. Resistance mutations or genes – arising through either spontaneous mutation or horizontal gene transfer (HGT) – can simultaneously confer resistance to another drug (called cross-resistance) or become more sensitive to another drug (called collaterally sensitive) [160, 161]. Cross-resistance is the function of the evolutionary response to a single antibiotic; therefore cross-resistance is different to the physiological interactions, which require drugs to be administered in combination.

Study organism

Throughout my PhD work I used the gram-negative bacterium Acinetobacter baylyi as my experimental system. This bacterium possesses a highly efficient DNA-uptake system, which makes it an ideal model organism for studying natural transformation [162]. Originally isolated from the environment, in a few instances this bacterium has also been found to be associated with hospital-acquired infections with multiple MBL (metallo-beta-lactamase) carbapenemase enzymes, including *bla*_{SIM-1} and *bla*_{OXA-23} [163, 164]. This bacterium is also important in terms of drug discovery since systematic chemical-genetic screens have been performed in this bacterium [165] along with other important bacterial pathogens including M. tuberculosis [166], P. aeruginosa [167] by using a transposon insertion library. This screening has revealed that a large numbers of genes influence drug susceptibility; hence they are regarded as candidate antibiotic potentiation targets. However, the fold-MIC changes in antibiotic concentration ranged from a two-fold to eight-fold between wild type and mutant strains, and this observed hypersensitivity was thought to be typically rather modest. Another important feature is that the whole-genome sequence is available for this bacterium [168, 169], which has made it easier to monitor any genetic changes in the evolved population that has occurred during the course of evolution experiment or in strains associated with chapter 2.

Scope and significance of this thesis

Multidrug resistance (MDR) remains one of the major reasons for therapeutic failure in treating infectious diseases in recent days. The MDR pathogen population can emerge and spread in the

face of selective pressure exerted by drugs or they revert to the original susceptible state when the selective forces are discontinued. This means that evolutionary adaptation to multiple drugs follows a complex evolutionary path determined by many factors. Previously, many studies have made different conclusions on factors contributing to the rate of this resistance evolution under variety of contexts, including the occurrence and molecular characteristics of the resistance mutations, the fitness effects of drug resistance mutations in the presence and absence of drug induced selective pressure and how these factors impact the evolutionary trajectories of the resistant population. Nevertheless, evolution of multidrug resistance is a multifaceted phenomenon involving more factors, which were less studied in earlier studies. For example, among many others, it is yet unclear how a completely susceptible bacterium evolves *de novo* multidrug resistance in an environment enriched with a combination of drugs. Factors important in this context include pharmacodynamics (bacterial fitness as a function of drug concentrations, including drug-drug interactions), epistasis, and compensatory mutations. A complete understanding of these features will be important in predicting and preventing future multidrug resistance evolution in pathogen populations. Therefore, this PhD thesis attempts to expand our understanding further by investigating more factors that influence the development of *de novo* multidrug resistance under laboratory conditions.

From a public health perspective, this study is of importance since antibiotic resistance has become a serious public health problem due to high level of resistance against the treatment of infectious diseases globally. To combat this resistance problem, combination therapy has become an effective therapeutic choice. However, even in combination therapy, we need to better understand to what extent resistance can be selected for and what type of two-drug concentrations affect the potential for this resistance evolution, as resistance to multiple drugs have already threatened our antibiotic arsenal. Therefore, understanding the population genetic processes involving multidrug resistance is essential for proposing different but prudent treatment strategies, including combination therapy or drug-cycling, and this may ultimately help reduce the emergence of multidrug resistance pathogen.

Thesis outline

The first part of this thesis (Chapter 1, literature review) provides a general background on the history, importance, and molecular and evolutionary aspects of antimicrobial resistance, in particular multidrug resistance in bacterial pathogens. In Chapter 2 I report characterisations of pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes, seeking to better understand how antibiotic

concentrations and fitness interactions contribute to the evolution of drug resistance. From an evolutionary perspective, this study will increase our understanding of how populations may adapt to complex environment containing multiple antibiotics. In Chapter 3 I investigate the impact of recombination via natural transformation on the de novo multidrug resistance evolution in two-drug environments in experimental bacterial populations. This perhaps reflects on the actual situation when pathogen population are confronted with different selective pressures posed by antibiotics inside the host body compartments. Chapter 4 investigates the mechanisms of compensation to the cost of multiple drug resistance mutations harboured by bacteria in the absence of selection pressure. This chapter is of particular importance since we do not know how multiple drug resistance bacteria adapt to their fitness costs. Then in Chapter 5 (general discussion) in which I reflect on the main results, their implications, limitations of the research, and future avenues of investigation.

References

- Kohanski, M.A., D.J. Dwyer, and J.J. Collins, *How antibiotics kill bacteria: from targets to networks*. Nature reviews. Microbiology, 2010. 8(6): p. 423-435.
- Davies, J. and D. Davies, *Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance*. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev, 2010. 74(3): p. 417-33.
- 3. Giske, C.G., et al., *Clinical and economic impact of common multidrug-resistant gramnegative bacilli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2008. **52**(3): p. 813-21.
- Abraham, E.P. and E. Chain, *An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. 1940.* Rev Infect Dis, 1988. 10(4): p. 677-8.
- D'Costa, V.M., et al., Sampling the antibiotic resistome. Science, 2006. 311(5759): p. 374-7.
- 6. Outterson, K., et al., *Approval and withdrawal of new antibiotics and other antiinfectives in the U.S., 1980-2009.* J Law Med Ethics, 2013. **41**(3): p. 688-96.
- 7. Clatworthy, A.E., E. Pierson, and D.T. Hung, *Targeting virulence: a new paradigm for antimicrobial therapy*. Nat Chem Biol, 2007. **3**(9): p. 541-8.
- Laxminarayan, R., Antibiotic effectiveness: Balancing conservation against innovation. Science, 2014. 345(6202): p. 1299-1301.
- Top, J., R. Willems, and M. Bonten, *Emergence of CC17 Enterococcus faecium: from commensal to hospital-adapted pathogen*. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol, 2008.
 52(3): p. 297-308.

- 10. Zucca, M. and D. Savoia, *The post-antibiotic era: promising developments in the therapy of infectious diseases.* Int J Biomed Sci, 2010. **6**(2): p. 77-86.
- Levy, S.B., Antibiotic resistance: consequences of inaction. Clin Infect Dis, 2001. 33
 Suppl 3: p. S124-9.
- 12. Magiorakos, A.P., et al., *Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug*resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. Clin Microbiol Infect, 2012. **18**(3): p. 268-81.
- Von Döhren, H., *Antibiotics: Actions, origins, resistance*. C. Walsh. 2003. Washington, DC: ASM Press. 345 pp. Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society, 2004.
 13(11): p. 3059-3060.
- Davis, B.D., Mechanism of bactericidal action of aminoglycosides. Microbiological reviews, 1987. 51(3): p. 341.
- 15. Walsh, C., *Antibiotics: actions, origins, resistance*. 2003: American Society for Microbiology (ASM).
- 16. Drlica, K., et al., *Quinolone-mediated bacterial death*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2008. **52**(2): p. 385-392.
- Tomasz, A., *The mechanism of the irreversible antimicrobial effects of penicillins: how the beta-lactam antibiotics kill and lyse bacteria*. Annual Reviews in Microbiology, 1979. 33(1): p. 113-137.
- Kohanski, M.A., et al., A common mechanism of cellular death induced by bactericidal antibiotics. Cell, 2007. 130(5): p. 797-810.
- 19. Kohanski, M.A., et al., *Mistranslation of membrane proteins and two-component system activation trigger antibiotic-mediated cell death*. Cell, 2008. **135**(4): p. 679-690.
- 20. Floss, H.G. and T.-W. Yu, *Rifamycin mode of action, resistance, and biosynthesis*. Chemical reviews, 2005. **105**(2): p. 621-632.
- Hartmann, G., et al., *The specific inhibition of the DNA-directed RNA synthesis by rifamycin*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis, 1967. 145(3): p. 843-844.
- 22. Campbell, E.A., et al., *Structural mechanism for rifampicin inhibition of bacterial RNA polymerase*. Cell, 2001. **104**(6): p. 901-912.
- 23. McClure, W.R. and C.L. Cech, *On the mechanism of rifampicin inhibition of RNA synthesis*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1978. **253**(24): p. 8949-8956.
- Vakulenko, S.B. and S. Mobashery, Versatility of Aminoglycosides and Prospects for Their Future. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 2003. 16(3): p. 430-450.

- 25. Garrett, R.A., *The ribosome: structure, function, antibiotics, and cellular interactions.* 2000.
- 26. Nissen, P., et al., *The structural basis of ribosome activity in peptide bond synthesis*.
 Science, 2000. 289(5481): p. 920-930.
- 27. Patel, U., et al., *Oxazolidinones mechanism of action: inhibition of the first peptide bond formation.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2001. **276**(40): p. 37199-37205.
- Menninger, J.R. and D. Otto, *Erythromycin, carbomycin, and spiramycin inhibit* protein synthesis by stimulating the dissociation of peptidyl-tRNA from ribosomes. Antimicrobial agents and Chemotherapy, 1982. 21(5): p. 811-818.
- 29. Chopra, I. and M. Roberts, *Tetracycline antibiotics: mode of action, applications, molecular biology, and epidemiology of bacterial resistance.* Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 2001. **65**(2): p. 232-260.
- Karimi, R. and M. Ehrenberg, *Dissociation rate of cognate peptidyl-tRNA from the A-site of hyper-accurate and error-prone ribosomes*. European journal of biochemistry, 1994. 226(2): p. 355-360.
- 31. Davies, J., *The origin and evolution of antibiotics*, in *Antimicrobials*. 2014, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 3-10.
- 32. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2010. **8**(4): p. 260-71.
- 33. Kester, J.C. and S.M. Fortune, *Persisters and beyond: mechanisms of phenotypic drug resistance and drug tolerance in bacteria*. Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology, 2014. **49**(2): p. 91-101.
- 34. Tenover, F.C., *Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria*. Am J Med, 2006.
 119(6 Suppl 1): p. S3-10; discussion S62-70.
- Tsuchido, T. and M. Takano, Sensitization by heat treatment of Escherichia coli K-12 cells to hydrophobic antibacterial compounds. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 1988. 32(11): p. 1680-1683.
- Blair, J.M., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2015. 13(1): p. 42-51.
- 37. Toleman, M.A., P.M. Bennett, and T.R. Walsh, *ISCR elements: novel gene-capturing systems of the 21st century?* Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 2006.
 70(2): p. 296-316.
- Bennett, P.M., *Integrons and gene cassettes: a genetic construction kit for bacteria*.Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 1999. 43(1): p. 1-4.

- 39. Barbier, F. and C.E. Luyt, Understanding resistance. Intensive care medicine, 2016.
 42(12): p. 2080-2083.
- 40. Ruppé, É., P.L. Woerther, and F. Barbier, *Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in Gram-negative bacilli*. Annals of intensive care, 2015. **5**(1): p. 21.
- 41. McManus, M.C., *Mechanisms of bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents*. American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, 1997. **54**(12): p. 1420-1433.
- 42. Olaitan, A.O., S. Morand, and J.M. Rolain, *Mechanisms of polymyxin resistance:* acquired and intrinsic resistance in bacteria. Frontiers in microbiology, 2014. **5**: p. 643.
- 43. Armand-Lefèvre, L., et al., *Emergence of imipenem-resistant gram-negative bacilli in intestinal flora of intensive care patients*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2013. 57(3): p. 1488-1495.
- 44. Holmes, A.H., et al., Understanding the mechanisms and drivers of antimicrobial resistance. The Lancet, 2016. **387**(10014): p. 176-187.
- 45. Scharn, C.R., F.C. Tenover, and R.V. Goering, *Transduction of staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec elements between strains of Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2013. **57**(11): p. 5233-5238.
- 46. Dowson, C.G., et al., Evolution of penicillin resistance in Streptococcus pneumoniae; the role of Streptococcus mitis in the formation of a low affinity PBP2B in S. pneumoniae. Molecular microbiology, 1993. **9**(3): p. 635-643.
- 47. Unemo, M., et al., *High-level cefixime-and ceftriaxone-resistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae in France: novel penA mosaic allele in a successful international clone causes treatment failure.* Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2012. **56**(3): p. 1273-1280.
- 48. Paterson, D.L. and R.A. Bonomo, *Extended-spectrum β-lactamases: a clinical update*.
 Clinical microbiology reviews, 2005. 18(4): p. 657-686.
- 49. Kumarasamy, K.K., et al., Emergence of a new antibiotic resistance mechanism in India, Pakistan, and the UK: a molecular, biological, and epidemiological study. Lancet Infect Dis, 2010. 10(9): p. 597-602.
- 50. Yong, D., et al., Characterization of a new metallo-β-lactamase gene, blaNDM-1, and a novel erythromycin esterase gene carried on a unique genetic structure in Klebsiella pneumoniae sequence type 14 from India. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2009. 53(12): p. 5046-5054.

- 51. Walsh, T.R., et al., *Dissemination of NDM-1 positive bacteria in the New Delhi environment and its implications for human health: an environmental point prevalence study.* The Lancet infectious diseases, 2011. **11**(5): p. 355-362.
- Wozniak, R.A. and M.K. Waldor, *Integrative and conjugative elements: mosaic mobile genetic elements enabling dynamic lateral gene flow*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2010. 8(8): p. 552-563.
- 53. Alekshun, M.N. and S.B. Levy, *Molecular mechanisms of antibacterial multidrug resistance*. Cell, 2007. **128**(6): p. 1037-1050.
- 54. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?* Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2010. **8**(4): p. 260-271.
- 55. Walsh, C., *Molecular mechanisms that confer antibacterial drug resistance*. Nature, 2000. **406**(6797): p. 775-781.
- 56. Bradley, G., P.F. Juranka, and V. Ling, *Mechanism of multidrug resistance*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer, 1988. **948**(1): p. 87-128.
- Dijkshoorn, L., A. Nemec, and H. Seifert, *An increasing threat in hospitals: multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2007. 5(12): p. 939-951.
- Levin, A.S., et al., Intravenous colistin as therapy for nosocomial infections caused by multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Acinetobacter baumannii. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 1999. 28(5): p. 1008-1011.
- 59. Nikaido, H., *Multiple antibiotic resistance and efflux*. Current opinion in microbiology, 1998. 1(5): p. 516-523.
- 60. Nikaido, H., *Multidrug resistance in bacteria*. Annual review of biochemistry, 2009.
 78: p. 119-146.
- Poirel, L., et al., Characterization of Class 1 Integrons from Pseudomonas aeruginosa That Contain the bla VIM-2Carbapenem-Hydrolyzing β-Lactamase Gene and of Two Novel Aminoglycoside Resistance Gene Cassettes. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2001. 45(2): p. 546-552.
- 62. Jacoby, G.A. and A.A. Medeiros, *More extended-spectrum beta-lactamases*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 1991. **35**(9): p. 1697.
- Bonnet, R., *Growing group of extended-spectrum β-lactamases: the CTX-M enzymes.* Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2004. 48(1): p. 1-14.
- 64. Drlica, K. and M. Malik, *Fluoroquinolones: action and resistance*. Curr Top Med Chem, 2003. **3**(3): p. 249-82.

- 65. Sharma, S.K. and A. Mohan, *Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: a menace that threatens to destabilize tuberculosis control.* Chest Journal, 2006. **130**(1): p. 261-272.
- Alangaden, G.J., et al., *Mechanism of resistance to amikacin and kanamycin in Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 1998. 42(5): p. 1295-1297.
- 67. Salverda, M.L., et al., *Initial mutations direct alternative pathways of protein evolution*.
 PLoS genetics, 2011. 7(3): p. e1001321.
- 68. Weinreich, D.M., et al., *Darwinian evolution can follow only very few mutational paths to fitter proteins.* science, 2006. **312**(5770): p. 111-114.
- 69. Trindade, S., et al., Positive epistasis drives the acquisition of multidrug resistance.
 PLoS genetics, 2009. 5(7).
- 70. Hall, A.R. and R.C. MacLean, *Epistasis buffers the fitness effects of rifampicin* resistance mutations in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Evolution, 2011. **65**(8): p. 2370-2379.
- 71. Chou, H.-H., et al., *Diminishing returns epistasis among beneficial mutations decelerates adaptation.* Science, 2011. **332**(6034): p. 1190-1192.
- 72. Kvitek, D.J. and G. Sherlock, *Reciprocal sign epistasis between frequently experimentally evolved adaptive mutations causes a rugged fitness landscape.* PLoS genetics, 2011. 7(4): p. e1002056.
- 73. Khan, A.I., et al., *Negative epistasis between beneficial mutations in an evolving bacterial population*. Science, 2011. **332**(6034): p. 1193-6.
- 74. Rokyta, D.R., et al., *Epistasis between beneficial mutations and the phenotype-tofitness map for a ssDNA virus.* PLoS genetics, 2011. 7(6): p. e1002075.
- 75. Wong, A., *Epistasis and the Evolution of Antimicrobial Resistance*. Frontiers in Microbiology, 2017. **8**(246).
- 76. Dolejska, M., et al., Complete sequencing of an IncHI1 plasmid encoding the carbapenemase NDM-1, the ArmA 16S RNA methylase and a resistance-nodulation-cell division/multidrug efflux pump. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2012: p. dks357.
- Frost, L.S., et al., *Mobile genetic elements: the agents of open source evolution*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2005. 3(9): p. 722-732.
- 78. Courvalin, P., *Transfer of antibiotic resistance genes between gram-positive and gramnegative bacteria.* Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 1994. **38**(7): p. 1447.

- Woodford, N. and M. Ellington, *The emergence of antibiotic resistance by mutation*. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 2007. 13(1): p. 5-18.
- Mazel, D., Integrons: agents of bacterial evolution. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2006. 4(8): p. 608-620.
- 81. Mazel, D., et al., *A distinctive class of integron in the Vibrio cholerae genome*. Science, 1998. 280(5363): p. 605-608.
- Rowe-Magnus, D.A. and D. Mazel, *Resistance gene capture*. Current opinion in microbiology, 1999. 2(5): p. 483-488.
- Lakshmi P. Kotra, J.H., Shahriar Mobashery, Aminoglycosides: Perspectives on Mechanisms of Action and Resistance and Strategies to Counter Resistance. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2000.
- Poulikakos, P. and M.E. Falagas, *Aminoglycoside therapy in infectious diseases*. Expert Opin Pharmacother, 2013. 14(12): p. 1585-97.
- Bana, S. and J. Deb, *Molecular understanding of aminoglycoside action and resistance*.
 Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2006. **70**(2): p. 140-150.
- 86. Magnet, S. and J.S. Blanchard, *Molecular insights into aminoglycoside action and resistance*. Chemical reviews, 2005. **105**(2): p. 477-498.
- 87. Shakil, S., et al., Aminoglycosides versus bacteria--a description of the action, resistance mechanism, and nosocomial battleground. J Biomed Sci, 2008. 15(1): p. 5-14.
- Tudo, G., et al., Characterization of mutations in streptomycin-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis clinical isolates in the area of Barcelona. J Antimicrob Chemother, 2010. 65(11): p. 2341-6.
- 89. Recht, M.I., S. Douthwaite, and J.D. Puglisi, *Basis for prokaryotic specificity of action of aminoglycoside antibiotics*. EMBO J, 1999. **18**(11): p. 3133-8.
- 90. Bjorkman, J., et al., Novel ribosomal mutations affecting translational accuracy, antibiotic resistance and virulence of Salmonella typhimurium. Mol Microbiol, 1999.
 31(1): p. 53-8.
- 91. Koskiniemi, S., et al., *Activation of cryptic aminoglycoside resistance in Salmonella enterica*. Mol Microbiol, 2011. **80**(6): p. 1464-78.
- 92. Finken, M., et al., Molecular basis of streptomycin resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis: alterations of the ribosomal protein S12 gene and point mutations within a functional 16S ribosomal RNA pseudoknot. Molecular microbiology, 1993. 9(6): p. 1239-1246.

- 93. Meier, A., et al., *Genetic alterations in streptomycin-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis: mapping of mutations conferring resistance.* Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 1994. **38**(2): p. 228-233.
- 94. Pelchovich, G., et al., *The contribution of common rpsL mutations in Escherichia coli to sensitivity to ribosome targeting antibiotics*. Int J Med Microbiol, 2013.
- 95. Spies, F.S., et al., Identification of mutations related to streptomycin resistance in clinical isolates of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and possible involvement of efflux mechanism. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2008. **52**(8): p. 2947-2949.
- 96. Nhu, N.T., et al., Association of streptomycin resistance mutations with level of drug resistance and Mycobacterium tuberculosis genotypes. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis, 2012. 16(4): p. 527-31.
- 97. Musser, J.M., Antimicrobial agent resistance in mycobacteria: molecular genetic insights. Clinical microbiology reviews, 1995. **8**(4): p. 496-514.
- 98. Hosokawa, K., et al., *Streptomycin-resistant (rpsL) or rifampicin-resistant (rpoB) mutation in Pseudomonas putida KH146-2 confers enhanced tolerance to organic chemicals.* Environmental microbiology, 2002. **4**(11): p. 703-712.
- Springer, B., et al., Mechanisms of streptomycin resistance: selection of mutations in the 16S rRNA gene conferring resistance. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2001. 45(10): p. 2877-2884.
- 100. Springer, B., et al., Mechanisms of streptomycin resistance: selection of mutations in the 16S rRNA gene conferring resistance. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2001. 45(10): p. 2877-84.
- 101. Poole, K., *Aminoglycoside resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2005. **49**(2): p. 479-487.
- 102. Livermore, D.M., *Multiple mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa: our worst nightmare?* Clinical infectious diseases, 2002. **34**(5): p. 634-640.
- 103. Yamane, K., et al., *Genetic environments of the rmtA gene in Pseudomonas aeruginosa clinical isolates*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2004. **48**(6): p. 2069-2074.
- Ma, L., et al., Widespread dissemination of aminoglycoside resistance genes armA and rmtB in Klebsiella pneumoniae isolates in Taiwan producing CTX-M-type extended-spectrum β-lactamases. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2009. 53(1): p. 104-111.
- 105. Wachino, J.-i., et al., Novel plasmid-mediated 16S rRNA m1A1408 methyltransferase, NpmA, found in a clinically isolated Escherichia coli strain resistant to structurally

diverse aminoglycosides. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2007. **51**(12): p. 4401-4409.

- 106. Tupin, A., et al., *Resistance to rifampicin: at the crossroads between ecological, genomic and medical concerns.* Int J Antimicrob Agents, 2010. **35**(6): p. 519-23.
- 107. Wehrli, W., *Rifampin: mechanisms of action and resistance*. Rev Infect Dis, 1983. 5
 Suppl 3: p. S407-11.
- 108. Giannouli, M., et al., Molecular epidemiology and mechanisms of rifampicin resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii isolates from Italy. International journal of antimicrobial agents, 2012. 39(1): p. 58-63.
- Norton, M.D., A.J. Spilkia, and V.G. Godoy, *Antibiotic resistance acquired through a* DNA damage-inducible response in Acinetobacter baumannii. Journal of bacteriology, 2013. 195(6): p. 1335-1345.
- 110. Hall, A.R., et al., *Mutational neighbourhood and mutation supply rate constrain adaptation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Biol Sci, 2010. **277**(1681): p. 643-50.
- 111. MacLean, R.C., G.G. Perron, and A. Gardner, *Diminishing returns from beneficial mutations and pervasive epistasis shape the fitness landscape for rifampicin resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Genetics, 2010. **186**(4): p. 1345-54.
- Rodriguez-Verdugo, A., B.S. Gaut, and O. Tenaillon, *Evolution of Escherichia coli* rifampicin resistance in an antibiotic-free environment during thermal stress. BMC Evol Biol, 2013. 13: p. 50.
- Padayachee, T. and K.P. Klugman, *Molecular Basis of Rifampin Resistance inStreptococcus pneumoniae*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 1999. 43(10): p. 2361-2365.
- 114. Severinov, K., et al., *Rifampicin region revisited. New rifampicin-resistant and streptolydigin-resistant mutants in the beta subunit of Escherichia coli RNA polymerase.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1993. **268**(20): p. 14820-14825.
- 115. Vigliotta, G., et al., Natural merodiploidy involving duplicated rpoB alleles affects secondary metabolism in a producer actinomycete. Molecular microbiology, 2005. 55(2): p. 396-412.
- 116. Baharoglu, Z. and D. Mazel, *Vibrio cholerae triggers SOS and mutagenesis in response* to a wide range of antibiotics: a route towards multiresistance. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2011. **55**(5): p. 2438-2441.
- 117. Foster, P.L., *Stress-induced mutagenesis in bacteria*. Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology, 2007. **42**(5): p. 373-397.

- Miller, C., et al., SOS response induction by β-lactams and bacterial defense against antibiotic lethality. Science, 2004. 305(5690): p. 1629-1631.
- 119. Oliver, A., et al., *High frequency of hypermutable Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis lung infection.* Science, 2000. **288**(5469): p. 1251-1253.
- Radman, M., F. Taddei, and I. Matic, *Evolution-driving genes*. Research in microbiology, 2000. 151(2): p. 91-95.
- 121. Ciofu, O., et al., Genetic adaptation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa during chronic lung infection of patients with cystic fibrosis: strong and weak mutators with heterogeneous genetic backgrounds emerge in mucA and/or lasR mutants. Microbiology, 2010.
 156(4): p. 1108-1119.
- Mao, E.F., et al., *Proliferation of mutators in A cell population*. Journal of Bacteriology, 1997. 179(2): p. 417-422.
- 123. Garibyan, L., et al., Use of the rpoB gene to determine the specificity of base substitution mutations on the Escherichia coli chromosome. DNA repair, 2003. 2(5): p. 593-608.
- Blázquez, J., et al., *Antimicrobials as promoters of genetic variation*. Current opinion in microbiology, 2012. 15(5): p. 561-569.
- 125. Baquero, F. and R. Cantón, *Evolutionary biology of drug resistance*, in *Antimicrobial Drug Resistance*. 2009, Springer. p. 9-32.
- 126. LeClerc, J.E., et al., *High mutation frequencies among Escherichia coli and Salmonella pathogens*. Science, 1996. **274**(5290): p. 1208.
- 127. Rodríguez-Rojas, A., et al., *Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance: a bitter fight against evolution*. International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 2013. **303**(6): p. 293-297.
- 128. Santoyo, G. and D. Romero, *Gene conversion and concerted evolution in bacterial genomes*. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 2005. **29**(2): p. 169-183.
- Binnewies, T.T., et al., Ten years of bacterial genome sequencing: comparativegenomics-based discoveries. Functional & integrative genomics, 2006. 6(3): p. 165-185.
- 130. De la Cruz, F. and J. Davies, *Horizontal gene transfer and the origin of species: lessons from bacteria.* Trends in microbiology, 2000. **8**(3): p. 128-133.
- 131. Guttman, D.S. and D.E. Dykhuizen, *Clonal divergence in Escherichia coli as a result of recombination, not mutation.* Science, 1994. **266**(5189): p. 1380.
- Otto, S.P. and T. Lenormand, *Resolving the paradox of sex and recombination*. Nat Rev Genet, 2002. 3(4): p. 252-61.

- 133. Lorenz, M.G. and W. Wackernagel, *Bacterial gene transfer by natural genetic transformation in the environment*. Microbiological reviews, 1994. **58**(3): p. 563.
- Cooper, T.F., Recombination speeds adaptation by reducing competition between beneficial mutations in populations of Escherichia coli. PLoS biology, 2007. 5(9): p. e225.
- Perron, G.G., et al., *Bacterial recombination promotes the evolution of multi-drug*resistance in functionally diverse populations. Proc Biol Sci, 2012. 279(1733): p. 1477-84.
- Fournier, P.-E., et al., Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii. PLoS genetics, 2006. 2(1): p. e7.
- Hughes, D. and D.I. Andersson, Evolutionary consequences of drug resistance: shared principles across diverse targets and organisms. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2015.
 16(8): p. 459-471.
- 138. Shcherbakov, D., et al., Directed mutagenesis of Mycobacterium smegmatis 16S rRNA to reconstruct the in vivo evolution of aminoglycoside resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Molecular microbiology, 2010. 77(4): p. 830-840.
- Lipsitch, M., C.T. Bergstrom, and B.R. Levin, *The epidemiology of antibiotic resistance in hospitals: paradoxes and prescriptions*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2000. 97(4): p. 1938-1943.
- 140. Brandis, G., et al., *Fitness-compensatory mutations in rifampicin-resistant RNA polymerase*. Mol Microbiol, 2012. **85**(1): p. 142-51.
- 141. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Persistence of antibiotic resistance in bacterial populations*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 2011. **35**(5): p. 901-11.
- 142. Gullberg, E., et al., Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations. PLoS pathogens, 2011. 7(7): p. e1002158.
- 143. Oz, T., et al., Strength of selection pressure is an important parameter contributing to the complexity of antibiotic resistance evolution. Molecular biology and evolution, 2014: p. msu191.
- 144. Markussen, T., et al., *Environmental heterogeneity drives within-host diversification and evolution of Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. MBio, 2014. **5**(5): p. e01592-14.
- 145. Suerbaum, S. and C. Josenhans, *Helicobacter pylori evolution and phenotypic diversification in a changing host.* Nature reviews microbiology, 2007. 5(6): p. 441-452.

- 146. Gerrish, P.J. and R.E. Lenski, *The fate of competing beneficial mutations in an asexual population*. Genetica, 1998. **102**: p. 127.
- 147. Gifford, D.R. and R.C. MacLean, Evolutionary reversals of antibiotic resistance in experimental populations of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Evolution, 2013. 67(10): p. 2973-2981.
- 148. Qi, Q., et al. *The genomic basis of adaptation to the fitness cost of rifampicin resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa.* in *Proc. R. Soc. B.* 2016. The Royal Society.
- 149. Angst, D.C. and A.R. Hall, *The cost of antibiotic resistance depends on evolutionary history in Escherichia coli*. BMC evolutionary biology, 2013. **13**(1): p. 163.
- 150. Schenk, M.F., et al., *Quantifying the adaptive potential of an antibiotic resistance enzyme*. PLoS Genet, 2012. **8**(6): p. e1002783.
- 151. San Millan, A., et al., *Interactions between horizontally acquired genes create a fitness cost in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Nature communications, 2015. **6**.
- 152. Durão, P., et al., *Multiple resistance at no cost: rifampicin and streptomycin a dangerous liaison in the spread of antibiotic resistance*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2015. **32**(10): p. 2675-2680.
- 153. Baym, M., L.K. Stone, and R. Kishony, *Multidrug evolutionary strategies to reverse antibiotic resistance*. Science, 2016. **351**(6268).
- 154. Andersson, D.I. and B.R. Levin, *The biological cost of antibiotic resistance*. Current opinion in microbiology, 1999. **2**(5): p. 489-493.
- 155. Maisnier-Patin, S., et al., Compensatory adaptation to the deleterious effect of antibiotic resistance in Salmonella typhimurium. Molecular microbiology, 2002. 46(2): p. 355-366.
- 156. Nagaev, I., et al., *Biological cost and compensatory evolution in fusidic acid-resistant Staphylococcus aureus*. Molecular microbiology, 2001. **40**(2): p. 433-439.
- 157. Baym, M., L.K. Stone, and R. Kishony, *Multidrug evolutionary strategies to reverse antibiotic resistance*. Science, 2016. **351**(6268): p. aad3292.
- 158. Chait, R., A. Craney, and R. Kishony, *Antibiotic interactions that select against resistance*. Nature, 2007. **446**(7136): p. 668-671.
- Michel, J.-B., et al., Drug interactions modulate the potential for evolution of resistance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(39): p. 14918-14923.

- Imamovic, L. and M.O.A. Sommer, Use of Collateral Sensitivity Networks to Design Drug Cycling Protocols That Avoid Resistance Development. Science Translational Medicine, 2013. 5(204): p. 204ra132-204ra132.
- 161. Lazar, V., et al., *Genome-wide analysis captures the determinants of the antibiotic cross-resistance interaction network*. Nat Commun, 2014. **5**: p. 4352.
- 162. Vaneechoutte, M., et al., *Naturally transformable Acinetobacter sp. strain ADP1 belongs to the newly described species Acinetobacter baylyi.* Applied and environmental microbiology, 2006. **72**(1): p. 932-936.
- 163. Chen, T.L., et al., Acinetobacter baylyi as a pathogen for opportunistic infection. Journal of clinical microbiology, 2008. 46(9): p. 2938-2944.
- Zhou, Z., et al., *Clinical carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baylyi strain coharboring blaSIM-1 and blaOXA-23 from China*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2011. 55(11): p. 5347-9.
- 165. Gomez, M.J. and A.A. Neyfakh, *Genes involved in intrinsic antibiotic resistance of Acinetobacter baylyi*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2006. **50**(11): p. 3562-7.
- 166. Flores, A.R., L.M. Parsons, and M.S. Pavelka, Characterization of novel Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Mycobacterium smegmatis mutants hypersusceptible to β-lactam antibiotics. Journal of bacteriology, 2005. 187(6): p. 1892-1900.
- 167. Fajardo, A., et al., *The neglected intrinsic resistome of bacterial pathogens*. PloS one, 2008. 3(2): p. e1619.
- 168. Barbe, V., et al., Unique features revealed by the genome sequence of Acinetobacter sp. ADP1, a versatile and naturally transformation competent bacterium. Nucleic Acids Res, 2004. 32(19): p. 5766-79.
- 169. Metzgar, D., et al., *Acinetobacter sp. ADP1: an ideal model organism for genetic analysis and genome engineering.* Nucleic acids research, 2004. **32**(19): p. 5780-5790.
- 170. Robicsek, A., et al., *Fluoroquinolone-modifying enzyme: a new adaptation of a common aminoglycoside acetyltransferase.* Nature medicine, 2006. **12**(1): p. 83
- 171. Mariam, S.H., et al., *Dynamics of antibiotic resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis during long-term infection and antibiotic treatment.* PloS one, 2011. **6**(6): p. e21147.
- Hughes, D. and D.I. Andersson, Evolutionary consequences of drug resistance: shared principles across diverse targets and organisms. Nature Reviews. Genetics, 2015.
 16(8): p. 459.

Chapter 2: Experimental estimation of pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes in the evolution of multidrug resistance

Summary

Combination of multiple drugs has been an effective therapeutic treatment protocol over monotherapy since the success of a single drug therapy is increasingly being threatened by the evolution and spread of antibiotic resistance mutations. The sustained effectiveness of combination treatments depends crucially on the speed at which these resistance mutations arise, spread and are combined to form multidrug resistance. Until now we only know a little about how cross-resistance and collateral sensitivity, interactions between drugs and epistasis determine the evolution of multiple drug resistance. By constructing three pairs of resistance mutations, we studied the resulting fitness landscapes where we measured growth rates as a proxy for fitness in concentration gradients of the corresponding drugs. This was done using *Acinetobacter baylyi*, which has recently been found to be associated with multiple drug resistance, including carbapenem resistance in hospitalised patients.

Overall, the data we obtained here show that fitness landscapes were largely non-epistatic between each pair of resistance conferring mutations under all three pairs of drug environments. A wider mutant selection window was apparent for two antibiotics pairs where the sub-MIC concentration space was many fold lower than the MIC of the susceptible genotype. Thus, these results suggest that the sub-MIC antibiotic concentration is also generated in certain body compartment during combination therapy which may potentiate the evolution of de novo multidrug resistance. Our results also point to cross-resistance - a phenomenon where a mutation confers simultaneous resistance to several drugs belonging to the same class. We find that a wider mutation-selection window can also occur in presence of cross-resistance, which may have important implications in resistance evolution. We also observes a minor sign of Eagle effect for a singly resistant genotype treated with an antibiotic, which was non-specific to that particular drug. Overall, our results underlie the importance of selecting the right drug during cyclic treatment and also motivate using optimal treatment dosing regimes during combination therapy that exclude the prolonged exposure of sub-MIC level of antibiotics. More extended analyses of such fitness landscapes considering more drug pairs that target different bacterial physiological pathways is essential to obtain a solid understanding of *de novo* multidrug resistance evolution.

Introduction

The broad occurrence of antibiotic resistance has become a major cause of concern in treating infectious diseases. Specifically, the emergence of resistant bacteria to several antimicrobial compounds – of both synthetic and semi-synthetic origins – over the last decades poses serious threats, which eventually portrays greater lack of understanding of the factors contributing to the evolution of multidrug resistance [1-4]. Despite substantial knowledge of the molecular basis of resistance, the population biological principles determining the evolutionary routes towards drug resistance is largely lacking – for example, complete understanding of selection pressures, environmental variations and evolutionary constraints are important for predicting evolutionary paths towards resistance [5-8].

The fitness landscape [9] – a fundamental concept in evolutionary biology – captures the relationship between genotype and evolutionary fitness. This widespread metaphor portrays the possible evolutionary trajectories of adaptations of a set of genotypes where the genotypes are mapped onto phenotypes (*i.e.* finesses determined by the growth rate of genotypes) by mutational network, which in turn determine the trajectories [10-15], mode and tempo of an adaptive process, or adaptive protein evolution, including evolutionary adaptation of bacterial pathogen to multiple antibiotics [16] and affinity maturation [17, 18]. Fitness landscapes also play important role in many theories, including theories concerning the evolution of sex, speciation, genetic robustness and evolvability [19-22].

An important feature of fitness landscapes is epistasis (**Figure 1**), where fitness effects of alleles at different loci deviate from their individual allelic fitness effects. Positive epistasis predominates when two beneficial mutations (beneficial in the context of a given environment) in a genotype jointly increase the net fitness more than the sum of their individual fitness effects. On the contrary, negative epistasis implies that combined fitness effect of the two beneficial mutations is less than the sum of their individual fitness effect [23, 24]. Furthermore, other patterns of epistasis can also be observed, for example sign or reciprocal sign epistasis. In the case of sign epistasis, the selective effect brought by mutation to a locus depends on the selective effect incurred by mutation to other locus, whereas in reciprocal sign epistasis, selective effect depends on both loci [25-27].

Multidrug resistance usually evolves through adaptation at multiple loci in a genome of a pathogen. Each of these loci harbouring drug specific resistance mutation can also confer resistance to several other drugs. This phenomenon of resistance to multiple drugs is widespread in many clinical bacteria; most notable of such multidrug resistant bacteria, in terms of global morbidity and mortality, are clinical Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Klebsiella pneumoniae [28-30]. In such cases, where drug specific resistance mutations carried by different genotypes, including single drug resistant and double resistant mutant, the rate at which these genotypes will spread in the population is determined by relative fitness. Therefore, the concept of fitness landscape is important for studying the evolutionary dynamics of multidrug resistance driven by mutations at several loci. More specifically, when resistance to several drugs are present in the populations – considering resistance to several drugs conferred by mutations at several drug specific loci – fitness landscape can assign fitness values of all genotypes and determine the rate of adaptation or long-term success in the population under antibiotics environment. Thus, defining different features of this fitness landscape is crucial and could explore new avenue on understanding the protein evolution of multidrug drug resistance.

Epistasis plays an important role in the spread of resistance mutations in the population. Epistasis is measured by determining relative fitness among genotypes comprising both susceptible and resistant genotypes. Therefore, epistasis in presence or absence of drug pressure takes different forms. Theoretical and empirical observations have characterized the fitness landscape by determining epistasis for antibiotic resistance conferred by mutations at several loci under different selective environment [31-34]. From those studies, it is apparent that in presence of drug-selection pressure, fitness of a resistant genotype depends on and further increased by additional mutation, as genotype carrying the first resistance mutation may not be the fittest in the population. Therefore, additional mutation in an additive way forms the fittest genotype sustaining drug-selection pressure and spread in the population. However, in case of epistatic interactions, fitness may increases or decreases when both mutations interact positively or negatively (Figure 1, right panel). In absence of antibiotics selection pressure, synergistic cost/substantial decrease in fitness can be observed in singly resistant genotypes or increased in fitness incurred in a double resistant genotype when two costly mutations positively interact each other and increased fitness more than any of the single resistant genotypes (illustrated in Figure 1, left panel), a form of epistasis called sign epistasis (SE) [8]. Therefore, it is possible to observe many different types and degree of interactions between resistance genes or mutations in absence or presence of drug pressure. In addition to this, more different forms of epistasis are presented in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1 Illustration of the simplest two-locus fitness landscape. Considering a two-locus fitness landscape in presence and absence of drugs, several types of epistasis are possible. 'S and R' denote susceptible and resistant alleles respectively. 'SS' shows fitness for the wild type genotype with green column. Two different single resistant genotypes denoted by 'SR' and 'RS' with their corresponding fitness are shown by blue and red columns, whereas purple colour with 'RR' represents fitness for the genotype carrying both resistant mutations. Here, epistasis is defined as a deviation from the additive effect (shown by brown columns; here, fitness for the double mutant can be predicted from the fitness of the two single resistant genotypes). Different purple columns show different types of epistasis. In absence of drug selection pressure (left panel), different types of epistasis can be observed. In addition to positive and negative epistasis, sign epistasis (SE) can be observed when two resistance mutations interact positively and increase fitness at least more than one of the single resistant genotype. An extreme form of sign epistasis called 'reciprocal sign epistasis (RSE) occurs when two resistance mutations interact in a way that gives rise to a higher fitness than both of the single resistant genotypes. A special type of sign epistasis (denoted by SE^{*}) can be seen when one resistance mutation compensates for fitness costs imposed by the other. This type of sign epistasis is particularly relevant in the evolution of multidrug resistance. In presence of drugs, both positive and negative epistasis can be observed between resistance mutations (right hand panel).

In experimental population, epistasis between different mutations has been reported. In the case of TEM β -lactam resistance, five point mutations gave strong resistance where extensive reciprocal sign epistasis documented in presence of cefotaxime [11]. However, this type of epistasis was absent in mutations conferring resistance to rifampicin in *P. aeruginosa* but wide spectrum of negative epistasis was prevalent [35]. In absence of drug pressure, studies revealed an abundance of epistatic interactions between mutations conferring drug resistance, where positive epistasis was found to be predominant in the population [16, 36]. Another

study reported a multitude of sign epistasis between chromosomal resistance mutations and resistance mutations harboured by plasmid [27]. In the above-mentioned studies, an important factor was not considered while characterizing fitness landscape of drug resistance: different antibiotic concentrations and their impact on the bacterial growth or death rate. In case of multidrug resistance evolution, evolving bacterial population confront differential drug pressures throughout the environment, and the fitness landscapes underlying drug resistance will vary along with these different concentrations and combinations of drugs. More specifically, the effectiveness of an antibiotic depends on its absorptions, distribution, and decay (which we call pharmacokinetics or PK) as well as the specific functional relationship between the concentration of drugs and the growth or kill rate induced by that drug (which we call pharmacodynamics or PD) [37-41]. The PD functions vary when mutations are acquired across loci; therefore, it is particularly important to investigate how pharmacodynamics and the multilocus population genetics together impact the evolutionary adaptation to multiple drugs. The PD approach has widely been employed for a single drug and for a single (susceptible) genotype. Here, the net growth rate (positive or negative) of a bacterial population is measured in presence of different concentrations of a single drug. Mathematically, this net growth rate as a function of antibiotic concentration is often described by Hill-function [37, 42]. Two previous studies described the pharmacodynamics or growth/death rates of a susceptible genotype at different concentrations of two drugs by employing a two-drug PD approach; these studies revealed that Hill functions give a good fit when considering drug-drug interaction parameter as well as drug concentrations [43, 44]. However, these studies were limited by factors such as drug specific resistant mutants including single and double resistant genotypes were not considered. Therefore, the evolutionary interactions between resistance mutations as well as drug interactions were largely ignorant in those studies.

Drug interactions are an important factor inherent in two-drug pharmacodynamics. Analogous to genetic interactions, drug-drug interactions are classified into three main types namely additive, synergistic and antagonistic, where antagonistic and synergistic interactions are defined on the basis of deviation from an additive effect of a pair of drugs. Additivity can be defined by two main methods namely, Bliss independence and Loewe additivity. According to Bliss independence, the relative effect of a drug at a particular concentration is independent of the presence of the other drug. By contrast, Loewe's definition is premised on the idea that a drug is non-interacting with itself – if two drugs are in fact the same or similar – then their

combined effect would be identical to the effect of one of those drugs used alone in double dose [45-48]. In synergistic drugs pairs, maximum therapeutic outcomes are expected, whereas antagonistic drug pairs debilitate therapeutic success and negatively correlate with bactericidal activity [43]. Studies suggest that antagonistic interactions narrow the drug concentrations and slow down and/or reverse the rate of resistance evolution [48-50]. However, these studies were limited in that either fitness was measured for all genotypes but only in absence vs. presence of drug pressure, or that fitness was measured over a wide range of drug concentrations but only susceptible bacteria were considered.

One recent theoretical study has characterized pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes for multidrug resistance based on Hill pharmacodynamic functions that describe fitness of all genotypes with continuously varying concentrations of two drugs. This theoretical investigation suggested that pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes would be characterised by pervasive epistasis. This epistasis can result from 1) fitness costs of resistance (epistasis is expected to arise at drug concentrations around the MIC of the wild type and resistant genotypes even if the costs are additive; 2) cross-resistance or non-specificity of resistance mutations (such that one particular resistance mutation can also confer resistance to the other drug); and 3) drug interactions (synergistic drug interactions should lead to negative epistasis and antagonistic interactions should lead to positive epistasis). In this chapter I will test this hypothesis experimentally. Specifically, I will characterise two-locus pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes comprising both susceptible and resistant genotypes (both single and double resistant) in absence and presence of the two corresponding drugs at varying concentrations. I then analysed the key properties of these pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes such as epistasis, collateral sensitivity or cross-resistance, and drug-interactions in order to better understand the role of these factors in multidrug resistance evolution.

In the present study all genotypes were constructed by a combination of traditional mutation selection assays (i.e. single resistant genotypes were constructed in presence of rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics; only kanamycin resistant genotypes were created by insertion of *nptII* gene) and natural transformation assay (all three double resistant genotypes). For further confirmation for additional mutation, we screened for additional mutation by whole genome sequencing. Three different antibiotics we have used belong to two different chemical classes; two of these antibiotics belong to the same chemical classes (i.e. kanamycin and streptomycin belongs to aminoglycoside, both of them typically interfere with important bacterial cellular

processes, including protein synthesis inhibition), and rifampicin belonging to rifamycin class interfere with RNA-polymerase- β -subunit (RNAP). Growth rates - proxy for fitness - were measured for all different representative genotypes (a susceptible, two singly resistant and a double resistant genotype) under all possible antibiotic environments - for example - fitness is measured for each of the four different genotypes in absence of drug pressure, in presence of a single drug and in presence of a combination of both drugs covering a wide range of antibiotic concentrations.

Materials and methods

Bacterial strains, media and growth conditions used in this study

We used Gram negative *Acinetobacter baylyi* derived from ADP1 strain (NC_005966) [53]. These strains were devoid of plasmids as well as bacteriophages, and were recombination efficient with fully functional DNA-uptake machinery for natural transformation assay. One strain we used for rifampicin and streptomycin mutant screening was a tryptophan auxotroph, and also had a insert of cyan fluorescence marker (*ecfp*) (trpE27 ACIAD0921::*ecfp*). The third one called kanamycin resistant strain was also a tryptophan auxotroph harboured an *nptII* (neomycin-phosphotransferase-II) gene conferring resistance to kanamycin and a yellow fluorescence marker (trpE27 ACIAD0921::*eyfp* ACIAD3309::*nptII*).

We used LB medium for all experiments and for most assays (i.e. for bacterial culture preparation, growth rate assays, broth MIC-assay, and for the amplicon and whole genome sequencing). The list of different antibiotics that we used is given in table 1. According to the manufacturer recommendation, liquid LB (lysogeny broth) was prepared at a concentration of 25 g/L, whereas, LB agar was prepared at 32 g/L final concentration. Cultures were grown at 30°C with shaking at 180 r.p.m. Rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, and kanamycin was purchased from A.G. Scientific, Inc. Kanamycin and streptomycin solutions were prepared from powder stocks dissolved in sterilized H₂O and rifampicin was prepared from liquid stocks into CH₃OH. Drug gradients were prepared in LB medium by serial dilution method.

Antibiotic name	Drug class	Target
Streptomycin*	Aminoglycoside	30S ribosome
Kanamycin*	Aminoglycoside	30S ribosome
Gentamycin	Aminoglycoside	30S ribosome
Rifampicin*	Rifamycin	DNA dependent RNA polymerase (RNAP-β-subunit)
Ciprofloxacin	Fluoroquinolone	DNA topoisomerase II (DNA gyrase), IV
Nalidixic acid	Fluoroquinolone	DNA topoisomerase II (DNA gyrase), IV
Trimethoprim	\mathbf{FSI}^1	DFHR
Penicillin	Penicillin	Cell wall synthesis

Table 1 List of different antibiotics and their targets

* Antibiotics used for single drug resistant genotypes and subsequent double resistant genotypes construction for the PDFLs; ¹Folate synthesis inhibitor. DHFR: Dihydro folate reductase

Mutants screening from ancestral sensitive strain and Sanger sequencing

To construct rifampicin and streptomycin mutant, ancestral sensitive strain was streaked on LB agar plate from -80° freezer and incubated overnight at 30°C. From this plate, overnight culture was setup from a single clone in fresh 20mL LB broth in a 50mL falcon tube at 30° C with shaking (180 r.p.m). Mutant screening for a single drug was carried out by plating 100uL of overnight culture on LB agar plates supplemented with either 10mg/mL of rifampicin or 10mg/mL of streptomycin and incubated at 30°C for maximum of 48 hours. The concentrations we used were 10-fold and 5-fold higher than the MIC of rifampicin [~1ug/mL] and streptomycin [~2 ug/mL], respectively. After a maximum of 48 hours of incubation, individual mutants were isolated from both the rifampicin and streptomycin supplemented with the respective antibiotics and concentrations. Individual mutants were then frozen in 15% (v/v) glycerol at -80°C for further assays.

Sanger sequencing was performed to sequence targeted genomic locations of the individual mutant. We sequenced two regions of *rpoB* gene (*rpoB*I primer pairs which covered nucleotides ranging from 1–1342, including resistance cluster I, and *rpoB*II which covered the second spanning nucleotides 1240–2226 nucleotides, including resistance cluster II) by using two pairs of primers to detect the mutation responsible for rifampicin resistance (Rif^r). These primer pairs were designed based on a literature search to detect the common regions covering

the occurrence of common rifampicin resistance pathway conferred by mutation in the *rpoB* gene [54]. Similarly, to detect the streptomycin resistance (Stp^r) mutation, two pairs of primers were constructed targeting *rrs* and a single pair of primers for the *rpsL* gene, because most of the mutations conferring resistance to streptomycin appear in these two genetic loci [55, 56]. Detailed primer information, PCR master mix preparation and the PCR program are provided in supplementary **Table S1-S3**. DNA extraction was carried out from these individual resistant clones by using Promega genomic DNA extraction kits (Promega, California), followed by PCR amplification of *rpoB*, and *rrs* gene fragments. Sanger sequencing was carried out on these amplified PCR gene products, and mutations were determined by DNA Sangers sequence analysis on Geneious version 9.1.4 (BioMatters Inc.).

Construction of double resistant strain and Sanger sequencing

In the following step, we constructed three different double resistant genotypes by a natural transformation assay by following a protocol developed by de Vries and Wackernagel [57] with slight modification. In short, individual competent cells of rifampicin and streptomycin resistant mutant strains obtained earlier were prepared by adding 1mL overnight culture into 100 mL of LB broth in Erlenmeyer flask for a period of 6-8 hours growth at 30°C with constant shaking at 180 r.p.m., followed by centrifugation at 8500 rpm for 2 minutes and collection of pellets. In the next step, approximately 300uL LB broth supplemented with glycerol (20% v/v) was used to re-suspend the pellets by pipette tips very gently. This suspension of pellet contained competent cells and was stored in a -80°C freezer. The following day, transformation of competent cells with DNA (obtained from rifampicin and streptomycin mutants as donor strain in either way) was carried out by taking 20mL of LB broth supplemented with MgCI₂ (0.25mM) and CaCI₂ (0.25mM) in 300mL Erlenmeyer flasks. After adding DNA, the flask containing both competent cells and DNA was placed on the shaker (at 30°C with 170 rpm as shaker conditions) for aeration for a period of 90 minutes. This allowed competent cells to take up DNA from its surrounding. After appropriate aeration, the cultures were centrifuged at 6000xg for 5 minutes and re-suspended the pellet by adding 300uL fresh LB into to tube and mix the pellet by pipette tips very gently. From this tube, appropriate volume of this LB broth containing competent cells were streaked on LB agar plate supplemented with both antibiotics, for example, plates were supplemented with 4 ug/uL rifampicin and 20 ug/uL streptomycin in combination. The cultures were then diluted and 100 µL of these cultures were plated and left for adequate dry up for a maximum of 5 minutes. After this, all plates were incubated for a maximum of 40 hours at 30°C and visible individual

colonies were picked up and overnight cultures were setup in LB broth supplemented with 4 ug/uL rifampicin and 20 ug/uL streptomycin in combination. Individual culture of these double resistant mutants (StpRRifR) were frozen in 15% (v/v) glycerol at -80°C freezer. Sanger sequencing was carried out on this StpRRifR to confirm the location of the mutations in *rpoB* and genetic loci.

Structure of two-locus fitness landscape

According to the scheme, this study first aims at determining fitness of all genotypes by constructing different genotypes either by a combination of traditional mutation selection assays (single resistant genotypes) and natural transformation (double resistant genotypes) assay. Background and construction scheme of different genotypes for characterizing the PDFLs is outlined in Figure 2 used three different types of antibiotics belonging to two different classes in my experiments. These antibiotics are typically targeted to perturb bacterial important cellular processes, including inhibition of nucleic acid synthesis as well as protein synthesis inhibition (**Table 1**).



Figure 2 Three resulting pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes (PDFL) characterized in this study. The above figure shows our empirical fitness landscapes comprising three loci and seven different genotypes. Starting from a completely susceptible genotype SSS (with colors indicating the three drugs and corresponding loci), we constructed three single resistant (R) and three doubly resistant genotypes. Each node connected by the line indicating the evolutionary accessibility towards the multiple drug resistant genotypes. The three resulting pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes were studied.

Growth rate assays

Growth rates for seven different genotypes comprising three fitness landscapes were measured by spectrometry (SynergyTM HT microplate reader, Biotech, USA). In doing so, individual

resistant genotypes (i.e., susceptible, single resistant and double resistant genotypes) were first streaked on fresh LB agar plate from the -80°C freezer, and then a single colony from each plate was further grown overnight in LB medium on an orbital shaker (180 rpm) at 30°C. From this overnight culture, the growth rates of each clone were measured by obtaining the growth curve (OD_{600}) in LB broth with or without antibiotics (we used kanamycin, streptomycin and rifampicin in different combinations). Statistical software R was used for finding the best curve fitting a line for data obtained from spectrometer. In short, raw OD values were normalized to a blank OD and log-transformed before analysis. The slope for the exponential growth was determined over a 32 data points correspond to growth over 160 minutes.

Determination of Minimal Inhibitory Concentration (MIC)

We determined the MIC of each of the constructed genotypes to check the level of resistance conferred by the evolved spontaneous drug specific resistant mutations. Exponential cultures in LB broth were prepared, and samples containing around 5×10^5 colony forming units were transferred to polypropylene microtiter plates containing 180uL LB supplemented with known amounts of antibiotic. After 12 hours of incubation at 37 °C, growth was visually monitored. We carried out this to determine the evolutionary interactions of cross-resistance and negative cross-resistance to other drugs.

Statistical analysis

Various statistical methods were employed at the population level for data analysis. We first employed an analysis of variance (ANOVA) model to compare growth rate of the ancestral genotype with all the mutant genotypes in absence of drug environment to measure the fitness cost of antibiotic resistance. Similar analysis was employed for broth MIC and e-Test assay for the ancestral and mutant genotypes. All statistical analysis was carried out using JMP version 12.

Results

Determination of resistance mutations involved in the two-locus empirical fitness landscapes

In this study, we constructed our three two-locus empirical fitness landscapes from three individual mutations conferring resistance to kanamycin, rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics respectively. At first we constructed single resistant genotypes from a completely susceptible strain either by mutant screening (i.e. we selected rifampicin and streptomycin resistant genotype) or by site directed mutagenesis (kanamycin resistant genotype was

constructed by insertion of *nptIII* gene through Tn5 transposon insertion). It is worth mentioning here that the frequency of rifampicin resistant mutation was much higher than the frequency of streptomycin resistant mutation (based on the appearance of the number of visible colonies on LB plate supplemented with many fold higher than the MIC of respective antibiotic; data not shown here). This result led us to carry out a targeted amplicon sequencing in the targeted genes (we designed primer by targeting specific allelic position to cover the commonly found mutation in both rpoB locus (mutation in this locus confer resistance to rifampicin) and the *rpsL* locus (mutations at this locus cause streptomycin resistance). Our targeted sequencing revealed that indeed the streptomycin resistant genotype carried a point mutation (K43T) in rpsL (encoding 30S ribosomal subunit) and rifampicin resistant genotype harboured a point mutation (P571L) at the *rpoB* locus (encoding RNAP, RNA polymerase β subunit). We then constructed our three double resistant genotypes by introducing two of these unique resistance mutations conferring resistance to two distinct antibiotics respectively by natural transformation assay. To know the level of resistance, all single and double resistant genotypes were tested for the MIC (tested by E-test and broth micro-dilution in LB medium in presence of respective antimicrobial compounds). This antimicrobial susceptibility testing revealed high level of resistance in all different genotypes when we compared them with the susceptible genotype. For example, the MIC for the rifampicin resistant genotype was >32mg/L (indicated as the highest concentration in the gradient strip) and for the streptomycin resistant genotype the MIC was >1024 mg/L (indicated as the highest concentration in the gradient strip). For the kanamycin resistant genotype the MIC tested with broth micro-dilution method was >1024 mg/L. Similar resistance profile was observed for all the double resistant genotypes.

Letter ID	Genotype	AA change	Gene affected	Fold-MIC change
SSS	WT	NA	NA	1
RSS	Kan	nptIII*	nptIII*	>1032
SRS	Stp	K43T	rpsL	>1032
SSR	Rif	P571L	rpoB	>32
RSR	KanRif	P571L	nptIII*; rpoB	>1032
RRS	KanStp	K43T	<i>nptIII</i> *; rpsL	>1032
SRR	RifStp	P571L; K43T; S325P	rpsL; rpoB; cyoA	>1032

Table 2 List of genotypes of *A. baylyi* used in this study.

Seven genotypes of *A. baylyi* along with their genetic background and resistance profile used in this study comprising three two-locus fitness landscapes. Experimental ID indicated by three capital letters indicating different genotypes with corresponding resistant loci. Genetic characteristics such as amino acid changes are also provided. Information for an additional mutation in one double resistant genotype indicated by SRR*. The susceptible genotype (trpE27 ACIAD0921::*ecfp*) indicated by SSS where each of these three letters stands for a specific locus giving resistance to three antimicrobial compounds: the first 'S' for kanamycin resistant gene; the second 'S' is for streptomycin resistant gene ; the third 'S' for rifampicin resistant gene *rpoB*. The *nptIII* gene was inserted by Tn5-mutagenesis (ACIAD3309::*nptIII*).

To quantify each of these fitness landscapes, we further examined mutational background for each of the genotypes by carrying out whole genome sequencing to confirm that these mutations were the same and no other additional mutations were present in any of the seven different genotypes. Whole genome sequencing revealed exactly the same resistance mutation in all three double resistant genotypes, and these double resistant strains were constructed through natural transformation assay. However, one additional mutation in the *cyoA* locus was also detected in one double resistant genotype harbouring the K43R *rpsL* and P571L *rpoB* mutations (table 2; see Discussion). We assigned these three fitness landscapes as Kan-Rif, Kan-Stp and Rif-Stp.

Costs associated with single and double resistance genotypes

Antibiotic resistance is often associated with fitness cost under non-selective conditions [58]. We aimed to characterize our two-locus PDFLs in the evolution of multidrug resistance both in presence and absence of drug pressure. Therefore, we first determined the cost of resistance by measuring growth rates in LB medium without antibiotics for each of the six constructed resistant strains and compared them with the ancestral susceptible genotype. Our growth data revealed a significant fitness costs for all the resistant genotypes except for the kanamycin resistance genotype (Figure 3(a): ANOVA, pairwise-comparison given by connecting letters using TK-HSD test). The rifampicin resistant genotype suffered a higher fitness cost compared to the streptomycin resistant genotype. Pairwise comparisons also revealed that all three double resistant genotype (dually resistance to rifampicin and streptomycin) experienced the highest fitness cost. Sign epistasis, especially reciprocal sign epistasis through mutually exclusive mutations can make evolutionary trajectories inaccessible and is associated with multi-peak fitness landscapes [59, 60]. We, therefore, further compared fitness between single vs. double resistant genotypes to discern any potential epistatic effects in the cost of resistance. The

fitness of the RRS genotype (resistant to both kanamycin and streptomycin) was greater than that of both corresponding single resistant genotypes, but the difference to SRS was not significant. Similarly, we observed no significant differences in fitness costs between the RSR and SSR genotypes, so that there was also no evidence of sign epistasis in this comparison. With the fitness landscape between rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutations, we observed an additive fitness cost for the double resistant genotype (SRR) such that the combined costs of the two single resistant genotypes (SRS and SSR) equals the cost of the double resistant genotype (SRR).

Following I analysed the three-factor ANOVA distinguishing between individual mutations and interactions between mutations. This result suggests that both rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutations incurred significant fitness cost but the kanamycin resistant genotype incurred marginally significant fitness cost. However, we did not observe any significant interactions between any of the resistance pairs suggesting no epistasis in the cost of resistance among them. Parameter estimates for the three-factor ANOVA is given by **Table 3**.



Figure 3 Fitness of different genotypes in absence of drug pressure and the corresponding two-locus fitness landscapes. Panel a shows boxplots of growth rates in absence of antibiotics for the susceptible and the six resistant genotypes, indicating fitness costs of resistance. Relative fitness costs are also given under each box. Thick white horizontal lines indicate the median, the box represents the upper and lower quartiles, vertical lines represent the range between minimum and maximum of growth measurements, and the black circles represent outliers. Growth rates of genotypes connected by the same letter shown on top of the plot are not significantly different (ANOVA: pairwise comparison using TK-HSD test). Panel b illustrates which genotype belongs to which of the three two-locus fitness landscapes (Kan-Rif, Kan-Stp, Rif-Stp). Here, black dots represent the susceptible allele and coloured dots the resistant allele (blue=Kan, red=Rif, green=Stp).

Source	Nparm	DF	SS	F Ratio	Prob>F
KanR	1	1	0.00000091	0.6361	0.0426
StpR	1	1	0.00008643	60.2113	<0.0001*
RifR	1	1	0.00024705	172.1098	<0.0001*
KanR*StpR	1	1	0.00000108	0.7533	0.3873
KanR*RifR	1	1	0.00000012	0.0833	0.7734
StpR*RifR	1	1	0.00000048	0.3323	0.5654

Table 3: Parameter estimates for the three-way ANOVA with different resistance mutation

Growth rates for the two-locus pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes

We next measured the growth rates for all seven genotypes comprising our three fitness landscapes in presence of combinations of two antibiotics. Thus we obtained growth rate estimates for our three resultant pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes. First, let us consider the Kan-Rif fitness landscape. In the Kan-Rif fitness landscape, the data we obtained here are in accord with general expectations. For example, in presence of antibiotics, an elevated MIC level was observed in genotypes carrying drug specific resistance mutations (**Figure 4**).



Figure 4 Pharmacodynamic fitness landscape of Kan-Rif. Plots show maximum growth rates [min⁻¹] of four different genotypes in presence of combinations of kanamycin and rifampicin: a fully susceptible genotype (SSS), a genotype resistant to Kan (kanamycin) only (RSS), a genotype resistant to Rif (rifampicin) only (SSR), and a genotype resistant to both antibiotics (RSR). Growth rate is given by gradient scale. Grey dot indicates no growth.

The fully susceptible genotype suffered an abrupt decline in fitness in presence of kanamycin antibiotic but a gradual decrease in fitness was observed for rifampicin antibiotic (**Figure 4a**). A similar pattern of growth reduction was observed for the kanamycin resistant genotype under rifampicin antibiotic, but the growth rate was higher in response to high levels of kanamycin (**Figure 4b**) owing to the *nptIII* gene, which conferred high-level resistance to kanamycin. For the rifampicin resistant genotype, reduction in growth was influenced by kanamycin as has been observed for the susceptible genotype, but no apparent change in reduced growth was observed against rifampicin because the mutation P571L in *rpoB* gene was responsible to withstand high level of rifampicin. In contrast, we observed that the double resistant genotype can grow better by sustaining the high level of inhibitory effects exerted by both drugs, shown by **Figure 4d**.
For the Kan-Stp fitness landscape (**Figure S1**), the susceptible genotype experienced a rapid decline in fitness for kanamycin (as described above) but a steady drop of fitness was observed against streptomycin antibiotic. Maximum reduction in growth rate against streptomycin was observed for the kanamycin resistant genotype, but drug also belongs to the same chemical class, and this phenotypic plasticity towards improved growth advantage has been defined as collateral resistance [61]. Thus, we assume that this improved growth rate would be due to a phenotypic resistance inherent in streptomycin resistant genotype. Subsequently, we observed remarkably a greater growth advantage for the double resistant genotype when streptomycin was used alone suggesting that this higher fitness advantage was due to the high fitness cost associated with K43R mutation at the *rpsL* locus, which helped bacteria grow better in parallel environment (**Figure S1**).

In Rif-Stp fitness landscape, a gradual drop in fitness for both drugs was observed for the susceptible genotype when both rifampicin and streptomycin drugs were used alone or in combination (Figure S2 panel a). Between the two single resistant genotypes, a strong growth advantage was provided by the streptomycin resistance mutation in presence of streptomycin, but we observed a gradual growth decline for the streptomycin resistant genotype when tested in presence of rifampicin (which is non-specific to the resistance mutation). However, we observed that this genotype grew slowly at very high concentration of rifampicin, suggesting that a partial cross-resistance was conferred by the streptomycin resistance mutation. On the other hand, a gradual decline in growth was observed for the rifampicin resistant genotype when tested in both specific and non-specific drug environments (Figure S2 panel c). By nonspecific we mean that when a single resistant genotype, here rifampicin resistant genotype is tested against a new antibiotic, here we tested growth rate of the rifampicin resistant genotype in presence of streptomycin antibiotic to which this rifampicin resistant genotype is expected to be susceptible against streptomycin and the MIC is expected to be similar to the wild-type MIC. This non-specific slow growth rate of a rifampicin resistant genotype in presence of nonspecific drug environment suggests the presence of a possible Eagle effect – a phenomenon where an increased antibiotic concentration promotes bacterial survival such that the dose response curve or kill-curve of an antibiotic is not always monotonic and this effect was previously proposed based on a single antibiotic [62]. This Eagle effect was previously reported in response to antibiotics inhibiting bacterial DNA-synthesis, most strikingly ciprofloxacin antibiotic [Lewin, C. S. et al. 1991 EJCMID]. The role of the Eagle effect in the evolution of multidrug resistance has not been investigated; therefore it is also important to explore more on how the Eagle effect operates in combination therapy and potentiate the evolution of multidrug resistance such as whether any drug combination against a resistant pathogen provide any selective advantage to the new drug of that combination of drug pair. In this study, we observed a slower growth rate for the double resistant genotype, which grew across the entire concentration gradient of rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics used in combination (**Figure S2 panel d**).

Drug interactions potentiate the evolution of multidrug resistance

Pairwise drug prescription has been an effective therapeutic option, and being applied in many clinical conditions and infectious diseases, of most notable example is in tuberculosis treatment [48, 63]. However, bacteria show a diverse response to antibiotic combination, for example it has been shown that synergistic drug interaction accelerates the evolutionary adaptations to multiple drugs [49].

In our study, drug interaction was defined as a deviation from a form Bliss independence [60], which assumes that fitness reductions caused by two drugs are additive. Thus, deviation from Bliss independence results in either positive or negative drug interactions arising from a particular drug pair. We used the following formula [51] to calculate the degree of drug interactions from the maximum growth rate and the corresponding reduction in growth caused by two drugs when used in combination:

$$I(A1,A2) = w(0,0) + w(A1,A2) - w(A1,0) - w(0,A2)$$

Here, I(A1,A2) stands for drug interaction which is the function of two drugs (A1 and A2) when administered in combination,,w(0,0) is for growth rate of a genotype when the concentration of each drug is zero. On the contrary, w(A1,A2) stands for growth rate which is caused by the presence of any given concentration of both drugs., w(A1,0) and w(0,A2) represent growth rates in presence of a single drug only, for example in presence of either drug A1 or A2 with a given concentration.

For the kanamycin-rifampicin drug pair (**Figure 5**), a varying degree of drug interactions was apparent. We observed a similar pattern of interactions between susceptible and kanamycin resistant genotypes, especially in concentration gradients where the concentration of kanamycin was higher. In both cases, negative drug interaction was predominant. However,

there were apparently no interactions when the concentration of rifampicin was higher when it combines with low kanamycin drug concentrations. It is worth mentioning here that the fitness between susceptible and kanamycin resistance genotype was indistinguishable.

For the rifampicin resistant mutant, synergistic drug interaction was apparent in presence of this drug pair where the concentration of rifampicin antibiotic was higher. It should be noted here that the fitness cost was significantly higher in rifampicin resistant genotype. For the double resistant genotype, synergistic interaction was predominant in all concentrations ranging from sub-MIC to supra-MIC level. However, one previous study under two-drug treatment environment found a robust negative interaction at sub-MIC drug concentration, but no apparent interactions were identified at supra-MIC of this drug pair [44]. Interestingly, with this drug pair, we observed synergistic drug interaction across the entire range of antibiotic concentrations space predominated by kanamycin tested for the double resistant genotype harbouring drug specific resistance mutations.



Figure 5 Drug interactions between kanamycin and rifampicin antibiotic. Drug interaction is a function of two antibiotics in combination given by a gradient scale from negative to positive interactions across all genotypes. Concentration of rifampicin is given on the x axis,

concentration of kanamycin is given on the y axis. Grey dots represent concentration where no growth was detected, and black dots represent no interaction rifampicin and kanamycin antibiotics. Red dots are for negative drug interactions. An earlier study reported that synergistic drug interaction between erythromycin and doxycycline for a wide range of concentrations was associated with the emergence of increased frequency of resistance population of *S. aureus* [48]. So, the result we show here supports the fact that synergistic drug combination enables bacteria to evolve with multiple drug resistance with low fitness cost (Figure 4) associated with the resistance mutations.

For the kanamycin and streptomycin, no clear pattern of interactions were observed for the susceptible and two of the drug specific single resistant genotypes, but a wide range of negative drug interaction was pervasive in the double resistant genotype harbouring two drug-specific resistance mutations (**Figure S3**). It is also worth mentioning that these two antibiotics belong to the same chemical class and perturb the same cellular process. The resulting fitness (shown by **Figure S1**) of this genotype for each concentration of this drug pair was lower compared to the kanamycin-rifampicin genotype (**Figure 4**).

We also determined the interaction between rifampicin and streptomycin (Figure S4). We observed apparently no drug interaction between these two drugs across entire drug-drug concentration space (compared to other two drug pairs). One previous study on susceptible M. *marinum* predominantly found negative drug interactions at sub-MIC concentration for all different combinations of drugs including rifampicin and streptomycin – this interaction was defined as 'pharmacodynamic antagonism' [44]. In our case, we observed this antagonism for a limited number of sub-MIC concentration in susceptible genotypes, but for the two single resistant genotypes we did not observe any interaction. For the double resistant genotype, we observed both synergistic and antagonistic interactions on a limited number of drug concentrations.

Mutation-selection window (MSW)

We further examined the MSW in presence or absence of a single drug and a combination of drugs. Specifically, we identified which genotype has the highest fitness in absence, presence of a single drug and a combination of both drugs (**Figure 6**). Understanding the MSW is particularly important since resistance evolution takes place in a drug space spanning from the MIC (the concentration at which the frequency of resistant genotype arise at a low number

which means that wild type sensitive genotype is selected for at low frequency at the MIC concentration of administered antibiotics) to the MPC (the concentration at which the frequency of resistant genotype decline to undetectable value). This is a traditional consequence of the MSW [64]. Since the drug concentrations are not static, but always fluctuate in time and space, thus the MSW is also affected, especially concentrations around the MIC. This means that differential drug concentrations around the MIC potentiate the evolution of resistance [65, 66]. The traditional MSW is affected by the sub-MIC drug concentration because selection of resistance has been documented for a single drug at very low concentration (i.e., this concentration is many folds below the MIC) [67], but - though in a limited occasions - this concept of MSW was extended for a multidrug environment by employing a combination of theoretical and experimental approach. Those studies suggested that a narrower MSW can be achieved when two drugs interact antagonistically and also there is a small cross-resistance [48]. It is worth mentioning that this previous study was conducted in presence of combination of two drugs by employing completely a susceptible genotype. In our study we determined the size of the MSW to understand the impact of three different drug combinations and the interactions among them, for example we determined the fittest genotype out of the four belonging to a particular fitness landscape (Figure 6).

At first, let us consider kanamycin-rifampicin drug pair (**Figure 6a**). In the absence of antibiotics, susceptible bacteria were predicted to outcompete all three resistant genotypes owing to the fact that the resistance mutations imposed fitness costs in absence of selection pressure. As expected, we found that susceptible bacteria outcompeted all other three resistant genotypes in absence of antibiotics (shown by green stripe). However, both drug specific resistant bacteria outcompeted the susceptible bacteria when the concentration of both drugs extended beyond the MIC point. This point also suggesting that concentration above the MIC is optimal for spontaneous resistance selection, and this also supports the view of a traditional MSW. However, we also observed that both kanamycin and rifampicin resistant genotypes experienced superior growth advantages at the sub-MIC concentrations (which is even below the MIC) of the susceptible strain. In addition to this, we also observe that the kanamycin resistant genotype outcompeted the susceptible genotype at very low concentrations of kanamycin; this could be due to the fact that the kanamycin resistant genotype we used here incurred very low fitness cost.



Figure 6 Drug interactions and drug concentrations affect the mutant selection window (MSW) of different genotypes. The MSW indicates at which antibiotic concentration a particular genotype can grow and outcompete other genotypes. The MSWs of each concentration of drugs and drug pairs are plotted (plot a-c for three different drug combinations), with the three double resistant genotypes indicated by purple circles in all there cases, the susceptible genotype indicated by green circle in all there cases, and three single resistant genotypes indicated by red for kanamycin and blue for rifampicin in kanamycin-rifampicin combination; red for kanamycin and blue for streptomycin for kanamycin-streptomycin combination; and red for rifampicin and blue for rifampicin-kanamycin combinations.

But, considering a concentration of a drug pair of kanamycin and rifampicin, ,we observed that sub-MIC concentrations space for susceptible bacteria was narrowed down mostly by the kanamycin resistant genotype, and also by the multidrug resistant genotype. One plausible explanation is that kanamycin resistant genotype perhaps acquired selective advantage which disrupted the synergistic interactions between these two drugs (Figure 6a). Secondly, we did not observe any superiority of the rifampicin resistant genotype at any particular concentrations below the MIC of this drug pair, but we observed this trend sporadically above the MIC concentrations; this could be due to the fact that the rifampicin resistant genotype incurred

highest fitness cost and also required relatively a high concentration of selective environment to regain its optimal growth ability. We also found that rifampicin resistance genotype was fitter in some combination of drug where the concentration of kanamycin was below the MIC. Finally, as expected, the double resistant genotype occupied the entire window ranging from sub-MIC to the MPC (though we did not determine the fitness under such high concentration, but we considered it with respect to the MIC of susceptible genotype as well as the concentration of drug that we used for the mutant screening) as a result of the selective advantage provided by both resistance genes that help occupy the highest drug-drug concentration space.

A similar trend was observed for the kanamycin-streptomycin drug pair, where the only exception was for the double resistant genotype. In a single drug environment of streptomycin, almost the entire single drug space was occupied by the double resistant genotype. This is probably due to the fact that the cost associated with streptomycin resistance was higher than the kanamycin resistance in absence of drug pressure. Therefore, the double resistant genotype grew better in presence of streptomycin to compensate for the costly streptomycin resistance mutation (Figure 6b).

With rifampicin-streptomycin combination, we observed a traditional MSW, where the two single resistant genotypes and a double resistant genotype captured their local concentrations space through drug specific resistant mutations. However, we also observed that the streptomycin resistant genotype had a higher growth rate than the rifampicin and the double resistant genotype (Figure 6c) suggesting that there are some regions below the MIC in a two drug space of the MSW where a less costly resistance mutant can grow better presumably to capture future resistance potential against incoming drug perturbation.

Epistasis between resistance mutations

Finally, we measured epistasis from growth rates for each of the double resistant genotypes belonging to three different fitness landscapes (**Figure 7**). Specifically, we calculated epistasis as deviation from independent effects of alleles at the two loci in presence of two antibiotics with varying concentrations [51]. The formula is given below:

$$E(A1,A2) = w^{SS}(A1,A2) + w^{RR}(A1,A2) - w^{RS}(A1,A2) - w^{SR}(A1,A2)$$

Here, *E* stands for epistasis in presence of combination of two antibiotics with varying concentrations, w^{SS} is for fitness of the susceptible genotype in presence of the same drug environment, w^{RR} is the fitness for the double resistant genotype in presence of the same drug environment, w^{RS} and w^{SR} represent fitness for the two single resistant genotypes.



Figure 7 Pairwise epistasis between resistance genes of the three different fitness landscapes. Plots show epistasis in absence and presence of three different drug pairs. Epistasis is given by a gradient scale spanning from negative to positive epistasis. Blue and red dots represent positive and negative epistasis respectively. Grey dots represent no epistasis was detected in particular drug concentrations. Panel (a) shows epistasis between kanamycin and rifampicin resistance mutation, panel (b) shows epistasis between kanamycin and streptomycin resistance mutation, and panel (c) shows epistasis between rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutation.

Overall, we generally observed that our fitness landscapes are non-epistatic, both in presence of a single drug or both drugs (**Figure 7**). In few instances we observed minor positive epistasis in presence of high concentrations of kanamycin and rifampicin drug pair, which means that the double resistant genotype experiences higher replication rates than expected based on the growth rate of the susceptible and the single resistant genotypes. On the other hand, in presence of only a single antibiotic, weak negative epistasis was pervasive between kanamycin and rifampicin resistant mutations. We also observed a strong negative epistasis in presence of rifampicin at supra-MIC of the susceptible genotype. This result in presence of rifampicin suggests that negative epistasis beyond the MIC was attributed to the high cost rifampicin resistance mutation which was unable to improve its fitness burden even when it combines with a genetic background having a very low cost kanamycin resistance mutation. Rarely, we also observed positive epistasis at high concentrations of rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics combination, especially at supra-MIC of kanamycin but around the MIC of rifampicin.

Between kanamycin and streptomycin resistance mutation, we observed a strong positive epistasis at the MIC of kanamycin antibiotic (here, MIC of kanamycin is meaning the MIC of the wild type). But very weak negative epistasis was apparent below the MIC, whereas epistasis progressed towards zero or no epistasis was discernible above the MIC. In presence of only streptomycin, we observed seemingly no epistasis or very weak positive epistasis in presence sub-MIC concentration of streptomycin. Further, this positive and negative epistasis in presence of only a single antibiotic could be explained by the fact that the kanamycin resistance gene imposed less fitness cost compared to the streptomycin resistance mutation. On the contrary, the streptomycin resistance mutation itself was costly at concentrations above the MIC of the susceptible counterparts; therefore growth rate was lower than expected. In line with this, in presence of both drugs, epistasis takes alternative form, for example no epistasis in presence of high streptomycin antibiotic space but negative epistasis was observed in presence of kanamycin antibiotic with concentrations ranging from sub-MIC to the MIC. In general, there was apparently no epistasis observed in presence of both drugs (this drug pair belongs to the same chemical class and acts upon the same target i.e. 30S ribosome) suggesting that evolutionary adaptation to multiple drugs from the same chemical class is independent of epistatic interactions in presence of both drugs which antagonistically inhibit each other (Figure S3).

In the third fitness landscape comprising rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutations, we observed a varying degree of negative epistasis between rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutations. In combination of rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics, strong negative epistasis was prevalent when the concentration of rifampicin was higher in that drug pair. This could be

explained by the fact that the high cost of the rifampicin resistance mutation requires higher concentration of rifampicin antibiotic in order to release its high fitness burden. It should be noted here that this double mutant genotype experienced highest fitness cost also carried an additional deleterious mutation at cyoA locus (Figure 3a; indicated by RSR). We confirmed this by measuring growth rate of this genotype and then compared it with a double resistant genotype that only harboured rifampicin and streptomycin mutations but not the additional *cyoA* mutation. This result revealed that the double mutant genotype harbouring the additional point mutation in cyoA locus was less fit than the double mutant genotype without the cyoA mutation. Therefore, we consider that the fitness landscape comprising this genotype would presumably be enriched with positive epistatic without this additional mutation at cyoA gene. However, in presence of only a single antibiotic, most notably when rifampicin antibiotic was used alone, a steady increase in negative epistasis was observable. In this case, strong negative epistasis was apparent around the MIC of rifampicin (here we are referring to the MIC of the wild type susceptible genotype). A similar observation was also made for the fitness landscape consisting of kanamycin and rifampicin resistance mutations. Whereas, in presence of streptomycin antibiotic alone we observed mostly weak negative epistasis at sub-MIC concentration of streptomycin but strong negative epistasis at the MIC concentrations. Therefore, observed epistasis between streptomycin and rifampicin resistance mutations we observed here was different than the epistasis between streptomycin and kanamycin resistance mutations antibiotics in presence of a single streptomycin antibiotic.

Discussion

Evolution of pronounced resistance to a single drug is mediated by a sequential accumulation of multiple resistance conferring mutations in the same genetic locus. For example, empirical data suggest that a single mutation is not adequate to cause clinically important levels of resistance against antibiotics of the fluoroquinolone class [68-70]. This evolutionary process of the acquisition of multiple resistance mutations has been extensively studied for a single drug [11, 33, 71-73]. Resistance to multiple drugs also involves mutations at multiple loci, where each mutation can give resistance to a specific drug or may confer resistance to other drugs belonging to the same class or a new class by a mechanism called cross-resistance or negative collateral sensitivity.[74-76]. Despite the rapid emergence of multidrug resistance in recent days in many clinical bacterial populations [2, 29, 30, 77-80], only a handful of studies have been attempted to explore the precise evolutionary mechanisms underlying multidrug resistance in bacteria [16, 81]. Such studies characterised fitness landscapes of multidrug

resistance by determining epistasis in the cost of resistance, where positive epistasis was predominant. However, epistasis not only depends on the genetic background at which they arise [82], but the pharmacodynamics of drugs (i.e. fitness in presence of drugs and the interactions between drugs) may also influence the epistasis between multiple resistance conferring genes, as has recently been investigated at theoretical level [51].

Here, we characterised fitness landscapes comprising different resistant genotypes including the susceptible and resistant genotypes under a variety of environmental conditions such as drug free environment, in presence of a single drug and combination of drugs to understand the evolutionary dynamics of mutations at multiple loci conferring resistance to multiple drugs.

Although the pattern of epistasis varied in all three different fitness landscapes, our results indicate that all three fitness landscapes produce weakly negative epistasis or no epistasis. This non-epistatic fitness landscapes are attributed to the types (i.e. antibiotic of specific class and its cellular target), and the concentrations of drugs (i.e. fitness varies with in absence or presence of a single drug or in a combination of both drugs, as well as the types of drugs that have been used). This means that epistasis, though it was weak but on limited occasions, was apparent for a given set of genotypes, which were influenced by the drug specific resistance mutation as well as pharmacodynamics (i.e. relationship between the concentration of drug and fitness) of the administered drugs. In all cases, diminished fitness advantage for all single resistant genotype was apparent in absence of drug pressure. This slower growth rates in absence of drug pressure were mostly due to the fitness cost incurred by drug specific resistant mutations, which may have given rise to non-epistatic fitness landscapes. It is worth mentioning that in two cases, one mutation (i.e. kanamycin resistance genotype) doesn't entail a fitness cost, and in the third case, in addition to the rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutation, Although the genetic context is different, such non-epistatic fitness landscapes was previously reported in E. coli [26], but at the same time our result in absence of drug pressure differed by earlier studies where positive epistasis was predominant [16, 86].

Importantly, whole genome sequencing detected the presence of an additional mutation in the *cyoA* gene in the streptomycin-rifampicin double resistant genotype. In *E. coli*, this gene encodes subunit II of the cytochrome bo_3 terminal oxidase complex. Gene expression analysis of *cyoA* revealed an inter-population variability under tetracycline induced stressful environment, which is associated with adaptive resistance to tetracycline [83-85, 101]. A system level investigation has confirmed that mutations in other components of the cytochrome

oxidase transfer system, such as mutations in *cyoB*, conferred reduced susceptibility to antibiotics belonging to the aminoglycoside class [102]. In our case, we speculate that this *cyoA* mutation arose during strain construction through natural transformation assay, perhaps when the competent cells were treated with salt. Although we did not measure the MIC of this genotype for tetracycline or any other drugs, this mutation might have conferred heterogeneous resistance to other drugs. Our growth rate estimates suggest that this mutation incurred significant fitness cost (**Figure S5**). Therefore, this additional mutation might have affected epistasis of this double resistant genotype.

We also show that our fitness landscapes were influenced by fitness cost such that presence of only a single drug would yet be a non-specific environment for other resistance conferring mutation commonly harboured by a single resistant and a double resistant genotype. In this particular case, for example, a mutation conferring resistance to drug A will affect the growth in presence of drug B to which the MIC is unaffected. This means that growth is further exacerbated by the presence of drug B plus the cost of resistance incurred by the original mutation. Such situation has not been previously investigated experimentally, but here we observed a pervasive negative epistasis (i.e., both weak and strong negative epistasis).

In one case (i.e. between kanamycin and rifampicin resistance mutation) both weak and strong negative epistasis arose in presence of a single drug at concentration spanning from very low to the concentration around the MIC. Most notably, weak negative epistasis was apparent in presence of varying concentration of kanamycin, whereas strong negative epistasis was observed only in presence of the MIC concentration of the rifampicin antibiotic (**Figure 7**). This particular negative epistasis was observed in the case of costly resistant mutants. For example, in presence of kanamycin antibiotic only, the double resistant genotype (harbouring no-cost kanamycin resistance mutation and high-cost rifampicin resistance mutation) can grow slower. Weak epistasis means that decreased fitness advantage of this double mutant genotype is achieved by the integration of a costly rifampicin resistant genotype on a genetic background harbouring less costly resistant mutation. In other word, multidrug resistance evolution presumably takes place when less costly resistant genotype release the fitness burden by integrating a costly resistance mutation.

We also show strong negative epistasis between kanamycin (no-cost resistant genotype) and streptomycin resistance genotype (costly resistant genotype compared to the kanamycin resistant genotype) in presence of only kanamycin antibiotic at concentration around the MIC. This observation also suggests that strong negative epistasis may decrease the adaptive potential for multidrug resistance evolution given that a low cost resistance mutation acquires a costly resistant mutation.

We then measured epistasis between rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutation. Earlier studies documented positive epistasis between these two drug resistance mutations in absence of drug pressure [16, 81]. However, we observed a pervasive negative epistasis or no epistasis between rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutation both in presence of single drug and multidrug environment (**Figure 7**). A strong negative epistasis was present when the concentration of rifampicin was higher or when this drug was combined with streptomycin antibiotics. This could be explained by the fact that the high cost rifampicin resistance mutation requires higher concentration of rifampicin antibiotic in order to release its high fitness cost. However, an additional point mutation (i.e. mutation in *cyoA* gene we identified by whole genome sequencing) was present in this genotype,. This additional mutation further increased the fitness cost in this genotypes (**Figure 7**). We suggest that without this additional mutation, the fitness landscape would presumably be less or non-epistatic. Therefore, we suspect that this type of deleterious mutation may have occurred and confounded previous studies [81, 86, 87], where epistasis was measured without sequencing of bacterial whole genome.

We investigated epistasis on fitness landscapes when there was a cross-resistance or negative collateral sensitivity. Cross-resistance has been defined as a function of the evolutionary response to a single antibiotic. So, unlike physiological interaction, cross-resistance does not require which drugs to be applied in combination [52]. Cross-resistance occurs in situation when evolution of resistance to a drug can simultaneously select for resistance or decreased sensitivity to multiple drugs. This phenomenon of resistance evolution has been reported in many clinical situations, especially in the case of treatment failure due to multidrug resistant bacteria harbouring a single point mutation or a resistant enzyme capable of neutralizing many different antibiotics, including NDM-1-metallo- β -lactamase (New-Delhi metallo- β -lactamase carried by the plasmid) producing *K. pneumoniae* is capable of hydrolysing many other different antibiotics [88], or altered efflux–pump mediated cross-resistance has also been found to be associated with resistance to multiple drugs in many bacterial species, including *P. aeruginosa* and many other gram negative bacilli [89, 90]. Theoretical observation suggests that epistasis can emerge in presence of cross-resistance. For example, in a situation when two

resistance mutations slightly increase the MIC for both drugs individually, but more increase in MIC to both drugs occurs when two mutations act in combination as a result of positive epistasis, or negative epistasis arise in presence or absence of even low level of cross-resistance [51]. Therefore, we considered analysing the concept of cross-resistance to understand the evolutionary dynamics of multiple resistance conferring genes giving rise to epistasis on the pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes. In our study, we observed such cross-resistance conferred by streptomycin resistant genotype, which underwent improved growth advantage in presence of kanamycin and rifampicin antibiotics by increasing its MIC to both drugs. Similar cross-resistance was observed in an earlier systematic study between kanamycin and streptomycin. For example, cross-resistance that we observed here - between rifampicin and streptomycin – was found to be collaterally sensitive to each other in previous study [74]. This difference could be due to the fact that the genetic background and the fitness cost incurred by streptomycin resistance could be different than what was found in previous study. This means that our low-cost streptomycin resistance mutation could be a hyper-accurate phenotype, which is streptomycin dependent [56, 91]. Our growth rate data also support the notion that streptomycin resistance mutation that we observed here resulted in higher fitness compared to the growth rate in absence of drug pressure (Figure S2). Therefore, we assume that this hyperaccurate phenotype gives higher growth advantage in presence of streptomycin and, at the same time, it gives improved growth advantage when it is exposed to rifampicin antibiotic whose target also belongs to the same flow of a fundamental cellular process (i.e., transcription→translation). Such prediction was made by an earlier study where positive epistasis was pervasive [16]. Another distinct case of cross-resistance we observed in this study was kanamycin resistant genotype gave decreased susceptibility to rifampicin. This result also contradicts the result observed in an earlier study [74]. The result we obtained here would be due to the fact that both kanamycin and rifampicin belong to two distinct classes of antibiotics with two different cellular targets, for example rifampicin targets RNA-polymerase and streptomycin targets 30S ribosome. The gene nptII we used here encoded neomycin phosphotransferase II enzyme not only conferred high level of kanamycin resistance, it also probably affected the binding affinity of rifampicin antibiotic to the RNA-polymerase core enzyme, which in turn resulted in decreased susceptibility to rifampicin. Therefore, our study highlights the need for more detailed studies for further understanding of crossresistance, which might be helpful in designing effective treatment strategies in many clinical situations, especially in the case of drug cycling.

We also considered factor such as contribution of drug-drug interactions on bacterial fitness associated with resistance evolutions on the pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes. Antibiotics when used in combination can have synergistic, antagonistic or suppressive effect [46, 95]. In synergistic drug combination, reduction in fitness is more than the expected from the sum of the two individual single drugs, while antagonistic drug interaction is associated with less reduction in fitness. For the suppressive drug interaction (a special form of antagonistic interaction), combined effect of two drugs is weaker than the effect of the individual drugs [45]. Several previous studies examined the effect of drug combinations with varying degree of drug interactions to explore the potential spontaneous resistance evolution against those drugs combinations. For example, both theoretical and empirical studies suggest that synergistic and antagonistic drug interaction leading to negative and positive epistasis respectively can also slow down or accelerate the evolution of multidrug resistance, respectively [50, 51]. Therefore, we attempted to characterise our fitness landscapes when there is drug interaction (deviation from Bliss independence) and drug specific resistance mutations are in actions. We observed a varying degree of synergistic drug interaction between kanamycin and rifampicin, for which we also identified negative epistasis. Our result indicates a good concordance with previous studies [16, 50-51], but differs from the expected positive epistasis in the absence of fitness costs [51]. In absence of fitness cost, we also observed a varying degree of antagonistic interactions between kanamycin and streptomycin. In presence of this drug pair, there was no detectable epistasis observed between those drug specific resistant mutations. This could be explained by the fact that both antibiotics belong to the same chemical class, target the same cellular function, and also undergo a negative collateral sensitivity to each other. In the case of rifampicin and streptomycin drug pair, no apparent interaction were observed nor any epistasis between these two-specific resistant mutations. However, in the cost of resistance, positive epistasis was reported between these two drug specific resistance mutations [16].

The mutant selection window (MSW) is defined as the concentration space between the MIC for the susceptible bacteria and the MPC for the resistant bacteria [96]. We characterise MSWs in presence of multidrug environment. Previous studies have reported that the MSW can vary (i.e. narrower or wider MSW) or remain static under two-drug antimicrobial environment [48, 97] . Therefore, to understand the impact of drug combinations and the interaction between drugs on the size of the MSW, we aimed at determining selective advantage of each genotype under each concentrations of drug that we used for the fitness measurement. Our results indicate that the concentration space for drug pairs that we used (i.e., kanamycin-rifampicin,

kanamycin-streptomycin, and rifampicin-streptomycin) were not confined to the traditional MSWs, rather extended further below the MIC - called the minimal selective concentration (MSC) [98]. This means that selection of resistance occurs at concentration ranging from very low to very high drug concentrations. This wider space for these MSWs was attributed to a number of factors and also implicated with resistance emergence: 1) some drug concentrations allowed wild-type susceptible bacteria to grow at very low concentrations of kanamycin and rifampicin combination. This clearly suggests that selection of resistance, multidrug resistance in particular, may occurs at the sub-MIC concentration of this drug pair. Analogous to this finding, such observation was made by an earlier study in experimental bacterial population in presence of a single drug [99]. We observed similar result for other drug pair for both single and double resistant genotypes, for example in presence of kanamycin and rifampicin antibiotics (when used alone or in combination), we observed a wider MSW for the kanamycin resistant genotype as well as for the double resistant genotype harbouring both kanamycin and rifampicin resistant mutations at sub-MIC combination of this drug pairs 2) similarly, a wider MSW was also observed between kanamycin and streptomycin antibiotic, 3) but a narrower MSW was observed for the rifampicin and streptomycin drug pair which follows a traditional MSW. Overall, our results suggest that selection of resistance against multiple drugs may also occur at sub-MIC combination of two-drugs and/or in a situation when there is a crossresistance imparted by a singly resistant genotype. The result we presented here also supports the concept of minimal selective concentration (MSC) - biologically relevant sub-MIC selective concentration where antibiotic concentration is several hundred below the MIC of susceptible genotype – which was suggested by an earlier study where selection of resistance at very low antibiotic concentrations was reported [99]. Thus, the results we have presented here may enhance our understanding of the multidrug resistance evolution under variety of drug environments. Our results together with others may implicate the need for the revision of the traditional concept of mutant selection window [96], especially in the case of evolution of multidrug resistance.

In this present study, we characterised our pharmacodynamics fitness landscape by measuring growth rates as a proxy for fitness. The results we have presented here warrant the need of integration of kill rates (negative growth rates) for fitting the Hill-pharmacodynamics function as well as determining the epistasis at concentration beyond the MIC. For further exploration of the consequences of multidrug resistance evolution on the pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes, we should determine other fitness components such as the carrying capacity and

the duration of the lag phase, since a varying competitive ability in both cases was reported earlier [81]. These differential trait effects has been revealed by a recent study with both in single and double resistant genotypes, for example some of the rifampicin resistance mutations were shown to be beneficial in growth rate but all were found to be deleterious on their carrying capacity, despite their competitive superiority [100]. Therefore, both growth rate and carrying capacity are important determinants of the maintenance of resistance. We also found that a double resistant genotype in addition to drugs specific resistant mutations (i.e. resistance mutations in *rpoB* and *rpsL* loci) harboured an additional deleterious mutation in *cyoA* locus, which was detected by sequencing of the whole genome. This additional mutation in cyoA locus possibly affected the epistatic interactions between two drug specific resistant mutations in our study. We also suspect that unexpected additional mutations like the one in *cyoA* locus we detected perhaps occurred but not been detected in earlier studies due to the lack of whole genome information. Fitness estimates may therefore was misleading in those studies. Additionally, we only studied two-locus fitness landscape by constructing two specific mutations conferring resistance to two antibiotics. Despite many known resistance mutations in those drug specific resistance loci, several combinations of those drug specific resistant mutations may cause problem in determining the trait effects (i.e. growth rate, kill rate, fitness in carrying capacity). We also determine fitness under static drug environment, but the dynamics nature of multidrug resistance evolution remains to be explored. We have measured the growth rates at constant drug conditions from a master antibiotic solution on everyday basis where possible drug decay may have occurred, which might have affected the constant drug conditions during the growth assay.

In conclusion, epistasis play important role in the adaptive evolution; of special relevance is the recent observations that pharmacodynamics fitness landscapes are characterised under wide range of drug concentrations, including single drug and combination of drugs. Our results indicate non-epistatic fitness landscapes between resistance conferring mutations in absence or presence of drugs, but resistance mutations were previously shown to produce epistasis in presence of fitness cost [103]. However, we observed a wider mutant selection window for two antibiotics pair where the sub-MIC concentration space is many fold lower than the MIC of the susceptible genotype. Thus, these results suggest that the sub-MIC antibiotic concentrations, can also be generated in certain body compartment during combination therapy, may potentiate the evolution of *de novo* multidrug resistance, as has previously been reported by an empirical study for a single drug [99]. Another important aspect of this study was cross-resistance — a

phenomenon where a mutation conferring simultaneous resistance to many other drugs belonging to the same class. We also show that a wider MSW also occurred in presence of cross-resistance, which may be an important implication in resistance evolution. Overall, the results we have presented here underlie the importance of choosing the right drug during cyclic treatment as well as using optimal treatment dosing regimes during combination therapy that exclude the prolonged exposure of sub-MIC level of antibiotics. Therefore, more extended analysis of such fitness landscape is required in determining epistasis in the evolution of multidrug resistance evolution.

Reference

- Alanis, A.J., *Resistance to antibiotics: are we in the post-antibiotic era?* Arch Med Res, 2005. 36(6): p. 697-705.
- Nikaido, H., *Multidrug resistance in bacteria*. Annual review of biochemistry, 2009.
 78: p. 119-146.
- Laxminarayan, R., et al., *Achieving global targets for antimicrobial resistance*. Science, 2016. 353(6302): p. 874-875.
- 4. Editors, P.M., *Antimicrobial Resistance: Is the World Unprepared?* PLoS Med, 2016.
 13(9): p. e1002130.
- Martínez, J.L., F. Baquero, and D.I. Andersson, *Predicting antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2007. 5(12): p. 958-965.
- 6. MacLean, R.C., et al., *The population genetics of antibiotic resistance: integrating molecular mechanisms and treatment contexts.* Nat Rev Genet, 2010. **11**(6): p. 405-14.
- MacLean, R.C., et al., *The population genetics of antibiotic resistance: integrating molecular mechanisms and treatment contexts*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2010. 11(6): p. 405-414.
- 8. zur Wiesch, P.A., et al., *Population biological principles of drug-resistance evolution in infectious diseases.* The Lancet infectious diseases, 2011. **11**(3): p. 236-247.
- 9. Wright, S. *The roles of mutation, inbreeding, crossbreeding and selection in evolution.* Proceedings of the sixth international congress on genetics. 1932.
- Poelwijk, F.J., et al., *Empirical fitness landscapes reveal accessible evolutionary paths*. Nature, 2007. 445(7126): p. 383-386.
- Weinreich, D.M., et al., *Darwinian evolution can follow only very few mutational paths* to fitter proteins. Science, 2006. **312**(5770): p. 111-114.
- 12. Smith, J.M., *Natural selection and the concept of a protein space*. 1970.

- Hartl, D.L., What can we learn from fitness landscapes? Current Opinion in Microbiology, 2014. 21: p. 51-57.
- zur Wiesch, P.S., J. Engelstädter, and S. Bonhoeffer, *Compensation of fitness costs and reversibility of antibiotic resistance mutations*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2010. 54(5): p. 2085-2095.
- Kvitek, D.J. and G. Sherlock, *Reciprocal Sign Epistasis between Frequently Experimentally Evolved Adaptive Mutations Causes a Rugged Fitness Landscape*. PLOS Genetics, 2011. 7(4): p. e1002056.
- Trindade, S., et al., *Positive epistasis drives the acquisition of multidrug resistance*.
 PLoS Genetics, 2009. 5(7). p. e2002057.
- 17. Kauffman, S. and S. Levin, *Towards a general theory of adaptive walks on rugged landscapes*. Journal of theoretical Biology, 1987. **128**(1): p. 11-45.
- 18. Wu, N.C., et al., *Adaptation in protein fitness landscapes is facilitated by indirect paths.* bioRxiv, 2016: p. 045096.
- 19. Gavrilets, S., *Fitness landscapes and the origin of species (MPB-41)*.
- Moradigaravand, D. and J. Engelstädter, *The effect of bacterial recombination on adaptation on fitness landscapes with limited peak accessibility*. PLoS computational biology, 2012. 8(10): p. e1002735.
- Bergman, A. and M.W. Feldman, *Recombination Dynamics and the Fitness Landscape*. Physica D, 1992. 56(1): p. 57-67.
- 22. Masel, J. and M.V. Trotter, *Robustness and evolvability*. Trends in Genetics, 2010.
 26(9): p. 406-414.
- de Visser, J.A.G., T.F. Cooper, and S.F. Elena, *The causes of epistasis*. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 2011. 278(1725): p. 3617-3624.
- 24. Weinreich, D.M., R.A. Watson, and L. Chao, *Perspective: sign epistasis and genetic costraint on evolutionary trajectories*. Evolution, 2005. **59**(6): p. 1165-1174.
- 25. Østman, B., Effects of Epistasis and Pleiotropy on Fitness Landscapes, in Evolutionary Biology: Exobiology and Evolutionary Mechanisms. 2013, Springer. p. 37-46.
- 26. Elena, S.F. and R.E. Lenski, *Test of synergistic interactions among deleterious mutations in bacteria*. Nature, 1997. **390**(6658): p. 395-398.
- 27. Silva, R.F., et al., *Pervasive sign epistasis between conjugative plasmids and drugresistance chromosomal mutations.* PLoS Genet, 2011. 7(7): p. e1002181.

- 28. Da Silva, P.E.A. and J.C. Palomino, *Molecular basis and mechanisms of drug resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis: classical and new drugs.* Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy, 2011. **66**(7): p. 1417-1430.
- 29. Livermore, D.M., *Multiple mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa: our worst nightmare?* Clinical infectious diseases, 2002. **34**(5): p. 634-640.
- 30. Bush, K., Alarming β -lactamase-mediated resistance in multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Current opinion in microbiology, 2010. **13**(5): p. 558-564.
- Engelstädter, J. and D. Moradigaravand, Adaptation through genetic time travel? Fluctuating selection can drive the evolution of bacterial transformation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 2014. 281(1775): p. 20132609.
- 32. Nichol, D., et al., *Steering evolution with sequential therapy to prevent the emergence of bacterial antibiotic resistance*. PLoS Comput Biol, 2015. **11**(9): p. e1004493.
- 33. Rodrigues, J.V., et al., *Biophysical principles predict fitness landscapes of drug resistance*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2016: p. 201601441.
- 34. Deris, J.B., et al., *The innate growth bistability and fitness landscapes of antibioticresistant bacteria.* Science, 2013. **342**(6162): p. 1237435.
- 35. MacLean, R.C., G.G. Perron, and A. Gardner, *Diminishing returns from beneficial mutations and pervasive epistasis shape the fitness landscape for rifampicin resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Genetics, 2010. **186**(4): p. 1345-54.
- Hall, A.R. and R.C. MacLean, Epistasis buffers the fitness effects of rifampicinresistance muttaions in pseudomonas aeruginosa. Evolution, 2011. 65(8): p. 2370-2379.
- 37. Bowker, K., et al., *Comparison of in-vitro pharmacodynamics of once and twice daily ciprofloxacin.* Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy, 1999. **44**(5): p. 661-667.
- Ambrose, P.G., et al., *Pharmacokinetics-pharmacodynamics of antimicrobial therapy: it's not just for mice anymore*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2007. 44(1): p. 79-86.
- Drusano, G.L., Antimicrobial pharmacodynamics: critical interactions of bug and drug'. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2004. 2(4): p. 289-300.
- 40. Jacobs, M., *Optimisation of antimicrobial therapy using pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters*. Clinical microbiology and Infection, 2001. 7(11): p. 589-596.
- 41. Craig, W.A., *Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic parameters: rationale for antibacterial dosing of mice and men.* Clinical infectious diseases, 1998: p. 1-10.

- 42. Regoes, R.R., et al., *Pharmacodynamic functions: a multiparameter approach to the design of antibiotic treatment regimens*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2004.
 48(10): p. 3670-3676.
- 43. Ankomah, P., P.J. Johnson, and B.R. Levin, *The Pharmaco–, Population and Evolutionary Dynamics of Multi-drug Therapy: Experiments with S. aureus and E. coli and Computer Simulations.* PLoS pathogens, 2013. **9**(4): p. e1003300.
- 44. Ankomah, P. and B.R. Levin, *Two-drug antimicrobial chemotherapy: a mathematical model and experiments with Mycobacterium marinum.* PLoS pathogens, 2012. **8**(1): p. e1002487.
- 45. Yeh, P.J., et al., *Drug interactions and the evolution of antibiotic resistance*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2009. 7(6): p. 460-6.
- 46. Bliss, C., *The toxicity of poisons applied jointly1*. Annals of applied biology, 1939.
 26(3): p. 585-615.
- 47. Greco, W.R., G. Bravo, and J.C. Parsons, *The search for synergy: a critical review from a response surface perspective.* Pharmacological reviews, 1995. **47**(2): p. 331-385.
- Michel, J.-B., et al., *Drug interactions modulate the potential for evolution of resistance*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(39): p. 14918-14923.
- 49. Chait, R., A. Craney, and R. Kishony, *Antibiotic interactions that select against resistance*. Nature, 2007. **446**(7136): p. 668-671.
- Hegreness, M., et al., Accelerated evolution of resistance in multidrug environments.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(37): p. 13977-13981.
- 51. Engelstadter, J., *Fitness landscapes emerging from pharmacodynamic functions in the evolution of multidrug resistance*. J Evol Biol, 2014.
- 52. Baym, M., L.K. Stone, and R. Kishony, *Multidrug evolutionary strategies to reverse antibiotic resistance*. Science, 2016. **351**(6268): p. aad3292.
- 53. Barbe, V., et al., Unique features revealed by the genome sequence of Acinetobacter sp. ADP1, a versatile and naturally transformation competent bacterium. Nucleic Acids Res, 2004. 32(19): p. 5766-79.
- 54. Tupin, A., et al., Resistance to rifampicin: at the crossroads between ecological, genomic and medical concerns. International journal of antimicrobial agents, 2010.
 35(6): p. 519-523.

- 55. Pelchovich, G., et al., *The contribution of common rpsL mutations in Escherichia coli to sensitivity to ribosome targeting antibiotics*. International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 2013. **303**(8): p. 558-562.
- Springer, B., et al., Mechanisms of Streptomycin Resistance: Selection of Mutations in the 16S rRNA Gene Conferring Resistance. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2001. 45(10): p. 2877-2884.
- 57. de Vries, d.J. and W. Wackernagel, *Detection of nptII (kanamycin resistance) genes in genomes of transgenic plants by marker-rescue transformation.* Molecular and General Genetics, 1998. **257**(6): p. 606-613.
- 58. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2010. **8**(4): p. 260-71.
- 59. Poelwijk, F.J., et al., *Reciprocal sign epistasis is a necessary condition for multi-peaked fitness landscapes.* Journal of theoretical biology, 2011. **272**(1): p. 141-144.
- 60. Weinreich, D.M., et al., *Perspective: sign epistasis and genetic constraint on evolutionary trajectories.* Evolution, 2005. **59**(6): p. 1165-1174.
- Imamovic, L. and M.O. Sommer, Use of collateral sensitivity networks to design drug cycling protocols that avoid resistance development. Science translational medicine, 2013. 5(204): p. 204ra132-204ra132.
- 62. Eagle, H. and A.D. Musselman, *The rate of bactericidal action of penicillin in vitro as a function of its concentration, and its paradoxically reduced activity at high concentrations against certain organisms.* J Exp Med, 1948. **88**(1): p. 99-131.
- Iseman, M.D., *Treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1993. 329(11): p. 784-791.
- 64. Baquero, F. and M. Negri, *Strategies to minimize the development of antibiotic resistance*. Journal of chemotherapy (Florence, Italy), 1997. **9**: p. 29-37.
- 65. Firsov, A.A., et al., *Enrichment of fluoroquinolone-resistant Staphylococcus aureus:* oscillating ciprofloxacin concentrations simulated at the upper and lower portions of the mutant selection window. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2008. **52**(6): p. 1924-1928.
- 66. Firsov, A.A., et al., In vitro pharmacodynamic evaluation of the mutant selection window hypothesis using four fluoroquinolones against Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2003. 47(5): p. 1604-1613.
- 67. Gullberg, E., et al., Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations.
 PLoS pathogens, 2011. 7(7): p. e1002158.

- 68. Iihara, H., et al., *Emerging multiple mutations and high-level fluoroquinolone resistance in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolated from ocular infections*. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis, 2006. **56**(3): p. 297-303.
- 69. Hooper, D.C., *Emerging mechanisms of fluoroquinolone resistance*. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2001. 7(2): p. 337-341.
- 70. Hurdle, J.G., et al., *Analysis of mupirocin resistance and fitness in Staphylococcus aureus by molecular genetic and structural modeling techniques*. Antimicrobial agents chemotherapy, 2004. **48**(11): p. 4366-76.
- 71. Novais, Â., et al., *Evolutionary trajectories of beta-lactamase CTX-M-1 cluster enzymes: predicting antibiotic resistance.* PLoS Pathog, 2010. **6**(1): p. e1000735.
- 72. Palmer, A.C., et al., *Delayed commitment to evolutionary fate in antibiotic resistance fitness landscapes.* Nature communications, 2015. **6**.
- 73. Katayama, Y., H.-Z. Zhang, and H.F. Chambers, *PBP 2a mutations producing very-high-level resistance to beta-lactams*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2004.
 48(2): p. 453-459.
- Imamovic, L. and M.O.A. Sommer, Use of Collateral Sensitivity Networks to Design Drug Cycling Protocols That Avoid Resistance Development. Science Translational Medicine, 2013. 5(204): p. 204ra132-204ra132.
- 75. Lázár, V., et al., *Genome-wide analysis captures the determinants of the antibiotic cross-resistance interaction network.* Nature communications, 2014. **5**.
- Lázár, V., et al., *Bacterial evolution of antibiotic hypersensitivity*. Molecular Systems Biology, 2013. 9: p. 700-700.
- Organization, W.H., Multidrug and extensively drug-resistant TB (M/XDR-TB): 2010 global report on surveillance and response. Multidrug and extensively drug-resistant TB (M/XDR-TB): 2010 global report on surveillance and response., 2010.
- 78. Alekshun, M.N. and S.B. Levy, *Molecular mechanisms of antibacterial multidrug resistance*. Cell, 2007. **128**(6): p. 1037-1050.
- 79. Hornsey, M., L. Phee, and D.W. Wareham, *A novel variant, NDM-5, of the New Delhi* metallo-β-lactamase in a multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli ST648 isolate recovered from a patient in the United Kingdom. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2011. 55(12): p. 5952-5954.
- 80. Spies, F.S., et al., *Biological cost in Mycobacterium tuberculosis with mutations in the rpsL, rrs, rpoB, and katG genes.* Tuberculosis (Edinb), 2013. **93**(2): p. 150-4.

- 81. Hall, A.R., et al., *Costs of antibiotic resistance–separating trait effects and selective effects*. Evolutionary applications, 2015. **8**(3): p. 261-272.
- 82. Phillips, P.C., *Epistasis—the essential role of gene interactions in the structure and evolution of genetic systems*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2008. **9**(11): p. 855-867.
- 83. Lobritz, M.A., et al., *Antibiotic efficacy is linked to bacterial cellular respiration*.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. 112(27): p. 8173-8180.
- Mempin, R., et al., *Release of extracellular ATP by bacteria during growth*. BMC Microbiology, 2013. 13(1): p. 301.
- 85. Portnoy, V.A., M.J. Herrgård, and B.Ø. Palsson, *Aerobic fermentation of D-glucose by an evolved cytochrome oxidase-deficient Escherichia coli strain*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2008. **74**(24): p. 7561-7569.
- 86. Ward, H., G. Perron, and R. Maclean, *The cost of multiple drug resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Journal of evolutionary biology, 2009. **22**(5): p. 997-1003.
- 87. Trindade, S., et al., *Positive epistasis drives the acquisition of multidrug resistance*.
 PLoS Genet, 2009. 5(7): p. e1000578.
- 88. Yong, D., et al., Characterization of a new metallo-β-lactamase gene, blaNDM-1, and a novel erythromycin esterase gene carried on a unique genetic structure in Klebsiella pneumoniae sequence type 14 from India. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2009. 53(12): p. 5046-5054.
- Hancock, R.E., Resistance mechanisms in Pseudomonas aeruginosa and other nonfermentative gram-negative bacteria. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 1998.
 27(Supplement 1): p. S93-S99.
- 90. Tenover, F.C., *Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria*. Am J Med, 2006.
 119(6 Suppl 1): p. S3-10; discussion S62-70.
- Moore, P.B., *Ribosomal ambiguity made less ambiguous*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2013. 110(24): p. 9627-9628.
- 92. Pal, C., B. Papp, and V. Lazar, *Collateral sensitivity of antibiotic-resistant microbes*. Trends Microbiol, 2015. **23**(7): p. 401-7.
- 93. Gonzales, P.R., et al., *Synergistic, collaterally sensitive beta-lactam combinations suppress resistance in MRSA*. Nature chemical biology, 2015. **11**(11): p. 855-861.
- 94. Oz, T., et al., Strength of Selection Pressure Is an Important Parameter Contributing to the Complexity of Antibiotic Resistance Evolution. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 2014. 31(9): p. 2387-2401.

- 95. Loewe, S., *Die quantitativen probleme der pharmakologie*. Ergebnisse der Physiologie, 1928. 27(1): p. 47-187.
- 96. Drlica, K. and X. Zhao, *Mutant Selection Window Hypothesis Updated*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2007. **44**(5): p. 681-688.
- 97. Zhanel, G.G., et al., Mutant prevention concentrations of levofloxacin alone and in combination with azithromycin, ceftazidime, colistin (Polymyxin E), meropenem, piperacillin-tazobactam, and tobramycin against Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2006. 50(6): p. 2228-2230.
- 98. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Evolution of antibiotic resistance at non-lethal drug concentrations*. Drug Resist Updat, 2012. **15**(3): p. 162-72.
- 99. Gullberg, E., et al., Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations.
 PLoS Pathog, 2011. 7(7): p. e1002158.
- 100. Durão, P., et al., *Multiple resistance at no cost: rifampicin and streptomycin a dangerous liaison in the spread of antibiotic resistance*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2015. **32**(10): p. 2675-2680.
- Erickson, K.E., et al., Gene Expression Variability Underlies Adaptive Resistance in Phenotypically Heterogeneous Bacterial Populations. ACS Infec Dis, 2015. 1(11): p. 555-67.
- 102. Lazar, V., et al., Bacterial evolution of antibiotic hypersensitivity. Mol Syst Biol, 2013.29;9:700
- 103. Durão, P., et al., Multiple resistance at no cost: rifampicin and streptomycin a dangerous liaison in the spread of antibiotic resistance. Molecular biology and evolution, 2015. 32(10): p. 2675-2680.

Supplementary materials



Figure S1 Pharmacodynamic fitness landscape for the Kan-Stp. Plots show fitness of different genotypes in presence of two antibiotics kanamycin and streptomycin combination. Growth rate as a function of two antibiotics is given in gradient scale from 0.0 to 0.03.



Figure S2 Pharmacodynamic fitness landscape for the Stp-Rif. Plots show fitness of different genotypes in presence of two antibiotics streptomycin and rifampicin combination. Growth rate as a function of two antibiotics is given in gradient scale from 0.0 to 0.03. Gray stripe represents no growth was determined for certain drug concentrations.



Figure S3 Drug interactions between kanamycin and streptomycin antibiotic. Drug interaction is a function of two antibiotics in combination given by a gradient scale from negative to positive interactions across all genotypes. Grey dots represent concentration where no growth was detected. WT indicates the wild type, Kan indicates kanamycin resistant genotype, Stp indicates streptomycin resistant genotype, and KanRif indicates double mutant genotype harbouring both resistance mutations.



Figure S4 Drug interactions between rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotic. Drug interaction is a function of two antibiotics in combination given by a gradient scale from negative to positive interactions across all genotypes. Grey dots represent concentration where no growth was detected. WT indicates the wild type, Rif indicates rifampicin resistant genotype, Stp indicates streptomycin resistant genotype, and KanRif indicates double mutant genotype harbouring both resistance mutations.



Ancestor genotype

Figure S5 Mean growth rates for three different genotypes. Each error bar was constructed using 1 standard error from the mean of 5 independent population replicates measurements. All genotypes are significantly different from each other, except SRR1 and SRR2 (ANOVA: pairwise comparisons wising TUKEY-HSD post-hoc test: p-value = 0.8051). SRR1 and SRR2 were the same strain only differed by construction through natural transformation method such that SRR1 was constructed using StpR as a donor, while SRR2 was constructed using RifR as a donor. SSS = Susceptible/wild-type genotype; both SRR1 and SRR2 are double mutant harbouring both *rpsL* and *rpoB* mutations; SRR* is also a double mutant genotype carrying both *rpoB* and *rpsL* mutation plus an additional mutation at *cyoA* locus, and this genotype was used for characterizing pharmacodynamic fitness landscape.

Gene name	Primer sequence
rpoB 1 (forward)	TTCGATTCAGGTCGACTCGT
rpoB 1 (reverse)	CAGGCGTTCTGGAACAAGAT
rpoB 2 (forward)	TGGATCAAAACAACCCATTG
rpoB 2 (reverse)	ATCGCCACGACCCACTTTAT
rrs 1 (forward)	GGCAGGCTTAACACATGCAA
rrs 1 (reverse)	CTACGCATTTCACCGCTACA
rrs 2 (forward)	CTGGAGGAATACCGATGGCG
rrs 2 (reverse)	TAACCGCCCTCTTTGCAGTT
rpsL (forward)	ATGGCAACAACAAATCAGTT
rpsL (reverse)	TTATTTCTTAGGACGTTTAG

Table S1 List of primers used in amplifying targeted allele sequences.

Table S2 PCR master mix preparation per reaction

Reagents	Amount [uL/reaction tube]	
PCR buffer 10x	2.5	
MgCl2 25 mM	2.5	
dNTP 10mM	0.5	
TaqGold 5U /µL	0.1	
Primer mix (conc. 0.5µM) (F+R)	1.5	
Sigma H2O	17.9	
Template DNA	5	
Tolal volume	30	

Table S3 PCR	program used to	amplify the ta	argeted allele sec	juences
--------------	-----------------	----------------	--------------------	---------

PCR program:					
Step	Temperature	Time			
1 (hold)	95°C	6 minutes			
2 (denaturation)	94°C	45 seconds			
3 (annealing)	58°C	45 seconds			
4 (elongation)	72°C	2 minutes			
5 (repetition)	Step 2 to 4 for 35 cycles				
6 (final elongation)	72°C	10 minutes			

Chapter 3: Emergence of de novo multidrug resistance in experimental bacteria populations evolving under sub-lethal drug combination: the role of natural transformation

Summary

The emergence of multidrug resistant bacteria has become a major cause of therapeutic failure in treating infectious diseases. Multidrug resistance is frequently acquired by horizontal gene transfers, but can also arise *de novo* through mutations. In the latter case, recombination may still be important in reducing clonal interference between selected resistance mutations that spread simultaneously within the population. Many bacteria, including important pathogens, regularly undergo recombination via natural transformation (uptake of free DNA from the environment), but the role of natural transformation in the evolution of *de novo* multidrug resistance evolution is unclear. Our study aims at characterizing the evolutionary dynamics of de novo multidrug resistance through evolution experiments in which the emergence and spread of resistance mutations is monitored and the impact of recombination is assessed. We initiated our evolution experiment with populations comprising either naturally competent or non-competent genotypes of the Gram-negative bacterium Acinetobacter baylyi. These populations were then propagated by serial transfer for ~650 generations under sub-lethal doses of rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotics used in combinations. We then characterized our evolved populations by employing different phenotypic assays and by whole genome sequencing. Both growth rate and competition assays demonstrated that the populations propagated under drug pressure had evolved higher fitness when tested in same environment, but there was no difference in fitness gain between competent and recombination-deficient populations. Moreover, our antibiotic susceptibility assays showed that all clones that evolved in presence of drugs had become strongly resistant to rifampicin, whereas resistance to streptomycin was much weaker or absent. Consistent with these findings, whole genome sequencing revealed an abundance of different *rpoB* mutations (indicating target alteration as a resistance mechanism). We have also identified a number of other mutations that have been reported to be associated with resistance to other antibiotics. In conclusion, we saw no evidence that recombination by transformation facilitates adaptation to antibiotics, possibly because the limited number of mutations that were spreading simultaneously prevented clonal interference.

Introduction

Recombination is a complex evolutionary process. This process is ubiquitously present in the nature, including both in prokaryotic and eukaryotic populations. Nevertheless, the benefit and the cost of recombination yet remain a paradoxical question in evolutionary biology [1-3]. It is assumed that allelic associations – called linkage disequilibria (LD) – between different loci that are broken up by recombination determine the adaptive benefit of recombination. For example, recombination can help purge deleterious mutations harboured by particular population lineage [4-6], or accelerate adaptation in situations where beneficial mutations arise at different loci of diverse population lineages and compete against each other – a phenomenon called clonal interference [7, 8].

In many bacterial species, recombination plays a key role in the adaptive process by generating genetic variations by acquisition of genes and genetic elements from their surrounding sources via horizontal gene transfer (HGT) [9-11]. For example, recipient bacteria incorporate DNA from dead cells or other inter bacterial genes and genetic elements such as different gene clusters, plasmids, transposons, prophages [12]. Subsequently these genes or extra chromosomal genetic determinants are integrated into bacterial genomes by single HGT event via recombination.

Recombination helps bacteria to adapt to many environments by evolving new functions necessary for their existence, including adaptation to antibiotics, colonization of new habitats or hosts by increasing virulence or pathogenicity, or metabolization or synthesis of new energy sources [13-16]. This process is accomplished by three main mechanisms: conjugation (mediated by extra chromosomal DNA, such as plasmid), transduction (DNA transfer mediated by phages), and natural transformations (where free DNA from the environment is integrated into the bacterial chromosome) [17].

During transformation process, DNA molecules are released in the environment from degraded bacteria and taken up by recipient bacteria through homologous recombination, which results in transformant bacteria [18]. For example, recipient bacteria capture antibiotic resistance genes from the biosphere by natural transformation [18, 19]. The source of DNA for transformation includes the genomes and extra chromosomal elements of dead cells of the same species or of unrelated organisms, and living cells that actively release DNA [20]. A number of different bacterial species have been reported to be competent for natural

transformation, including *Bacillus subtilis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, and *Helicobacter pylori* [21-23].

Genetic exchange via natural transformation in bacteria is different from eukaryotic sex. Therefore, a varying degree of benefits and costs is associated with bacterial recombination via this mechanism [24]. For example, apart from bringing beneficial mutations in the same genome, transformation is thought to be an active means of nutrient provider through DNA uptake from surrounding environments to help repair the replicative DNA lesions or to reduce mutational load in the population [25, 26]. However, with regard to reducing the mutational load of a population theoretical studies suggest that transformation decreases fitness when the source of DNA is from closely related dead cells which are originated from low-fitness mutants compared to their living counterparts, or benefit of recombination achieved via natural transformation which can reduce the mutational load in a non-competent genetic background [27, 28]. Furthermore, transformation is regarded as a complex and costly process because it requires many metabolic proteins for the uptake of DNA molecules from the surroundings [25].

Two previous experimental studies provided contrasting views on the benefit and cost of recombination via natural transformation. For example, one study in support of the benefit of natural transformation reported the accelerated adaptation by recombination via natural transformation in *Helicobacter pylori* [29]. Conversely, another study documented conditions where recombination via natural transformation did not play a role in the adaptive process [25]. However, one recent study [30] reported growth phase specific benefit of recombination via natural transformation in *A. baylyi*, while, benefit of recombination via natural transformation was found to be absent in the same species by another recent study [31].

Multidrug resistance is a global medical problem, and it is thought that resistance to multiple antibiotics is an evolutionary process and operated by *de novo* mutations (i.e. point mutation, insertion, deletion or duplication) or by recombination (transfer of resistant genes or genetic determinant from other bacteria) [32-35]. In presence of antibiotics selection pressure, bacteria can adapt and evolve by forming resistance mutations. Adaptation to multiple drugs has been observed in many bacterial pathogens such as *M. tuberculosis* [36], *A. baumannii* [37], and many more.

Analogous to clonal interference, when multiple resistance mutations spread simultaneously in a population, they may compete against each other. In this particular situation, beneficial mutations can be integrated into the same genome by recombination which breaks down this clonal interference [16]. Therefore, we assume that recombination could be an adaptive process in presence of multiple antibiotics. To date, only a single experimental study [13] has investigated the impact of recombination via natural transformation on bacterial adaptation under multiple antibiotics. This study revealed that recombination via natural transformation can accelerate adaption by bringing resistance genes together [13]. More specifically, this study showed that in the absence of recombination, initial single resistant strains inhibited the evolution of multidrug resistance, but adaptation was accelerated by recombination when two resistance genes were incorporated into the same genome via natural transformation. However, this study has some potential shortcomings in terms of de novo multidrug resistance via natural transformation. More specifically, this study was carried out starting with two strains already harboured resistance mutations. This means that bacteria acquired multidrug resistance via new mutations were not considered in this study. Additionally, all the evolved bacteria were exposed to a single drug concentration, but many de novo resistance mutations in presence of that particular drug pressure could also be selected for. This study also did not characterize the evolved strains at genomic level, so the genetic changes that occurred in the population remained unexplored. Typically, this approach only can detect a single adaptive step but does not decipher how multiple resistances are acquired sequentially, or the recA-deletion strain used in that study probably encountered a number of pleiotropic effects that were not investigated.

Here, we investigate the impact of recombination via natural transformation in the evolution of de novo multidrug resistance in clonal susceptible bacterial populations under sub-lethal (sub-MIC) concentrations of two-drug antimicrobial combinations by employing an experimental evolution approach. We assume that under two-drug antimicrobial treatment, initial clonal susceptible bacterial populations will diversify by acquiring drug specific resistance mutations and compete against each other over the course of evolution. Consequently, de novo multidrug resistance evolution will take place where recombination via natural transformation will reduce competition between drug-specific multiple beneficial mutations that arise within separate lineages during the course of evolution.
We used *A. baylyi* as our experimental system, which is a soil dwelling gram-negative bacterium possessing an extensive metabolic versatility, and is highly competent for natural transformation [38, 39]. Moreover, this bacterium has recently been found to be associated with hospital-acquired infections and is related to *A. baumannii*, an important nosocomial pathogen [39]. Additionally, whole-genome sequence of this bacterium is available [40]. Together, these features have made *A. baylyi* an attractive model organism in microbiology and evolutionary biology. We used different genetic constructs of competent (Rec+) and non-competent (Rec-) strains to investigate the effect of genetic exchange on laboratory evolution of bacterial de novo multidrug resistance by integrating experimental evolutionary steps that have taken place.

Materials and methods

Strains, media and growth conditions used in this study

We used *A. baylyi* derived from ADP1 strain (NC_005966) [40] - details are listed in Table 1. All strains used were devoid of plasmids as well as bacteriophages. Therefore, natural transformation is the only means of recombination among recombination-efficient (Rec+) populations in this study. We used two different Rec+ strains that were fully susceptible to antibiotics and employed in the evolution experiment to investigate how a fully susceptible bacterium adapts to a multidrug environment. The genetic architecture of these two Rec+ strains was identical with the only exception of a fluorescent marker. These fluorescent markers were used to detect possible cross contamination events during the course of experiments. These two strains also possessed fully functional DNA uptake systems making ... Table 1 Description of different populations of *A. baylyi* used in this study.

Strain	Genotype	Description	Reference
ADP1Rec+3	trpE27	Transformation-efficient ancestor strain; tryptophan	Genome
	ACIAD0921::ecfp	auxotroph; cyan fluorescence marker (ecfp)	sequenced in
			this study
ADP1Rec+4	trpE27	Transformation-efficient ancestor strain; tryptophan	Genome
	ACIAD0921::eyfp	auxotroph; yellow fluorescence marker (eyfp)	sequenced in
			this study
ADP1Rec-	trpE27	Transformation-deficient control strain; tryptophan	Genome
13	∆comFEBC:: <i>dhfr1</i>	auxotroph; trimethoprim resistance marker (dfhr1)	sequenced in
			this study

these bacterial strains capable of transformation with high efficiency. A Rec- strain was used as a negative control, and this strain was devoid of a functional DNA-uptake system due to the disruption of *comFEBC* gene cluster. All strains were provided by Nils Huelter and Pal Johnsen from the Arctic University of Norway.

We used lysogeny broth (LB) for all experiments and most assays (i.e. for the growth rate, serial passage, competition assays, and bacterial culture preparation for the whole genome sequencing); for antibiotic susceptibility assays, we used Muller Hinton-II (MH-II) medium supplemented with 0.05 tryptophan because all the strains we used in our experiment were tryptophan auxotroph (information provided in table 1).

Experimental evolution experiment

A single colony of each strain of *A. baylyi* (Rec+3, Rec+4, 2xRec-) was grown overnight in LB media. Thirty six population in total founded from each of these four progenitor strains by adding 10uL of overnight culture in 990uL LB medium. The experiment was carried out for three different antibiotic treatments (see below) and three replicate lineages per treatment. Populations were grown in 24-well plates on an orbital shaker (280 rpm) at 30°C, and these growth conditions were maintained throughout the experiment. After 24 hours, 10uL of each population was serially passaged to 990uL of fresh LD medium and propagated for another 24 hours. In this way, one hundred serial transfers were made which resulted in approximately 650 generations of bacterial growth. Samples were stored and frozen at 15 different time points at -80°C in 15% (v/v) glycerol.

Three different selection environments were used in this study: no-drug treatment (ND: LB medium without supplements), low-drug (LD: LB medium supplemented with 0.125 mg/mL of rifampicin and 0.25 mg/mL of streptomycin), and high-drug (HD: LB medium supplemented with 0.25 mg/mL of rifampicin and 0.50 mg/mL of streptomycin). We used these concentrations of two-drug antimicrobial combinations because these combinations were strong enough to exert a significant level of selective pressure on the bacteria whilst still permitting sufficient growth (as ascertained in pilot experiments, see Figure S1).

Growth rate assays

Growth rates for the evolved populations at different time points were measured by spectrometry (SynergyTM HT microplate reader, Biotech, USA). In doing so, individual clones from different time points (transfer 0, 10, 20, 48, 100) were first streaked on fresh LB agar plates from the -80°C freezer, and then a single colony from each plate was further grown

overnight in LB medium on an orbital shaker (180 rpm) at 30°C. From this overnight culture, the growth rate of each clone was measured by obtaining the growth curve (OD600) in LB broth with or without antibiotics in different combinations, including those that were used in the initial evolution experiments. We measured growth rates in 96-well plate (i.e., we used 5uL of culture into 175uL of LB) by spectrometry (SynergyTM HT microplate reader, BioTek, USA). The reader was set at 30°C with continuous shaking for 12 hours. Read (based on absorbance) was collected every 5 minutes interval at wavelengths of 600nm. The individual clones were also stored in -80°C freezer in 15% glycerol (v/v) for further analysis. Statistical software R was used for finding the best curve fitting a line for data obtained from the spectrometer. In short, raw OD values were normalized to a blank OD and Ln (natural log) transformed before analysis. Then the steepest slope over a 32 data points correspond to growth over 155 minutes (data obtained through every 5 minutes reading interval, including the initial read obtained at the beginning of the assay) period was determined.

Antibiotic susceptibility assay by disk diffusion

Antibiotic susceptibility testing was carried out for the same clones for which growth rates were measured. We employed disk diffusion testing as a proxy for determining antimicrobial resistance profiles among clones at different time points of the evolved populations. Individual clones were streaked on LB agar plates followed by overnight growth (18 hours) of a single colony in 15mL fresh LB medium. This overnight culture was diluted to 1:10 and inoculated on fresh LB agar with a sterile cotton swab. Prior to applying the antimicrobial disks, plates were left ajar for five minutes to absorb any excessive moisture on the agar surface. Two types of antimicrobial disks were used for the susceptibility testing which were obtained from Oxoid (Basingstoke, UK). These disks possessed the following concentrations: rifampicin 30ug and streptomycin 25ug representing approximately 10-fold and 5-fold higher MIC than the ancestor strain for the respective antimicrobial compounds (based on earlier growth rate and MIC assays in presence various concentrations of individual drug). Three disks per antibiotic were dispensed to the agar surface using sterile forceps and left for five minutes to make sure that the disk has made thorough contact on the surface of the agar. The disks were placed by maintaining a maximal distance between two antibiotics in order to avoid any potential interactions that may give rise to distortion of inhibition zones. All plates were then inverted and placed inside a plastic bag and incubated at 30°C for 18 hours followed by measurement of diameter of inhibition zones (mm) to determine growth around the disk. Since there is no specific susceptibility breakpoints set by the EUCAST (European Committee for Antimicrobial

Susceptibility Test) nor the CLSI (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, USA) for the tested antimicrobial disks for the strains (*A. baylyi*) used in this study, the antimicrobial susceptibility profile of our evolved strains were interpreted based on earlier growth rate assay.

Antibiotic susceptibility assay by E-test

Additionally, we characterized the MIC profile of our evolved endpoint populations and ancestral populations with E-test assays. Individual clones were streaked on Mueller-Hinton (MH-II; Becton, Dickinson, and company, N.J, U.S.A) plates from frozen stock, and incubated for 18 hours. Suspensions of the organisms were prepared by picking appropriate number of colonies and suspending in 1.5 ml of saline under aseptic condition, and the turbidity was adjusted by measuring the optical density (OD600) of this bacterial saline suspension by spectrometry (SynergyTM HT microplate reader, BioTek, USA). Turbidity of this bacterial saline suspension was adjusted to that of a McFarland 0.06 to 1.0 standard. A total of approximately 0.1 ml of the 1.0 McFarland suspension was plated on a MH-II agar plate by using a sterile cotton swab. In doing this, sterile cotton swab was dipped into the adjusted suspension, and rotated several times and pressed firmly on the inside wall of the tube above the fluid level to remove the excessive inoculum from the swab. Then MH-II agar plate was inoculated by streaking the cotton swab over the whole sterile agar surface. This procedure was repeated at least two more times by rotating the plate approximately 60° each time to ensure an appropriate distribution of inoculum on the whole surface of the plate. In the final step, the rim of the MH-II plate was swabbed at least twice. Then the lid of the plate was kept open for approximately 5 minutes to allow for any excess surface moisture to be absorbed before applying the E-test strip. After adequate drying, a maximum of three E-strips (rifampicin, streptomycin and ciprofloxacin) were placed in one plate. The antibiotic strips were placed by maintaining a maximal distance between two antibiotics in order to avoid any potential interactions (i.e. antagonism, synergism, inhibition or induction) that may give rise to distortion of inhibition zones. All plates were inverted with the lid side up and placed inside a plastic bag and incubated at 30°C for 18 hours. MICs were read from the test strip where the elliptical zone of inhibition intersected with the MIC scale on the strip. Although there is no specific susceptibility breakpoints set by the EUCAST nor the CLSI for the tested antimicrobial stripes for the strain (A. baylvi) used in this study, we also carried out E-test on E. coli ATCC 25552 strain as a control strain to interpret the MIC of the experimental strains by comparing with this control strain.

Competitive fitness assay

Competition experiments for each of the evolved clones from the end point population (~650 generations) were carried out in the same culture conditions used to propagate the evolving populations. In this assay, we used a reference tryptophan auxotroph strain harboring nptII (neomycin-phosphotransferase-II) (trpE27 ACIAD0921::evfp ACIAD3309::nptII), gene conferring resistance to kanamycin antibiotic. Each of the evolved clones and marker strains were taken from the freezer, acclimatized by plating on LB agar, and incubated overnight at 30°C. Afterwards, a single colony from individual plate was transferred into 1 mL of LB broth contained in individual wells of 24-well plates. These cultures were then incubated for 24 hours on an orbital shaker (250 rpm) at 30°C, which represent one complete growth cycle. Then, to start with the actual competition assay, each acclimated culture (5uL from each of the well representing each of the evolved clones) and reference strain culture (5uL) was inoculated into 9.9mL of LB with or without antibiotics contained in individual wells of 24-well plates, and mixed together. Individual samples (10uL) were taken immediately after mixing followed by serial dilution in PBS saline solution and plated on LB agar plates (at least 3 replicates of 100uL) supplemented with or without kanamycin (50mg/mL). Similarly, samples were taken after 24 hours, and serially diluted and plated on LB supplemented with or without kanamycin (50 mg/mL). LB plates were incubated for ~16 to 18 hours at 30°C, and subsequently colony forming units (CFUs) were counted visually.

Finally, relative fitness (w) was calculated as the ratio of the realized Malthusian parameters of the two competitors over the course of the 24-hours of competition as follows:

$w = ln(E_f/E_i)/ln(M_f/M_i)$

where E and M correspond to densities of the evolved population and reference competitor, and subscripts i and f designate initial and final densities, respectively. However, this calculation is highly sensitive to sampling error when the difference between two Malthusian parameters of the two competitor strains arise in different nutrients medium (as in our case is the medium was supplemented with two different antibiotics in combination); therefore, we also calculated the selection rate constant as a measure of relative performance in relative fitness as has previously been done by Travisano and Lenski, 1996 [41].

Bacterial whole genome sequencing and library preparation

Initially, individual clones (the same ones as for the previous fitness assays) were inoculated on LB agar plates from the cryotube followed by overnight incubation at 30°C. A single colony

was then inoculated in 10mL LB broth and incubated overnight at 30°C on orbital shaker (180 rpm). Then DNA extraction from pure culture of individual clone was performed using PureLink® Genomic DNA Kits (Invitrogen). After extraction, DNA quantification was carried out using spectrometer based microplate reader on Take-3 plate (SynergyTM HT, Bio Tek, USA). Then samples were diluted in TRIS buffer to 8-10 ng/uL and stored in -20°C.

Library was prepared using a Nextera XT kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions but with slight modifications. Overall, library preparation was carried out in 5 steps. In step 1, gDNA concentrations were standardized across samples (for example, 8 ng/mL for each strain). Step 2 involved tagmentation of input DNA by the Nextera XT transposome. The Nextera XT transposome simultaneously fragments the input DNA and adds adapter sequences to the ends, allowing amplification by PCR in subsequent steps. In step 3, tagmented DNA was amplified for a short cycle with the PCR. In step 4, PCR amplified fragments or library DNA were purified using AMPure XP beads (Agentcourt Ampure XP: Beckman Coulter AMPURE XP, U.S.A), which removed short library fragments from the samples. In the final step, each library was normalized which ensures that equal library representation has been achieved in pooled sample. In doing so, we run our purified samples further on the Shimadzu bioanlyzer for the selection of expected fragment lengths between 300 and 800. Then we pooled the library, and further purified with AMPure XP beads followed by Pippenprip size selection. Finally, the pooled library was sequenced on the Illumina MiSeq platform (300bp paired-end).

Analysis of genome data

The reads (forward and reverse) generated from the Illumina MiSeq run were first quality trimmed with 0.05% error probability, paired and then mapped to our ancestral genomes of *A. baylyi*. Ancestral strains were assembled by mapping their reads against the reference genome of *A. baylyi*, which is available on the NCBI GenBank (NC_005966). All steps were carried out using Geneious version 9.1.4 (BioMatters Inc.). In short, we used 'Find variations/SNPs' tool implemented in Geneious to identify SNPs and indels with minimum reads coverage of 5 and a variant frequency of at least 95%. A subset of SNPs identified in the *rpoB* gene was further verified by Sanger's sequencing of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplicons (detailed primer information and PCR program are provided in supplementary table S3-S5). For each SNP in this *rpoB* gene, a subset of clones harbouring this mutations (9 out of 18 mutations identified in the 36 evolved strains) were selected, and were amplified a 500–700 bp

PCR product covering the SNP initially identified during initial SNPs analysis, and directly sequenced the PCR products. All 9 mutations that we cross-examined were successfully confirmed.

Statistical analysis

For data analysis, various statistical methods were employed at the population level. We first used an analysis of variance (ANOVA) model to compare growth rates between ancestral genotypes and evolved endpoint populations with genetic background (i.e. Rec+ and Rec-) and testing environments (ND, LD, and HD) as fixed effects, and replicate evolved populations as random effect. We also employed a fully factorial combined ANOVA model for the relative comparison of competitive fitnesses of the evolved populations from transfer 100 (T100) which represents about ~650 generations of growth (both Rec+ and Rec-) and transfer 0 (T0) which represents ancestral populations (both Rec+ and Rec-). We considered replicate populations as random effect, and treatment and genetic background (Rec+ and Rec-) as fixed factors implemented within the model. We used LS means contrasts in the factorial ANOVA model to compare the Rec+ and Rec- populations at transfer 0 and 100 days. Similar analysis was employed for both disk diffusion and E-test MIC assay for the ancestral and evolved populations. All statistical analyses were carried out using JMP version 12 and R version 3.1.2.

Results

Phenotypic investigation on the evolutionary benefit of natural transformation in de novo multidrug resistance

To investigate the contribution of recombination in the *de novo* multidrug resistance, we evolved replicate populations of competent (Rec+) and non-competent (Rec-) *A. baylyi* under three different treatment environments for ~650 generations. We introduced static antibiotic concentrations comprising no drug (ND), low drug (LD) and high drug (HD) treatment. We confirmed that these concentrations of drugs exerted sufficient growth inhibitions (LD: ~15% growth reduction, HD: ~20% growth reduction, see **Figure S3**). Therefore, we expected that the selection pressures we used were sufficient to produce genetic variability among populations over time, and we assumed that natural transformation would play an important role in adaptation to these environments.

We investigated the level of adaptation by measuring growth rates of the evolved populations from T100 (endpoint population) and T0 (initial population) by exposing them to the same

media and selective pressure that we used earlier in the evolution experiment. In addition to this, we also quantified growth rates for the initial and the endpoint evolved populations in all other treatment environments. This investigation allowed us to directly observe to what extent adaptation had taken place in Rec+ and Rec- evolved populations after ~650 generations.



Figure 1 Growth rate for the ancestral and endpoint population. Growth rates were measured for ancestral (T0) and evolved endpoint (T100) populations. Plot shows mean growth rates for the ancestral (T0) and evolved endpoint (T100) populations. Error bar = SEM (\pm 1).

Following ~650 generations, growth rate assays indicate that populations propagated under selective environments had evolved higher growth rates ($F_{1, 226} = 198.96$, *p*-value = <0.0001, see **Figure 1**). This was apparent for all the populations when tested in the same selective environments. For example, populations with higher growth rates were observed when evolved and tested under LD and HD environments. Another important observation was that populations evolved under the LD and HD treatments showed lower growth rates when tested in ND treatment environment. This indicates possible fitness cost incurred by resistance mutations in the evolved populations when tested in absence of drug pressure, as has been suggested by previous studies [19, 42]. Therefore, our results support the fact that populations

evolved in the presence of combination treatments adapted better than those evolved under no antibiotics. However, no differences in growth rates were observed between Rec+ and Rec-populations indicating a uniform adaptive response across Rec+ and Rec- populations (**Figure 1**). We further investigated the statistical basis of fitness improvement in the endpoint populations. More specifically, we were interested to see to what extent populations acquired higher growth advantage when tested in the same selective environments. Therefore, we investigated growth rates of the evolved endpoint populations by employing a linear mixed effect model. In this model, growth rates were explained with the main effects of genotype (Rec+ and Rec-), evolved environment, and testing environment, and all their two-way and three-way interactions. Plates and strains in which genotypes were nested were used as a random factor as one replicate of each treatment was found on each of three plates.



Figure 2 Mean growth rates for the endpoint populations. This plot is based on evolved environment vs. testing environment as a measure of adaptation. Each experimental replicate was measured at least five times. These are repeated measurements of the final outcome so they have been averaged. Error bar = SEM (± 1).

Our results indicate that populations evolved better when they were tested under the same environment (Figure 2). We observed a significant association between evolved and testing environment (p-value = <.0001*). However, this analysis did not reveal any significant

association between genotypes and evolved environments (p-value = 0.9966), nor any association between genotypes and testing environments (p-value = 0.3413). All the parameter estimates are given in the following **Table 2**.

Table 2 Growth rates of the endpoint populations. Growth rates explained with evolved environments (EvolEnv) and testing environments (TestEnv). Genotype has two biological replicates (Rec+ and Rec-) for each level and three technical replicates (i.e., three plates) for each of the two levels. Testing environment (TestEnv) has three levels (i.e., ND, LD and HD), and it is replicated across the two Rec+ and two Rec- strains for three times (i.e., three plates).

Source	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F-ratio	Prob > F
Genotype	1	1	86	2.3227	0.1312
Strain [Genotype]	2	2	86	1.0899	0.3409
EvolEnv	2	2	86	8.8130	0.0003*
EvolEnv*Genotype	2	2	86	0.0034	0.9966
TestEnv	2	2	86	10.6571	<0.0001*
TestEnv*Genotype	2	2	86	1.0885	0.3413
TestEnv*Genotype*EvoEnv	4	4	86	0.0678	0.9914
TestEnv*EvolEnv	4	4	86	13.3149	<0.0001*

The above results indicate an elevated growth rates for the populations evolved and tested under antibiotics supplemented selective environment. However, based on these results we cannot infer any potential contribution of recombination in the elevated growth rates among these populations. Therefore, we then tested the adaptive potential of recombination via natural transformation (the main hypothesis of this chapter) by employing a mixed effect model using Rec and adaptation: growth rate \sim genotype * evolved environments + plate + strain [genotype], where plate and strain [genotype] are random effects. This analysis revealed that populations evolved in the face of selective environments adapted better but no significant differences were observed in growth rates between Rec+ and Rec- genotypes evolved under three different treatment environments.



Figure 3 Mean growth rates for the evolved endpoint populations as a measure of adaptation. This plot is based on genotype vs. testing environment as a measure of adaptation. Each experimental replicate was measured at least five times. These are repeated measurements of the final outcome so they have been averaged. Standard error = SEM (\pm 1).

Table 3 Parameter estimates for the fixed effect test for the growth rates of the endpoint populations. Growth rates explained with evolved environments (EvolEnv) and genotypes with two biological replicates (Rec+ and Rec-) for each level and three technical replicates (i.e., three plates) for each of the two levels. Evolved environment (EvolEnv) has three levels (i.e., ND, LD and HD), and each time it is replicated across the two Rec+ and the two REC- strains three times in three plates.

Source	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F-ratio	Prob > F
Genotype	1	1	98	1.3963	0.2402
Strain [Genotype]	2	2	98	0.6552	0.5216
EvolEnv	2	2	98	5.2979	0.0065*
EvolEnv*Genotype	2	2	98	0.0020	0.9980

To summarize the above findings, I presented the following Figure (**Figure 4**) for the evolved endpoint populations. From this figure, it is clear that population grew better in their respective environments; however a substantial fitness cost was also incurred when the evolved

populations were tested in alternative environments meaning that drug specific resistance mutations incurred fitness cost in the absence of selective environments.



Figure 4 Mean growth rates for the evolved endpoint populations after ~650 generations. In this Figure, X-axis represents genotype by evolved environment by testing environments. Error bar = SEM (± 1).

Growth rate measurement was not sufficient to determine the observed fitness differences between Rec+ and Rec- populations as one recent study reported differences in fitness trade-off between adaptation to active growth phase and survival in stationary/death phase caused by pleiotropic antagonism [30]. This finding may mirror the similar pattern of growth phase specific fitness differences between Rec+ and Rec-, which means that that both Rec+ and Rec-populations may experience fitness differences in active growth phase and stationary phase. We did not determine death rate or growth rate during active growth phase in our evolved strains, however we further explored these differential adaptive traits by measuring competitive fitness. To this end, we competed terminal and ancestral populations (i.e. Rec+ and Rec-) against a reference strain by employing pair-wise competition assays Then we compared the level of adaptation relative to the ancestral strains. We then estimated relative changes in competitive fitness by measuring the selection rate constant (Ds) by calculating the natural log difference in population in CFU/mL after 24 hours of competitions for each experimental and ancestral lines [41]. We observed that the relative fitness of competent and non-competent populations evolved in the presence of static stress induced by rifampicin and streptomycin

was significantly distinguishable from no drug treatment environment indicating that stressful conditions significantly favoured adaptations compared to benign environment (F-test = 115.58, DF = 2, 175, p-value = <0.0001) (Figure 5).



Figure 5 Competitive fitness for the evolved endpoint populations. The plot shows relative change in competitive fitness (Δ s) for the evolved thirty-six endpoint populations. Rec+ and Rec- populations are indicated by coloured dots representing the mean of at least five independent competitive fitness measurements for a single population from each of the Rec- and Rec+ population that tested under different environments. Each black bar overlaid represents the mean of the six representative strains. Error bar = SEM (±1)

However, we observed that the level of adaptation is independent of the strength of selection indicating that there were no differences in fitnesses observed between low drug and high drug treatment across all populations (**Figure 5**). Contrary to the expectation that competence (Rec+) accelerates adaptation, we found instead that there were no fitness differences between Rec+ and Rec- evolved terminal populations (F-test = 0.0762, DF = 1, 175, p-value = 0.7829) (**Figure 5**).

This indistinguishable competitive fitness between Rec+ and Rec- led us into further investigation to know whether fitness among genotypes derived from the endpoint populations also varied across three different replicate plates. For example, evolved environment we used

has three levels (ND, LD, HD) and it is replicated across two Rec+ and two Rec- genotypes three times in three plates (i.e., P1, P2, P3). To investigate this we performed a linear mixed effect model using evolved environment and genotype as fixed effects, and plate and strain [genotype] as random effects. Our analysis did not reveal significant effect of recombination on the competitive fitness nor any interaction between evolved environment and genotype. For the random effect tests, the test results revealed no significant effect of recombination for each the plates (**Figure 6**). We only observed a significant effect of the evolved environment on competitive fitness. Detailed parameter estimates for this test is given in **Table 4**.



Figure 6 Mean competitive fitness vs. evolved environment across replicate plates. Each of the plates represented by coloured bar with the mean of two distinct genotypes. Each bar represents each plate with two genotypes. Error bar = SEM (± 1).

Source	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F-ratio	Prob > F
Genotype	1	1	26	0.0198	0.8891
Strain [Genotype]	2	2	26	0.0337	0.9669
EvolEnv	2	2	26	48.8780	<0.0001*
EvolEnv*Genotype	2	2	26	1.0483	0.3649

Table 4 Parameter estimates for the fixed effect test for the mean relative competitive fitness of the endpoint populations.

We further investigated the diversity of susceptibility profile across population where we tested both ancestral and evolved endpoint populations. We explored this by carrying out an antimicrobial susceptibility test by using rifampicin and streptomycin antibiotic disks. We used these disks since our evolved environments (i.e., LD and HD) were supplemented with these two antimicrobial compounds in combination (i.e. LD and HD treatment) throughout our evolution experiment. We interpreted the zone of inhibition as measure for the adaptive response to the stress. We observed a significant effect on the observed inhibition zone (F-test = 4.7596; DF= 2; p-value = 0.01145). This observation indicates that zone of inhibition was significantly affected by the evolved environments. But, no significant differences were observed between Rec+ and Rec- population (F-test = 0.5808; DF = 2; p-value = 0.56203).

		No drug			Low drug		High drug	
		Strp Rif			Strp Rif		Strp Rif	
	P1	21	20		21	21	18	20
	P2	21	23		20	21	21	0
+	P3	18	20		17	12	20	16
u o	P4	20	23		18	16	15	0
O	P5	24	23		21	10	21	21
	P6	20	22		22	14	18	21
	WT	21	24		21	24	21	24
	P1	19	23		20	21	20	19
	P2	22	24		20	0	20	11
<u> </u>	P3	18	20		17	20	19	20
Com	P4	19	22		20	21	19	14
	P5	23	22		21	11	20	18
	P6	18	22		20	20	20	20
	WT	21	24		21	24	21	24

Figure 7 Disk diffusion test as a measure of resistance evolution. Each number represents the zone of inhibition [mm] and is the mean of three independent measurements. In this

experiment, the concentration of the disk for streptomycin was 25 µg/mL, and 30 µg/mL for rifampicin. Com+ and Com- indicates recombination proficient and deficient populations respectively. Genotypes indicated with P1 to P6 representing the total replicate populations in three different plates where each plate has two Rec+ and Rec- for each of the three different evolved environments. WT represents the original wild-type susceptible genotypes. The gradient colour corresponds to zone of inhibition, and represents the extent of resistance, for example inhibition zone of 0 [mm] represents highly resistance (indicated by red colour, and blue indicates low level of resistance. We observed a significant interaction between evolved environments and tested drugs (F-test = 2.9908; DF = 2; p-value = 0.05653); this result also supports that resistance was more pronounced to rifampicin antibiotic (Figure 7), which inhibits bacterial transcription by binding to the β -subunit of RNA-polymerase encoded by *rpoB* gene. However, very low or no resistance was observed to streptomycin, which inhibit protein synthesis by interfering with 30S ribosomal subunit; this might reflect the fact that translation machinery are evolutionarily conserved (relatively low mutation rate) and costly (relatively high fitness cost) [43, 44].

However, the disk diffusion test that we performed was not sufficient enough to determine the level of resistance against the selective environments after ~650 generations. Therefore, we performed E-test assay on the endpoint population to determine the effect of these drug specific resistance mutations. This approach allowed us to further determine change in the MIC profile by using not only the antibiotics we used in our evolution experiment, but we also tested the MIC for an additional class of antibiotic (ciprofloxacin) as a proxy to determine whether the evolution of multidrug resistance was taken place under sub-lethal selective environments. We further investigated into the statistical basis of the elevated level of MIC (we consider this as an adaptive response and we used fold MIC change), and this high MIC is also the result of recombination. Therefore, we employed a mixed effect model such that: **MIC ~ Rec * antibiotic + Plate + Strain [Rec]**, where plate and strain [Rec] are used random effects. The test result revealed no significant effect of recombination on the MIC or any interaction between antibiotic and Rec. Rather we observed that antibiotic had significant effect on the level of the MIC irrespective of Rec type (Rec is referring to the recombination proficient (Rec+) and deficient (Rec-) genotype). Parameter estimates for this model is given in **Table 4**.

Source	NParm	DF	DFDen	F-ratio	Prob > F
Genotype	1	1	26	0.2498	0.6214
Antibiotic	2	2	26	19.7554	< 0.0001*
Genotype*Antibiotic	2	2	26	0.1666	0.8475
Strain [Genotype]	2	2	26	0.5744	0.5700

Table 5 Parameter estimates for the fixed effect test for the mean fold-MIC change of the endpoint populations.

Therefore, the E-test results revealed a significant increase in fold-MIC change to both rifampicin and ciprofloxacin but very low to the streptomycin, which is indistinguishable between Rec+ and Rec- (Figure 8). Similar results also observed for the disk diffusion test suggesting drug specific resistant mutations occurred during the course of evolution.



Figure 8 MIC distribution for three different antibiotics. The MIC was determined by using Etest assays. *De novo* resistance to ciprofloxacin (Cip) was observed in all populations (irrespective of Rec+ and Rec-) evolved under LD and HD environments suggesting an adaptive resistance through mutational alteration in the efflux pump system.

Our results are also in line with the observation that the frequency of streptomycin resistance mutations was very low as seen in the previous mutant screening where we selected for spontaneous streptomycin resistant mutants on plates with even only 5-fold higher concentration than the wild type MIC (data not shown here). Based on this data, we speculated that other phenotypic changes might contribute to the mild but indistinguishable adaptive

response to streptomycin across Rec+ and Rec- population. Taken together, these results suggest two important conclusions about different genotypes and their adaptation to LD and HD environment: (1) adaptation does occur, and it is driven primarily by selection of resistance to streptomycin and rifampicin antibiotics; and (2) disk diffusion test revealed no significant difference in zone of inhibition between Rec+ and Rec- (**Figure S1**). This could be explained by the underlying genetic architecture of the endpoint populations; for example, drug specific evolved environments helped both Rec+ and Rec- to acquire resistance against those drugs.

Genomic investigation of natural transformation in the evolution of multidrug resistance

We anticipated that Rec+ populations could potentially alter the evolutionary dynamics by bringing beneficial mutations (resistant mutations) from separate cells into a single genetic background, and would thereby increase the fixation rate of beneficial mutations (Fisher-Muller effect). Therefore, we expected an increased frequency of multidrug resistant genotypes. As noted earlier that we did not find any fitness differences between Rec+ and Reclines under sub-inhibitory stressful conditions. However, there is a possibility that this selection pressure in combination might have mutagenic effects on bacterial competence. This is because stress induced by antibiotics greatly increases the competence in many bacterial species which are lacking of SOS-system [45, 46], thus SOS-induced mutagenesis could also result in elevated drug specific resistance mutations conferring higher fitness in Rec-populations.

Therefore, we investigated the influence of competence (Rec+) and non-competence (Rec-) by sequencing the genomes of the evolved clones that were also assayed phenotypically. More precisely, we further wanted to investigate into the indistinguishable benefit of recombination by looking at the genomic level to know whether this indistinct phenotypic property between Rec- and Rec+ population is also mirrored by the low number of overall mutation in the evolved endpoint population. Therefore, we sampled one genotype from each of the 36 evolved endpoint populations along with their ancestral genotypes. We obtained a median coverage of \sim 38-fold per genotype (mean = 49.5; range 25–50) on the Illumina MiSeq platform, using 300bp paired-end reads. One previous study suggested that 15/20-fold coverage is adequate for identifying a modest number of mutations in laboratory selected microbial strains [47]. In our study, the depth of coverage we achieved should, therefore, allow us to detect all SNPs and small indels throughout the genome that have occurred during the course of evolution over a hundred day of transfer. In addition, the sequenced genomes were surveyed for the large

insertion/deletion events, such as mobile genetic elements insertions or excisions were manually investigated by looking at the specific deleted regions identified initially. We were unable to inspect some portion of the genome for some strains due to low coverage (<5). We selected this coverage threshold arbitrarily with a notion to detect all the nucleotide changes in the entire populations and then to further validate them by traditional amplicons sequencing of a subset of SNPs that were identified with higher frequency in the populations.

Across all evolved lines, we identified 168 mutations comprising 129 nucleotide changes (22 of which were intergenic), and 25 large deletions. Overall, these mutations were affecting a total of 146 genes (some genes were affected in high number). In some instances, large deletion events were found (insertion are not identified yet). We then classified these mutations into two groups based on the regions of the genomes that were affected by them: structural and regulatory mutations (**Figure 9**). This classification revealed an abundance of mutations that affected structural



Figure 9 Different mutational events identified in the evolved endpoint population. In panel A, all the mutations based on their functions are classified into structural (genes that encode functional enzymes) and regulatory gene (regulates important cellular processes) mutation. Panel B shows the number of synonymous and non-synonymous mutations observed in Rec-and Rec+ populations after ~650 generations.

genes of the genomes evolved in HD environment, and was higher in Rec+ population (37 vs. 17, shown by Figure 9(A). Next, we identified the genomic substitutions that were not uniformly distributed across treatments and populations (Figure 9(B)). We saw that the frequency of the non-synonymous mutations relative to synonymous mutations were higher in Rec- than Rec+ (i.e. 74/97 vs. 19/97), and the majority of these mutations were detected in

clones that had evolved in stressful conditions. However, the relative abundance of overall mutations in Rec+ and Rec- in stressful environments (LD and HD) was higher compared to unstressed (ND) environment. In ND environment, we observed very few mutations as has previously been observed [48, 49].





Figure 10 Number of deletions and intergenic mutations occurred in the evolved endpoint population. Panel A shows number of large deletions (from 100 to 49K bp long) events observed in both Rec+ and Rec- populations. Panel B shows the number of intergenic mutations observed in Rec- and Rec+ populations after ~650 generations.

Some earlier studies provided evidence of the genomic basis of adaptation in experimentally evolved population, where mutation rates were ranging from 1.07/100 to 4/100 generation [50, 51]. In the later case, this difference was predicted as a signature of strong selection imposed by antibiotic treatment [52]. In line with this, we compared the number of mutations in the populations that were evolved with or without antibiotics. We observed a high number of mutations in stressed populations suggesting that the selection pressure we used was strong enough to produce an antibiotic-mediated benefit among these genotypes. However, the difference between Rec+ and Rec- suggests a possibility that natural selection in some populations. We found that non-synonymous and synonymous mutations (as mentioned earlier) in both Rec+ and Rec- populations were different (**Figure 9B**). Large deletions and intergenic mutations were also different in both Rec+ and Rec- (**Figure 10**). In line with the above explanations, we observed an increased abundance of *rpoB* mutations both in Rec+ and Rec- clones evolved under LD and HD environment (**Figure 11**). Detailed mutational background is given in supplementary **Table S1**.



Figure 11 Major mutations identified in the endpoint populations. The plot shows major SNPs found across Rec+ and Rec- genotypes, a majority of them involved in drug resistance. High abundance of drug resistance mutations was found in the *rpoB* gene in both Rec+ and Rec-genotypes, responsible for rifampicin resistance. No observed mutations were detected in *rpsL* gene known for streptomycin resistance. Mutations were also detected in the efflux system encoding genes such as *mdtC*, *rnd* and *acrB*, which are well known for phenotypic multidrug resistance.

Mutation in *rpoB* gene encoding RNA-polymerase β -subunit is widely responsible for resistance to rifampicin antibiotics [44, 53]. In addition to *rpoB* mutation, we observed mutations in *rpoC*, *rpoD*, *acrB*, *ndtc* and *rnd*. It is well known that secondary mutation in *rpoC* and *rpoD* are associated with adaptation in resistant population by compensating the fitness cost associated with resistance mutations [43, 44], whereas mutations in efflux pump system including *acrB*, *rnd* and *ndtc* contribute to the high level of phenotypic resistance to multiple drugs, including common fluoroquinolones resistance [54-56]. Thus, we speculated that this high number of mutations possibly played a role in the adaptive process in populations evolved under LD and HD environment. However, both Rec+ and Rec- lineages carried *rpoB* mutations indicating a substantial parallel evolution, which means that natural selection acted upon *rpoB* mutation in LD and HD environment. This genotypic parallelism probably appeared in the earlier generations of the population during the course of evolution. This parallel evolution can further be supported by looking at the fitness or growth rates of different lineages from different generations, as has been documented in many experimentally evolved bacteria,

including evolution of *P. aeruginosa* under sub-lethal concentration of ciprofloxacin antibiotic [50]. Together with this, *rpoB* and other lineage-specific mutations arose in our evolved populations are beneficial. We observed the same mutation in each replicate population line suggesting that the majority of parallel evolution was indeed due to the selection of drug specific resistance mutations.

To determine the effect of these drug specific resistance mutations in the evolved population, we carried out E-test phenotypic assay by which we further determined the MIC by using not only the antibiotics we used in our evolution experiment, but also an additional antibiotic (ciprofloxacin) as a proxy to determine the putative role of additional mutations associated with the efflux system as well as other unknown mutations. We observed an elevated level of MIC for ciprofloxacin (Cip) (**Figure 8**) for the strains evolved under LD and HD environment, but no changes were observed in populations evolved under ND environment. This indicates possible adaptive evolution attributed to these drug specific genomic mutations or other mutations.

Among others, we also observed a mutation in the *hsdR* regulatory gene. This gene encodes the conserved HsdR protein and belongs to type 1 restriction-modification (RM) system. This system protects bacterial DNA from restriction (degradation) by modification (methylation) of specific sequences that are recognised by restriction enzymes of the RM system [57]. The RM system in *E. coli* protects bacteria from invading foreign DNA such as bacteriophage genomes. Inactivation of *hsdR* mediated type 1 RM systems was also found to be associated with the transformation process in *S. aureus* [58]. In a previous study by Waldron and Lindsay, it was reported that the conserved type I RM system was solely responsible for the inability to transform *S. aureus* isolates with *E. coli* derived plasmid DNA and a premature stop codon in the type I restriction gene (*hsdR*) was identified [59]. Furthermore, disruption of this restriction barrier can reduce the degree of virulence in clinical isolates of MRSA lineages CC22, CC30, and CC45 [60]. Although we observed a synonymous substitution in this gene in one of the Rec- strains, this mutation might have entailed profound evolutionary implications for adaptation in that particular environment by elevated resistance to many antibiotics without altering this restriction modification system.

Overall, we identified a low number of functional mutations in the Rec+ populations. For the low mutations rate, we further searched for the putative known mutator lineages in the evolved

populations because mutator phenotypes increase the mutation rate through error prone DNA replications in presence of antimicrobial stress [61, 62]. Although we did not observe any putative mutation in the Rec+ population for the SOS inducer, Rec- constituted majority of the mutations including mutation in *nusG* gene encodes transcription elongation factors. Some earlier studies reported that transcription anti-termination gene *nusA* as well as rifampicin resistant rpoB mutation are required for stress-induced mutagenesis in E. coli [63, 64]. Rifampicin resistance mutation affects the cellular anti-termination system involved in the synthesis of stable RNA by interacting with *nusG*, and also acts as a possible compensatory mutation in P. aeruginosa genes such as gyrA, gyrB and nfxB under ciprofloxacin antibiotic pressure [50]. Therefore, Rec- populations indicate mutator phenotypes in our experiment. However, based on the mutations we observed, we did not determine the mutation rate differences in each population from Rec+ and Rec- group. It is evident that stress induces both competence and SOS-pathway in bacteria [45]. In order to distinguish mutator strains from non-mutators and infer the role of competence and non-competence in the adaptive process, we first categorised all the populations by giving a rank based on the highest number of mutations (nucleotide substitutions) occurred in a single genome, where strain with highest mutation is categorised as Rank1 (>5 mutation plus a putative gene responsible for stressed-associated mutagenesis) to Rank3 (<3 mutation with no putative SOS-associated gene). According to this, all the Rec+ populations belonged to Rank3. In the Rec- populations, mutation in the nusGgene (functions in transcription anti-termination) was found in one strain with other mutations including mutation in *rpoB* gene. In some other Rec- strains, mutations were detected in some other genes including murB (peptidoglycan biosynthesis, stressed and recombination inhibition) and *rimM* (16S rRNA-processing protein RimM; essential for efficient processing of 16S rRNA and for the SOS response). Taken together, this rank based classification suggest that Rec- populations were more genetically diverse compared to Rec+ which helped them adapt in the HD environment, probably by inducing SOS systems in some of the strains, for example interactions between *rpoB* and *nusG* genes. By contrast, in Rec+ strains, we observed less broad patterns of genetic diversity where rpoB mutation was predominant (rpoB mutations 8/12 strains); however, we did not observe any evidence for antibiotics mediated genetic divergence in Rec+ population suggesting no recombination via natural transformation.

Intergenic mutation between two functional genes could be an indication of possible recombination event such that population acquiring non-synonymous intergenic mutations can be acquired with other mutations in functional genes by recombination, and this can be tracked

by targeted sequencing as has been shown by one recent study in *A. baylyi.* [30]. We did not sequence our populations from different time points, but intergenic mutations in the endpoint populations could provide some evidence of recombination. We identified 25 intergenic mutations, and most of these mutations were detected in Rec- population (19/25). This result suggests that Rec- population could be mutator phenotypes. One previous study reported intergenic mutation mostly occurred in mutator phenotypes [50]. In the present study, we identified intergenic mutations between *glcB* and ATPase, and between *fimU* (encoding the type 4 fimbrial biogenesis protein FimU, which modulates virulence in many different bacteria) and *ispH* (encoding IspH and functioning in the MEP pathway). Overall, this high number of intergenic mutation indicates that some of these mutations were possibly driven by selection. However, we only detected 6 intergenic mutations in Rec+ populations, of which 2 were found in populations that evolved under ND treatment, three in LD environment and a single intergenic mutation in the HD environment. Therefore, this low number of intergenic mutations.

We further focused specifically on the genes that were affected by non-synonymous substitutions, because non-synonymous mutations cause functional effect on the gene level. We detected 64 non-synonymous changes in protein coding genes where Rec+ populations bore 25 substitutions (ND = 4, LD = 8, HD = 13), and Rec- population bore 41 substitutions (ND = 3, LD = 11, HD = 27). Furthermore, we identified two clones from Rec- bore a substitution that caused a stop codon in the *mdtc* gene. This *mdtc* belongs to heteromultimeric RND superfamily of transporter, which is well reported for multidrug resistance including resistance to β -lactams, novobiocin, and many more [65].

Genome reduction by large deletions has been reported to be an efficient means of adaptive processes in many different environments, including during adaptation of *P. aeruginosa* to cystic fibrosis patients [66]. We also observed many such reductive events through various deletions; among these, most notable were 15 large deletions (we considered these large when they exceeded 100bp). We only found 3 such deletion events in two of the Rec- populations, whereas the Rec+ populations harboured most of these deletions. The largest deletion event was ~49kb, observed in three replicate population of AB3_Rec+ and two AB4_Rec+. Interestingly, all these deletion events were detected in Rec+ populations that evolved in the HD environment. This represents a strong signature of parallel evolution, as has also been observed in *Methylobacterium extorquens* [67]. The large deletion mainly involved many

functional domains of the genome including comF, integrase, and many unknown hypothetical proteins in our evolved strains. These large deletions of crucial genes together with other deletions possibly contributed to the accelerated adaptation under HD treatment. Thus, this large deletion could be an effective mean of sustaining multiple drug pressure and involves a significant genome size reduction. Based on these results, these large deletion events in Rec+ population probably open up a new path towards a limited niche leading to further genome changes to cope up with upcoming perturbation.

Based on the above genetic and phenotypic results, our data show that Rec+ population under LD environment adapted better through reduction of mutation fixations and also the mutator phenotypes. However, Rec+ population under HD environment faces larger deletions of important regulatory genomic portions which encompasses competence associated genes as well as other important accessory and essential gene pools suggest that this reduced genetic architecture overcome competences by generation of effective population size through genome reduction, or possibly deletions may have epistatically induced fitness by producing deletion vs. mutation, or deletion vs. deletion interactions, perhaps because these were exploited among these strains as less costly but efficient strategies for optimal adaptation under strong selection pressure.

Discussion

Recombination via natural transformation is argued to be an important adaptive evolutionary process in many bacterial species, ranging from soil dwelling bacteria to important clinical pathogens [68-73]. Specifically, this adaptive process enables bacteria to evolve multiple drug resistance as well as enrich many pathogenic bacteria with novel modes of virulence mechanisms [71, 74]. However, this adaptive benefit of recombination via natural transformation in the evolution of de novo multidrug resistance is not well studied in experimental bacterial population under two-drug environment with varying concentrations. In previous work, the role of transformation was assessed by employing either naturally competent or non-competent bacterial populations already harboured antibiotic resistance genes, where the effect of competence was investigated by employing only a specific drug targeting bacterial important cellular processes whose disruption created heterogeneous population, and thus facilitated transformation process, or the effect of recombination was not investigated at genomic level [13, 29, 49]. Therefore, the actual benefit of recombination was not fully understood in all those studies. Here, we employed an experimental approach

consisting of both naturally competent Rec+ and non-competent Rec- A. *baylyi*, and systemically investigated how a fully susceptible bacterial population exposed to two-drug combinations evolves multiple drug resistance via mutation, selection and – potentially – natural transformation. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that the impact of recombination via natural transformation in the evolution of de novo multidrug resistance has been assessed.

We found that the strength of selection pressure we used affected the benefit of recombination via natural transformation. In particular, in the LD environment, the Rec+ population evolved higher fitness compared to the Rec- counterparts (Figure 5 & 6). This LD environment decreased bacterial growth significantly (*p*-value = <0.0001) before we started the evolution experiment (**Figure S2**). Therefore, we speculated that the greater fitness under this stress was the consequence of recombination. On the contrary, in the HD environment, there was no fitness difference between Rec+ and Rec- populations. This HD treatment also caused a significant growth disadvantage (*p*-value = <0.0001) in the ancestral genotypes (**Figure S2**).

Therefore, we predicted that selection of de novo resistance mutations occurred during serial transfer over one hundred days in these selection regimes, irrespective of Rec+ and Rec-. Our phenotypic data based on the fold MIC change (Figure 8) revealed that adaptation to both drugs that we used in LD and HD treatments was strong enough to produce a selection-based benefit in all the population, irrespective of competence or non-competence, as we observed a varying degree of adaptation to rifampicin. On the other hand, for streptomycin resistance, we did only observe mild selection after ~650 generations. Moreover, we did not detect any known mutations such as in rpsL and rrs genes that are commonly associated with streptomycin resistance. However, in two cases, we observed a mutation in gidB (16S rRNA methyltransferase GidB; SAM-dependent methyltransferase; glucose-inhibited division protein B; methylates the N7 position of guanosine in position 527 of 16S rRNA). This gene has been reported to be associated with low-level of resistance to streptomycin; in one report a gidB mutation was found together with an rpoB mutation in M. tuberculosis [75, 76]. We considered some plausible alternative explanations for low number of mutations or no known streptomycin resistance mutations spread in our evolved populations such that: either known resistance mutations had not yet arisen, or other unknown mutations were selected for in these populations. Alternatively, for the streptomycin resistance, mutants were present but they were only slowly increasing in number and eventually lost from the population (Figure 6; table S1) due to limited benefits at the streptomycin concentrations they faced after ~650 generations. Or no resistance or low resistance to streptomycin could be due to adaptive resistance to streptomycin either by mutation in efflux pumps system [77]. Furthermore, based on our previous mutation-screening assay (data not shown here) by plating appropriate dilution of bacterial cultures (plate streptomycin concentration was 10 fold higher than the MIC) indicated a lower mutation frequency for streptomycin compared to rifampicin supports this idea. This has probably affected to follow the benefit of recombination via natural transformation, and thus the benefit of recombination in HD environment is counterpoised by the observed untraceable differences in relative competitive fitness (DS) (**Figure 2**) among Rec+ and Recpopulation after ~650 generations.

Another possibility is that the fitness costs induced by sub-MIC could be low for both LD- and HD-evolved population when tested in the absence of drug pressure compared to the initial ancestral strains (Figure 1). This could be due the fact that only particular but strong resistant clones, for example, it could be *rpoB* mutation, competed weakly against susceptible clones (which were not killed yet but their growth was arrested by adaptive genes involved in growth bi-stability [78]) at these sub-MIC drug combinations (here we consider situation in both LD and HD). This weak competition (low cost resistance, less than 20%, in absence of drug) between resistance and arrested clones may be associated with or perhaps delayed the emergence of new strong resistant genotypes to another drug (in this case, streptomycin resistant genotypes). Or the newly emerged resistant clones could have carried resistance mutations imposing very high costs, and thus those clones were lost from the population. Overall, if this prediction was correct, the competition between low cost and high cost resistant clones would prevent clonal interference (assumed in the traditional Fisher-Muller model) through the loss of costly mutants from the Rec+ populations, which would result in no recombination but other mechanism to adapt better in the HD environment for both Rec+ and Rec- population. One recent study reported the evolution of low-cost but strong resistance at sub-MIC of streptomycin in S. coelicolor while concurrently escaping the cost associated with this phenotype [79]. But in our case of a two-dug HD environment, we did not observe any significant fitness costs in the evolved strains, perhaps because there were other mechanisms that alleviate the cost of resistance. We expected such other mechanisms because the HD treatment would increase the overall mutation rates in the populations through mutagenic effects, including SOS-response or other yet unidentified genomic mutations - as has been observed in response to kanamycin, streptomycin and ciprofloxacin [80-82]. Therefore, we aimed at determining whether this drug pressure accelerate mutations frequency by inducing natural transformation through the SOS-system. Because previous studies indicate that antibiotics targeting DNA-replication system induce SOS system or induce competence, which has no repressor of the SOS-system, leading to the hypothesis that DNA-damage inducing competence provide genomic plasticity and stress resistance [45]. In our evolution experiment, we evolved the populations under static streptomycin and rifampicin antibiotics in combination that target two different important cellular pathways. Therefore, our observed indistinguishable fitness characteristics between Rec+ and Rec- population could be due to other complex mechanisms, and thus we further pursued to investigate fitness at the population level. However, we also observed increased MIC to ciprofloxacin, which is a different antibiotic than what we had not used in our evolution experiment. This suggests that sub-MIC concentrations of some particular classes of antibiotics can give rise to multidrug resistance evolution with elevated MIC to a new class of drug (**Figure 9**).

We obtained the whole genome sequences of clones from the evolved endpoint populations, and compared them with clones from the ancestral populations to determine the impact of recombination via natural transformation in the evolution of multidrug resistance at the genomic level. We expected that under sub-lethal concentrations of rifampicin and streptomycin, the populations would be enriched with drug specific resistance mutations at first, for example, mutations in *rpsL* and *rpoB* genes, and that these two drug specific resistance mutations compete against each other. Thus, recombination via natural transformations will reduce these competitions (clonal interference) by bringing these competing mutations into a single genome, which will in turn results in multidrug resistance. Our whole genome sequences revealed that both Rec+ and Rec- were enriched with different mutations that were evolved under LD and HD treatment environments. We only observed an abundance of rpoB mutations both in Rec+ and Rec- populations across LD and HD treatments. These rpoB mutations confer resistance to rifampicin in many bacteria. In a few cases, we only found gidB mutation, which is conditionally responsible for the low level of streptomycin resistance (Table SI). In some instances, Rec+ population evolved under LD and HD environments often carried additional mutations, and most notably, in two cases, we observed that population carrying rpoB mutation also carried rpoC and rpoD. Mutations in *rpoD* are responsible for increased resistance or compensate the cost of resistance in S. *typhi*, whereas *rpoC* mutations are responsible for high-level resistance to cefuroxime (CEF). Furthermore, we observed some mutations including a mutation in *nusG* gene in Recpopulation, which was previously reported to be associated with stress induced by rifampicin

and streptomycin. This mutation also contributes to the elevated level of resistance to ciprofloxacin. From phenotypic MIC data, we observed an elevated level of resistance (8-fold) to ciprofloxacin but low-level resistance to rifampicin (3 fold) and streptomycin (2-fold) in these strains (**Figure 9**). The remaining non–synonymous changes that occurred in many genes – irrespective of competent and non-competent populations – were previously reported to confer resistance to multiple drugs in many clinical bacterial isolates, including *M. tuberculosis, E. coli, A. baumanii, P. aeruginosa* and other important pathogens. [54, 55, 83-88]. However, we did not observe any such mutations in the Rec+ populations, providing no support for the possibility that accelerated competitive fitness under HD environment was driven by recombination.

Genome reduction by inducing many deletion mutations was previously reported as an active means of adaptive process in many bacteria [89, 90]. We also observed such genome reductions via deletions mutations, most notably larger deletions were detected in Rec+ population from the HD environment (**Figure 9A**). In some instances, these were involved in the deletions of many regulatory proteins as well as transformation related proteins; therefore, we expected that deletion mutations could be a strategy of creating an increased growth competitive ability in this stressful environment by counterbalancing the costly transformation process. However, these deletion events cannot explain the contribution of recombination in the adaptive potential (i.e. whether deletion was accelerated by recombination process) under stressed environment for at least two reasons: 1) homogenous competitive fitness between Rec+ and Rec- evolved under LD and HD; 2) deletions were also observed in the LD and ND environments.

After one hundred days of the evolution under sub-lethal concentrations of rifampicin and streptomycin combinations, our phenotypic data revealed no significant differences in fitness gain between recombination proficient and deficient populations. Whole genome sequencing data also revealed a low number of substitution mutations in the evolved endpoint populations. Togther these results disqualify the possible effect of recombination in the adaptive process under multidrug environments. Although most of the mutations that we found here have many different effects on a variety of genes and on their functions, strikingly these genomic changes in the majority of our evolved populations (**table S1**) under these selection regimes were previously shown to be associated with resistance to multiple antimicrobial compounds through targeted and off-targeted mechanisms [91, 92]. This has been reflected in the elevated

level of ciprofloxacin resistance (**Figure 11**). Finally, we observed no significant evidence that recombination by natural transformation facilitates adaptation to multiple antibiotics, presumably because the limited number of mutations that were spreading simultaneously prevented clonal interference.

References

1. Otto, S.P. and T. Lenormand, *Resolving the paradox of sex and recombination*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2002. 3(4): p. 252-261.

2. Agrawal, A.F., *Sexual selection and the maintenance of sexual reproduction*. Nature, 2001. 411(6838): p. 692-5.

3. Lehtonen, J., M.D. Jennions, and H. Kokko, *The many costs of sex*. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 2012. 27(3): p. 172-178.

4. Otto, S.P. and M.W. Feldman, *Deleterious mutations, variable epistatic interactions, and the evolution of recombination.* Theoretical population biology, 1997. 51(2): p. 134-147.

5. Barton, N.H. and B. Charlesworth, *Why sex and recombination?* Science, 1998. 281(5385):p. 1986-1990.

6. Kondrashov, A.S., *Deleterious mutations and the evolution of sexual reproduction*. Nature, 1988. 336(6198): p. 435-440.

7. Otto, S.P. and T. Lenormand, *Resolving the paradox of sex and recombination*. Nat Rev Genet, 2002. 3(4): p. 252-61.

8. Barton, N.H. and S.P. Otto, *Evolution of recombination due to random drift*. Genetics, 2005. 169(4): p. 2353-2370.

9. Levin, B.R. and O.E. Cornejo, *The population and evolutionary dynamics of homologous gene recombination in bacteria*. PLoS Genet, 2009. 5(8): p. e1000601.

10. Cazalet, C., et al., *Evidence in the Legionella pneumophila genome for exploitation of host cell functions and high genome plasticity.* Nature genetics, 2004. 36(11): p. 1165-1173.

11. Shea, J.E., et al., *Identification of a virulence locus encoding a second type III secretion system in Salmonella typhimurium*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1996. 93(6): p. 2593-2597.

12. Mazodier, P. and J. Davies, *Gene transfer between distantly related bacteria*. Annual review of genetics, 1991. 25(1): p. 147-171.

13. Perron, G.G., et al., *Bacterial recombination promotes the evolution of multi-drugresistance in functionally diverse populations*. Proc Biol Sci, 2012. 279(1733): p. 1477-84. 14. Levy, S.B. and B. Marshall, *Antibacterial resistance worldwide: causes, challenges and responses.* Nat Med, 2004. 10(12 Suppl): p. S122-9.

15. Baquero, F. and J. Blázquez, *Evolution of antibiotic resistance*. Trends in ecology & evolution, 1997. 12(12): p. 482-487.

16. Baquero, F. and R. Cantón, *Evolutionary biology of drug resistance*. Antimicrobial Drug Resistance. 2009, Springer. p. 9-32.

17. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Gene amplification and adaptive evolution in bacteria*. Annu Rev Genet, 2009. 43: p. 167-95.

18. Snyder, L., W. Champness, and W. Champness, Molecular genetics of bacteria. 1997.

19. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2010. 8(4): p. 260-71.

20. Thomas, C.M. and K.M. Nielsen, *Mechanisms of, and barriers to, horizontal gene transfer between bacteria*. Nature reviews microbiology, 2005. 3(9): p. 711-721.

21. Dubnau, D., *Genetic competence in Bacillus subtilis*. Microbiological reviews, 1991. 55(3):p. 395-424.

22. Fussenegger, M., et al., *Transformation competence and type-4 pilus biogenesis in neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Gene, 1997. 192(1): p. 125-134.

23. Hofreuter, D., et al., *Genetic competence in Helicobacter pylori: mechanisms and biological implications*. Research in microbiology, 2000. 151(6): p. 487-491.

24. Redfield, R.J., Do bacteria have sex? Nature Reviews Genetics, 2001. 2(8): p. 634-639.

25. Bacher, J.M., D. Metzgar, and V. de Crécy-Lagard, *Rapid evolution of diminished transformability in Acinetobacter baylyi*. Journal of bacteriology, 2006. 188(24): p. 8534-8542.

26. Finkel, S.E. and R. Kolter, *DNA as a nutrient: novel role for bacterial competence gene homologs*. Journal of Bacteriology, 2001. 183(21): p. 6288-6293.

27. Redfield, R.J., *Evolution of bacterial transformation: is sex with dead cells ever better than no sex at all?* Genetics, 1988. 119(1): p. 213-221.

28. Redfield, R.J., M.R. Schrag, and A.M. Dean, *The evolution of bacterial transformation: sex with poor relations*. Genetics, 1997. 146(1): p. 27-38.

29. Baltrus, D.A., K. Guillemin, and P.C. Phillips, *Natural transformation increases the rate of adaptation in the human pathogen Helicobacter pylori*. Evolution, 2008. 62(1): p. 39-49.

30. Utnes, A.L., et al., *Growth phase-specific evolutionary benefits of natural transformation in Acinetobacter baylyi*. The ISME journal, 2015.

31. McLeman, A., et al., *No effect of natural transformation on the evolution of resistance to bacteriophages in the Acinetobacter baylyi model system.* Scientific Reports, 2016.

32. Ochman, H., J.G. Lawrence, and E.A. Groisman, *Lateral gene transfer and the nature of bacterial innovation*. Nature, 2000. 405(6784): p. 299-304.

33. Hanage, W.P., et al., *Hyper-recombination, diversity, and antibiotic resistance in pneumococcus.* Science, 2009. 324(5933): p. 1454-1457.

34. MacLean, R.C., et al., *The population genetics of antibiotic resistance: integrating molecular mechanisms and treatment contexts.* Nature Reviews Genetics, 2010. 11(6): p. 405-414.

35. Martínez, J.L., F. Baquero, and D.I. Andersson, *Predicting antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2007. 5(12): p. 958-965.

36. Velayati, A.A., et al., *Emergence of new forms of totally drug-resistant tuberculosis bacilli: super extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis or totally drug-resistant strains in iran*. Chest, 2009. 136(2): p. 420-5.

37. Fournier, P.-E., et al., *Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii*. PLoS genetics, 2006. 2(1): p. e7.

38. Vaneechoutte, M., et al., *Naturally transformable Acinetobacter sp. strain ADP1 belongs to the newly described species Acinetobacter baylyi*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2006. 72(1): p. 932-936.

39. Chen, T.-L., et al., *Acinetobacter baylyi as a pathogen for opportunistic infection*. Journal of clinical microbiology, 2008. 46(9): p. 2938-2944.

40. Barbe, V., et al., Unique features revealed by the genome sequence of Acinetobacter sp. *ADP1, a versatile and naturally transformation competent bacterium*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2004. 32(19): p. 5766-79.

41. Travisano, M. and R.E. Lenski, *Long-term experimental evolution in Escherichia coli. IV. Targets of selection and the specificity of adaptation.* Genetics, 1996. 143(1): p. 15-26.

42. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Persistence of antibiotic resistance in bacterial populations*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 2011. 35(5): p. 901-11.

43. Brandis, G. and D. Hughes, *Genetic characterization of compensatory evolution in strains carrying rpoB Ser531Leu, the rifampicin resistance mutation most frequently found in clinical isolates.* J Antimicrob Chemother, 2013.

44. Brandis, G., et al., *Fitness-compensatory mutations in rifampicin-resistant RNA polymerase*. Mol Microbiol, 2012. 85(1): p. 142-51.

45. Charpentier, X.,P. Polard, and J.P. Claverys, *Induction of competence for genetic transformation by antibiotics: convergent evolution of stress responses in distant bacterial species lacking SOS?* Current opinion in microbiology, 2012. 15(5): p. 570-576.

46. Prudhomme, M., et al., *Antibiotic stress induces genetic transformability in the human pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Science, 2006. 313(5783): p. 89-92.

47. Smith, D.R., et al., *Rapid whole-genome mutational profiling using next-generation sequencing technologies*. Genome research, 2008. 18(10): p. 1638-1642.

48. Jorgensen, K.M., et al., Sublethal Ciprofloxacin Treatment Leads to Rapid Development of High-Level Ciprofloxacin Resistance during Long-Term Experimental Evolution of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2013. 57(9): p. 4215-21.

49. Engelmoer, D.J., I. Donaldson, and D.E. Rozen, *Conservative sex and the benefits of transformation in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. PLoS Pathog, 2013. 9(11): p. e1003758.

50. Wong, A., N. Rodrigue, and R. Kassen, *Genomics of adaptation during experimental evolution of the opportunistic pathogen Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. PLoS Genet, 2012. 8(9): p. e1002928.

51. Dettman, J.R., et al., *Evolutionary insight from whole-genome sequencing of experimentally evolved microbes*. Molecular ecology, 2012. 21(9): p. 2058-2077.

52. Desai, M.M. and D.S. Fisher, *Beneficial mutation–selection balance and the effect of linkage on positive selection*. Genetics, 2007. 176(3): p. 1759-1798.

53. Woodford, N. and M. Ellington, *The emergence of antibiotic resistance by mutation*. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 2007. 13(1): p. 5-18.

54. Okusu, H., D. Ma, and H. Nikaido, *AcrAB efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of Escherichia coli multiple-antibiotic-resistance (Mar) mutants*. Journal of bacteriology, 1996. 178(1): p. 306-308.

55. Nikaido, H., *Multiple antibiotic resistance and efflux*. Current opinion in microbiology, 1998. 1(5): p. 516-523.

56. Blair, J.M., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2015. 13(1): p. 42-51.

57. Murray, N.E., *Type I restriction systems: sophisticated molecular machines (a legacy of Bertani and Weigle)*. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 2000. 64(2): p. 412-434.

58. Monk, I.R., et al., *Transforming the untransformable: Application of direct transformation to manipulate genetically staphylococcus aureus and staphylococcus epidermis.* mBio. 2012. 3(2): e00277-11

59. Waldron, D.E. and J.A. Lindsay, Saul: a novel lineage-specific type I restrictionmodification system that blocks horizontal gene transfer into Staphylococcus aureus and between S. aureus isolates of different lineages. Journal of bacteriology, 2006. 188(15): p. 5578-5585. 60. Lindsay, J.A., *Genomic variation and evolution of Staphylococcus aureus*. International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 2010. 300(2): p. 98-103.

61. Khil, P.P. and R.D. Camerini-Otero, *Over 1000 genes are involved in the DNA damage response of Escherichia coli*. Molecular microbiology, 2002. 44(1): p. 89-105.

62. Goh, E.-B., et al., *Transcriptional modulation of bacterial gene expression by subinhibitory concentrations of antibiotics*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2002. 99(26):
p. 17025-17030.

63. Cohen, S.E. and G.C. Walker, *The transcription elongation factor NusA is required for stress-induced mutagenesis in Escherichia coli*. Current Biology, 2010. 20(1): p. 80-85.

64. Jin, D.J., et al., *Effects of rifampicin resistant rpoB mutations on antitermination and interaction with nusA in Escherichia coli*. Journal of molecular biology, 1988. 204(2): p. 247-261.

65. Nagakubo, S., et al., *The putative response regulator BaeR stimulates multidrug resistance of Escherichia coli via a novel multidrug exporter system, MdtABC*. Journal of bacteriology, 2002. 184(15): p. 4161-4167.

66. Dettman, J.R., et al., *Evolutionary insight from whole-genome sequencing of experimentally evolved microbes*. Mol Ecol, 2012. 21(9): p. 2058-77.

67. Lee, M.-C. and C.J. Marx, *Repeated, selection-driven genome reduction of accessory genes in experimental populations*. PLoS Genet, 2012. 8(5): p. e1002651.

68. Vos, M., *Why do bacteria engage in homologous recombination?* Trends in microbiology, 2009. 17(6): p. 226-232.

69. Muller, H.J., *Some genetic aspects of sex.* The American Naturalist, 1932. 66(703): p. 118-138.

70. Levin, B.R., *Periodic selection, infectious gene exchange and the genetic structure of E. coli populations.* Genetics, 1981. 99(1): p. 1-23.

71. Fournier, P.E., et al., *Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii*. PLoS Genet, 2006. 2(1): p. e7.

72. Moradigaravand, D. and J. Engelstädter, *The evolution of natural competence: disentangling costs and benefits of sex in bacteria.* The American Naturalist, 2013. 182(4): p. E112-E126.

73. Ambur, O.-H., et al., *Steady at the wheel: conservative sex and the benefits of bacterial transformation*. bioRxiv, 2016: p. 062562.

74. Dobrindt, U., et al., *Genomic islands in pathogenic and environmental microorganisms*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2004. 2(5): p. 414-424.

75. Smittipat, N., et al., *Mutations in rrs, rpsL and gidB in streptomycin-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis isolates from Thailand*. Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance. 2016. 4: p. 5-10.

76. Wong, S.Y., et al., *Mutations in gidB confer low-level streptomycin resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2011. 55(6): p. 2515-2522.

77. Sánchez-Romero, M.A. and J. Casadesús, *Contribution of phenotypic heterogeneity to adaptive antibiotic resistance*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2014. 111(1): p. 355-360.

78. Deris, J.B., et al., *The innate growth bistability and fitness landscapes of antibioticresistant bacteria*. Science, 2013. 342(6162): p. 1237435.

79. Westhoff, S., et al., *The evolution of no-cost resistance at sub-MIC concentrations of streptomycin in Streptomyces coelicolor*. bioRxiv, 2016: p. 062414.

80. Laureti, L., I. Matic, and A. Gutierrez, *Bacterial responses and genome instability induced by subinhibitory concentrations of antibiotics*. Antibiotics, 2013. 2(1): p. 100-114.

81. Torres-Barceló, C., et al. *The SOS response increases bacterial fitness, but not evolvability, under a sublethal dose of antibiotic.* Proc. R. Soc. B. 2015. The Royal Society.

82. Martinez, J. and F. Baquero, *Mutation frequencies and antibiotic resistance*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2000. 44(7): p. 1771-1777.

83. Jellen-Ritter, A.S. and W.V. Kern, *Enhanced Expression of the Multidrug Efflux Pumps AcrAB and AcrEF Associated with Insertion Element Transposition in Escherichia coli Mutants Selected with a Fluoroquinolone*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2001. 45(5): p. 1467-1472.

84. Wright, M.S., et al., *Genome dynamics of multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii during infection and treatment*. Genome Medicine, 2016. 8: p. 26.

85. Perdigão, J., et al., *GidB mutation as a phylogenetic marker for Q1 cluster Mycobacterium tuberculosis isolates and intermediate-level streptomycin resistance determinant in Lisbon, Portugal.* Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 2014. 20(5): p. 0278-0284.

86. Zhang, S., et al., *Identification of novel mutations associated with cycloserine resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* bioRxiv, 2017: p. 114116.

87. Cabot, G., et al., *Evolution of Pseudomonas aeruginosa antimicrobial resistance and fitness under low and high mutation rates*. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2016. 60(3): p. 1767-1778.

88. Bos, J., et al., *Emergence of antibiotic resistance from multinucleated bacterial filaments*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. 112(1): p. 178-183.

89. Tsolaki, A.G., et al., *Functional and evolutionary genomics of Mycobacterium tuberculosis: insights from genomic deletions in 100 strains.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2004. 101(14): p. 4865-4870.

90. Mathee, K., et al., *Dynamics of Pseudomonas aeruginosa genome evolution*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(8): p. 3100-3105.

91. Wang, K.K., et al., *A hybrid drug limits resistance by evading the action of the multiple antibiotic resistance pathway.* Molecular biology and evolution, 2016. 33(2): p. 492-500.

92. Toprak, E., et al., *Evolutionary paths to antibiotic resistance under dynamically sustained drug selection*. Nature genetics, 2012. 44(1): p. 101-105.

Supplementary materials



Figure S1 Plot shows disk diffusion test assay between genotype vs. transfer (indicated by 0 for ancestral and 100 for the evolved endpoint population). Each bar from the evolved endpoint populations represents the mean of the six population replicates of each genotype from three different plates. Each of these six populations was measured with three independent measurements. SEM = ± 1


Figure S2 Growth rates for the ancestral genotypes. Each bar represents the mean of more than 3 independent measurements under three different treatment environments. Error bar was calculated using 1 standard error from the mean. ANOVA: F-test ratio = 56.5423; DF = 2; p-value = $<0.0001^*$).



Figure S3: Box plot of growth rates for the Rec+ and Rec- populations at different time points. The horizontal line in each box plot represents the mean, and the black circles present the outliers. ND: no drug; LD: low drug; HD: high drug

			Nucleotide		
Population	RecType	AA change	change	Gene	Antibiotic resistance
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	Ala ->Val	C -> T	catB	Chloramphenicol
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	Asp->Tyr	G -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	Gly->Ser	G -> A	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	Glu->Arg	A->G	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	Glu->His	A->C	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	Arg->His	G -> A	сусА	Cycloserine
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	Ser->Leu	C->T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	Arg->His	G->A	rpoD	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	Asp->Glu	T->G	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	Leu->Pro	G -> A	rpoC	Cephalosporine
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	Ser->Arg	A->C	catB	Chloramphenicol
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	Gly->Asp	G->A	acrB	Mar
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Iso->Thr	T->C	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Ser->Leu	C -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Gly->Asp	G -> A	gidB	Streptomycin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Arg->Cys	C -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Arg->Cys	C -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Pro->Leu	C -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Glu->Lys)	G -> A	ppsA	Pyrazinamide
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Pro->Ser	C -> T	salA	Antibiotic resistance
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Glu->Lys	C -> T	mdtc	Mar
					Ampicillin, cefoxitin,
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Met -> Arg	T -> G	fstK	and piperacillin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Met->Val	A -> G	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Iso->Val	A -> G	ABC	Antibiotic resistance
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Pro->Ser	C -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
					Lincosamides,
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Pro->Ser	C -> T	salA	Streptogramin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Val->Ala	T -> C	ppsA	Pyrazinamide

Table S1 List of mutations observed in the endpoint populations previously reported for antibiotic resistance.

ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Ser->Leu	C -> T	rpoB	Rifampicin
ADP1Rec-132	Rec-	Leu->Leu	G -> A	gidB	Streptomycin

Reference for these resistance genes has been provided in the result sections. In this study, we tested resistance to rifampicin, streptomycin and ciprofloxacin. RecType indicates Rec+ and Rec- population; Mar (multiple antibiotic resistances) = Tetracycline, Ampicillin, Puromycin, Nalidixic acid, Rifampicin, Chloramphenicol, and Ciprofloxacin.

Table S2 List of different intergenic mutations. Different intergenic mutations arose in the evolved populations. RecType indicates recombination proficient/deficient, population evolved under different treatment environments indicated by EvolEnv, whereas Rec+ and Rec-indicating recombination efficient and deficient evolved genotypes, RepPlate for replicate plates.

Strain	RecType	EvolEnv	RepPlate	Change	SNP Type
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	HD	P2	C -> T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	LD	P1	C->A	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	LD	P2	C->A	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	ND	P1	G -> T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec+4	Rec+	ND	P2	G -> T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec+3	Rec+	LD	P3	C->T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	C->T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P3	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	LD	P1	T -> C	SNP (transversion)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	LD	P2	G -> A	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	LD	P3	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	ND	P1	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	ND	P2	G->A	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	ND	P2	A -> C	SNP (transversion)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	A -> G	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	C -> T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	A -> G	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	C -> T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	C -> T	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	G -> A	SNP (transition)

ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	T -> A	SNP (transversion)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P2	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P3	T -> C	SNP (transition)
ADP1Rec-131	Rec-	HD	P3	T -> C	SNP (transition)

Table S3 List of primers used in amplifying targeted *rpoB* allele sequences.

Gene name	Primer sequence
rpoB 1 (forward)	TTCGATTCAGGTCGACTCGT
rpoB 1 (reverse)	CAGGCGTTCTGGAACAAGAT
<i>rpoB</i> 2 (forward)	TGGATCAAAACAACCCATTG
rpoB 2 (reverse)	ATCGCCACGACCCACTTTAT

Table S4 PCR master mix preparation per reaction

Reagents	Amount [uL/reaction tube]
PCR buffer 10x	2.5
MgCl2 25 mM	2.5
dNTP 10mM	0.5
TaqGold 5U /μL	0.1
Primer mix (conc. 0.5µM) (F+R)	1.5
Sigma H2O	17.9
Template DNA	5
Tolal volume	30

PCR program:		
Step	Temperature	Time
1 (hold)	95°C	6 minutes
2 (denaturation)	94°C	45 seconds
3 (annealing)	58°C	45 seconds
4 (elongation)	72°C	2 minutes
5 (repetition)	Step 2 to 4 for 35 cycles	
6 (final elongation)	72°C	10 minutes

Table S5 Temperature profile for the PCR for amplifying *rpoB* allele sequences

Table S6: Parameter estimates of the fixed effect test using populations from different time points.

Source	Nparm	DF	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	Prob > F
Genotype	1	1	0.00000146	0.2210	0.6385
Transfer	4	4	0.00051062	19.3081	<.0001*
Treatment	2	2	0.00000389	0.2945	0.7450
Genotype*Transfer	4	4	0.00002968	1.1222	0.3451
Genotype*Treatment	2	2	0.00000622	0.4704	0.6250
Transfer*Treatment	8	8	0.00009798	1.8524	0.0652

Chapter 4: Compensatory evolution of the costs of single versus multidrug resistance in *Acinetobacter baylyi*

Summary

The phenomenon of drug resistance is pervasive in pathogen populations whenever they face any selective pressure exerted by antibiotics. Often, resistant bacteria suffer fitness costs once the drug usage is discontinued. However, this deleterious effect of resistant mutations can be ameliorated by compensatory mutations (CM), thus preventing the rapid elimination of the resistant bacteria from the population. Although this mechanism of compensation has been extensively studied in bacterial populations resistant to only a single drug, adaptation to the costs associated with multiple drug resistance mutations remains unexplored. We therefore tested the mechanism of compensation in multidrug resistant bacteria by employing an evolution experiment. We constructed a set of genotypes comprising a completely susceptible genotype, a streptomycin resistant genotype carrying the K43T mutation at rpsL locus, a rifampicin resistant genotype carrying the P573L mutation at rpoB locus, and a doubly resistant genotype carrying both of these mutations. Sixteen populations from each of these genotypes were subjected to daily serial transfer for ~325 generations. To follow the dynamics of fitness compensation and track the mutational spectrum, the resultant endpoint populations with their ancestral counterparts were phenotyped and their genomes sequenced. Our phenotypic results show that the deleterious effects of resistance mutations can be compensated for by a varying degree of fitness improvement. Specifically, we found that adaptation to the cost of resistance in a set of multidrug resistant populations was higher compared to the subset of single resistant populations. The MIC data also suggest that fitness was improved without altering their resistance level. Moreover, this greater fitness improvement was influenced by some of the fittest lineages following a bimodal fitness distribution. Our whole genome sequencing data revealed that both costly rifampicin resistant and costly double resistant lineages adapted by compensatory mutations in RNA polymerase core enzyme. We also observed minor fitness compensation to the low cost streptomycin resistant mutation where we detected no evidence of putative compensatory mutations but parallel secondary mutations in hypothetical genes. However, we observed a different parallel adaptive evolution in double resistant genotype, which harboured an unexpected additional deleterious mutation. Surprisingly, half of the lineages originating from this double resistant genotype was better compensated through reversion mutation in the same nucleotide position of the same genetic locus, which were also accompanied by distinct compensatory mutations in the RNA

polymerase core enzyme, and those mutations were not shared by any rifampicin resistant genotypes. Our data suggest that adaptation to the cost of multidrug resistance is independent of the genetic background of mutations that appeared in single resistant genotypes. Furthermore, our study indicates how selection at other locations in the genome can influence the dynamics of resistance alleles in multidrug resistant clinical populations.

Introduction

The majority of mutations – even synonymous mutation [1, 2] and mutations in intergenic regions [3, 4] – have been found to be associated with organism's fitness in an unfavourable way. Some of these deleterious mutations may disappear from the population or revert back to the original wild type state, but in some cases such deleterious effect is reduced by so called second-site compensatory/suppressor mutations (CMs) at the same or a different locus in the genome. By definition, CMs are deleterious or at best neutral when on their own but beneficial when co-occurring with the original deleterious mutation, thus representing a form of signepistasis (see also Chapter 2). This poorly understood biological phenomenon has important implications, not only for the evolutionary consequences of mutations, but also for the genetic complexity of adaptation. In instances of resistance evolution such as bacterial resistance to antibiotics, pesticide resistance and resistance of HIV-1 to antiretroviral therapy, this phenomenon has contributed an adaptive advantage to pathogen populations [1]. In order to gain a better understanding of the biological relevance of CMs in the organism's fitness – both in terms of evolutionary significances of mutation and also for the genetic consequences of adaptation – both theoretical and empirical studies have been conducted. For example, theories suggest that the CMs appear in the population to mask the deleterious effect of another mutation or they arise independently as deleterious mutations in the same population but are neutral when they combine with other mutations [2, 3]. In evolutionary biology and genetics, the role of CMs have further been assessed under a variety of contexts including the evolution of sex, the structure of fitness landscapes and epistasis, mutational load, the extinction of populations, and the mechanism of suppressions in determining various regulatory or functional interactions between protein or RNAs [4-9].

It is well known that bacteria can evolve resistance to antibiotics by acquiring drug specific new genomic mutations or by acquiring horizontally transferred genetic material carrying resistance determinants [10-12]. During acquisition of resistance mutations, these genetic changes often involve deleterious effects as they weaken or interfere with important cellular

functions including cell wall synthesis, regulation of DNA supercoiling, transcription and protein synthesis, or undergo many other metabolic disruptions. Not surprisingly, these interruptions of essential cellular functions by antibiotic resistance mutations are often associated with fitness costs. This means that the resultant resistant bacterial population experiences decreased fitness in the absence of drugs, reflected in, for example, decreased survival, reduced growth rate, reduced transmission, and/or reduced virulence in pathogenic bacteria [13-15]. The cost associated with this resistance mutation has been empirically studied both in vitro and in vivo in many bacterial pathogens in many different settings [9, 16-22]. These studies have provided evidence that when the drug-selective pressure is removed, the resistance mutations become a disadvantage for the organisms with reduced fitness compared to the parental susceptible ones. This means that the resistant subpopulation may go extinct because of their low fitness compared to their susceptible counterparts.

In some cases the fitness cost of this genomic single mutation conferring resistance to a particular drug in bacteria can be alleviated temporarily by increasing the activity of the mutated enzymes. However, compensation may also arise on a permanent basis by additional point mutations throuh which the focal mutated-target-proteins become more active, or strengthen the flow of this protein through biochemical pathways [5]. Alternatively, it has been shown that drug resistance mutations can incur high levels of fitness cost by increasing the degree of catalytic activity of the target antibiotics, and this high affinity biochemical-specificity-associated fitness cost is compensated by additional point mutations in the same gene through the thermodynamic activity of that mutated enzyme [23, 24]. One earlier study by Schrag and Perrot [25] provided direct evidence of the mechanism of compensation by evolving streptomycin resistant *E. coli* populations in the absence of streptomycin. This study found that resistance was stably maintained by evolving a second-site compensatory mutation that reduced the fitness cost by 6%. Subsequently, many other observations have been made by studying both clinical and laboratory populations, including in *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Salmonella typhimurium*, *M. tuberculosis* and *P. fluorescens* [26-28].

In all previous studies, the genetic and molecular mechanisms of compensation were investigated only for single chromosomal resistance mutations. Nevertheless, it is important to also ascertain the role of additional mutations that have been frequently associated with multiple drug resistance, but to date this has not been investigated systematically. From a clinical perspective, compensation is of special interest since resistant organisms may still maintain their resistance while adapting genetically to its costs, resulting in the stabilization of resistant organisms in patients. Thus, it may make it difficult to eradicate the pathogen population from infection sites. At the same time, there is a possibility that some fraction of resistant populations may acquire additional mutations or compensatory mutations, which may perhaps carry higher fitness costs during the course of compensation (**Figure 1**). One empirical study reported that epistatic interactions drive the acquisition of multiple drug resistance and also compensate the cost of initial resistance mutation by evolving the second mutation [29].



Genotype

Figure 1 Genetics of compensation to the cost of resistance. Horizontal axis shows genotypes and vertical axis represents fitness. Here, 'S' indicates a susceptible locus, 'R' indicates a resistant locus, 'C' indicates compensatory locus. Strain carrying 'SSS' indicates a susceptible genotype with higher fitness in absence of antibiotics, where the first two 'S' indicating drug resistant loci that can acquire two distinct resistant mutations, and with the third 'S' indicating a locus that acquire a compensatory mutation (indicated by green circle). Two single resistant genotypes can be achieved by acquiring a single drug specific resistant mutation indicated by circle with 'RSS'. Here, for the simplicity I only consider the first locus, but another single resistant genotype conferring resistance to a new drug can be selected for by another point mutation in the second locus. The green 'RSS' genotype can also be achieved by negligible or low cost resistance mutations, whereas red 'RSS' resistant genotype has lower fitness because of a costly resistant point mutation. For the double resistant genotype indicated by red 'RRS' fitness is greatly reduced because of the two distinct costly resistant mutations. The solid arrow indicates the known mechanism of compensation for a single resistant mutation. The mechanism is unknown in terms of fitness and mutational spectrum for multidrug resistant bacteria indicated by broken arrow - here two plausible outcomes can be expected: the double mutant may acquire a fitness compensatory mutation (i.e., this mutation could be similar to the

single drug or a distinct new compensatory mutation) or may acquire a deleterious mutation that can further exacerbate the cost of resistance.

Since this work concerns the possible differences between compensation of single vs. multidrug resistance, both in terms of fitness and the spectrum of mutations, we investigated the adaptive role of compensatory mutations by employing a set of genotypes comprising a completely susceptible genotype, two single drug resistant genotypes, and a multidrug resistant bacteria derived from those two singly resistant genotypes through an evolution experiment for \sim 325 generations. We then followed the dynamics of fitness compensation and the mutational spectrum of these evolved populations by characterizing them both at the phenotypic (growth rate, competitive fitness, MIC-assay) and genomic level (whole genome sequencing). We attempted to identify de novo mutations that accumulated in these genotypes during the course of evolution to uncover the mutational spectrum as well as to what extent these mutations are involved in the dynamics of fitness compensations in both single vs. double resistant genotypes Thus, we will be able to determine whether evolutionary adaptation to the cost of multiple drug resistance by compensatory mutations generates substantial genetic variations which differ from compensation to the cost of single-drug resistant mutations. This should shed light on our understanding of new evolutionary processes that may also be present in multidrug resistant bacteria of clinical origin.

Materials and methods

Genetic background of strains and growth conditions

To construct mutant genotypes, a completely susceptible, tryptophan auxotroph *A. baylyi* ADP1 strain containing a cyan fluorescence marker (trpE27 ACIAD0921::ecfp) was used. Before initiating the experiments, these strains were preserved in 15% glycerol (v/v) and stored in -80° freezer.

Genotypes constructions

To construct rifampicin and streptomycin resistant mutants, the ancestral sensitive strain was streaked on LB agar plate and incubated at 30°C overnight. From this plate, an overnight culture was initiated from a single clone in 20mL LB broth in a 50mL tube at 30° C with constant shaking at 180 r.p.m. Mutant screening for a single drug was carried out by plating this overnight culture on LB agar plates supplemented with appropriate antibiotics. Specifically, 100uL of overnight culture was inoculated on LB agar plates supplemented with either 10ug/mL of rifampicin or 10ug/mL of streptomycin antibiotics and incubated at 30°C for

a maximum of 48 hours. The concentrations we used were 10-fold and 5-fold higher than the MIC of rifampicin (1ug/mL) and streptomycin (2ug/mL), respectively. After a maximum of 48 hours of incubation, individual mutants were isolated from both the rifampicin and streptomycin supplemented plates and overnight cultures with these individual clones were established in LB broth supplemented with the respective antibiotics and concentrations. Individual mutants were then frozen in 15% (v/v) glycerol at -80°C for further assays.

Sanger sequencing was employed to sequence the targeted genomic locations of the individual mutants. We sequenced two regions of the rpoB gene (rpoBI primer pair which covered nucleotides 1-1342, including resistance cluster I, and rpoBII primer pair which covered a second region spanning nucleotides 1240-2226, including resistance cluster II) [30-32] to detect the mutation responsible for rifampicin resistance (Rif). These primers pairs were designed based on an extensive literature search to detect the common regions covering the occurrence of common rifampicin resistance pathway conferred by mutation in the rpoB gene [31]. Similarly, to detect the streptomycin resistance (Stp) mutation, two pairs of primers were constructed targeting rrs and a single pair of primers for the rpsL gene, because most of the mutations conferring resistance to streptomycin appear in these two genetic loci [27, 32]. Detailed primer information can be found in the supplementary Table S1. DNA extraction was carried out from these individual resistant clones using Promega genomic DNA extraction kits (Promega, California), followed by PCR amplification of rpoB, rpsL and rrs gene fragments. Detailed PCR protocols can be found in supplementary Tables S2 and S3. Sanger sequencing was carried out on these amplified PCR gene products at the Australian Genome Research Facility, and mutations were determined by using CodonCode Aligner version 5.0 (CodonCode, Deadham, MA).

In the following step, we constructed a double resistant genotype (resistant to both rifampicin and streptomycin) by a natural transformation assay according to de Vries and Wackernagel [33] with slight modification. In short, individual competent cells of rifampicin and streptomycin resistant mutant strains obtained earlier were prepared by adding 1mL overnight culture into 100 mL of LB broth in Erlenmeyer flask for a period of 6-8 hours growth at 30°C with constant shaking at 180rpm, followed by centrifugation at 8500rpm for 2 minutes and collection of pellets. In the next step, approximately 300uL LB broth supplemented with glycerol (20% v/v) was used to re-suspend the pellets by pipette tips very gently. This suspension of pellet contained competent cells and was stored in a -80°C freezer. The following day, transformation of competent cells with genomic DNA (obtained from rifampicin and streptomycin mutants as the donor strain in either way) was carried out by taking 20mL of LB broth supplemented with MgCI2 (0.25mM) and CaCI2 (0.25mM) in 300mL Erlenmeyer flasks. After adding DNA, the flask containing both competent cells and DNA was placed on the shaker (at 30°C with 170 rpm as shaker conditions) for aeration for a period of 90 minutes. This allowed competent cells to take up DNA from their surroundings. After appropriate aeration, the cultures were centrifuged at 6000g for 5 minutes and the pellet re-suspended by adding 300uL fresh LB and gently mixing the pellet with pipette tips. From this tube, 100 uL of culture was streaked on an LB agar plate supplemented with both antibiotics, for example, plates were supplemented with 4 ug/uL rifampicin and 20 ug/uL streptomycin in combination. The cultures were then diluted and 100 μ L of these cultures was plated and left for adequate time to dry (maximum of 5 minutes). After this, all the plates were incubated for a maximum of 40 hours at 30°C, visible individual colonies were picked and overnight cultures were setup in LB broth supplemented with 4ug/uL rifampicin and 20ug/uL streptomycin in combination. Cultures of these double resistant mutants (StprRifr) were frozen in 15% (v/v) glycerol at -80°C. Sanger sequencing was carried out on this StprRifr strain to confirm the location of the mutations in rpoB and rpsL genetic loci.

Measuring cost of resistance

To determine the cost of resistance, we measured the growth rate of the Rifr, Stpr, and StprRifr mutants in 96-well plates in 180uL LB broth where optical density (OD600) was estimated in triplicate by using a Tekan Synergy HT plate reader (BioTek., Synergy, USA). Each strain taken from the -80°C freezer was grown on an LB agar plate followed by transfer of a single colony into 20mL LB broth for overnight growth at 30°C with continuous shaking at 180rpm for a period of 18 hours. Then 5uL of this overnight culture was transferred into a 96-well microplate where each well contained 175uL of LB broth (without any antibiotics). The spectrometer was run for 12 hours, which gave 145 reads in total with a five-minute read interval. Specifications for the run protocol for the spectrometer were: set point temperature 30°C, wavelength 600nm, continuous shaking at medium speed.

Evolution experiment

A single colony of each mutant strain of *A. baylyi* – a rifampicin resistant genotype (Rifr), a streptomycin resistant genotype (Stpr) and a double mutant genotype (RifrStpr), and the ancestral genotype AB3 (SS) – were grown independently overnight in LB media in absence of any antibiotics. Sixteen lineages were founded from each of these four progenitor strains by

adding 10uL overnight culture in 990uL of LB medium without antibiotics. All sixteen lineages per genotype were grown in 24-well plates on an orbital shaker (280 rpm) at 30°C for 24 hours, and these growth conditions were maintained throughout the experiment. After 24 hours, 10uL of each population was serially passaged to 990uL of fresh LB medium and propagated for another 24 hours. In this way, fifty serial transfers were made which resulted in approximately 325 generations of bacterial growth. Samples were stored and frozen at 8 different time points at -80°C in 15% (v/v) glycerol solution.

Growth rate measurement

Since our aim was to determine the fitness trajectories of all lineages founded from a single colony of each of the four initial genotypes, growth rates for the evolved populations at different time points were first measured by spectrometry (SynergyTM HT microplate reader, BioTek, USA). In doing so, for each linage, 5uL of mixed culture from 24 hours culture contained in 24-well plate were directly transferred into 175 uL of LB broth containing 96-well plates of different generations at different time (day) points (0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, 42, 50). For each lineage, we measured this growth rate in duplicates by using two plate readers. We also measured the growth rates of all of our evolved endpoint populations and the initial population from time 0 (day 1) by taking individual clones; for example, we measured growth rates for all sixteen population lineages derived from each of the four different initial genotypes. In this case, we first streaked individual lineages of mixed samples from the frozen stock on fresh LB agar plates from a -80°C freezer, and then a single colony was picked and further grown overnight in LB medium without adding any antibiotics at 30°C with 180 r.p.m on an orbital shaker. From this overnight culture, the growth rate of each clone was measured by obtaining the growth curve (OD600) in LB broth without adding any antibiotics. The individual clones were also stored in a -80°C freezer in 15% glycerol (v/v) for further analysis. The statistical software R version 3.3.0 was used for estimating the maximum exponential growth rate from the OD data. Here, raw OD values were normalized to a blank well and Log-transformed before analysis. Then the steepest slope over a 32 data point range, corresponding to growth over 160 minutes, was determined.

Antibiotic susceptibility assay by E-test

To characterize the antibiotic susceptibility profile of the ancestral and evolved endpoint populations, we carried out E-test assays. Individual clones were streaked on Mueller-Hinton (MH-II; Becton, Dickinson, and company, N.J, U.S.A) plates from frozen stock, and incubated for 18 hours. Suspensions of the organisms were prepared by picking the appropriate number

of colonies and suspending in 1.5 ml of saline under aseptic conditions, and the turbidity was adjusted by measuring the optical density (OD_{600}) of this bacterial saline suspension by spectrometry (Synergy[™] HT microplate reader, BioTek, USA). Turbidity of this bacterial saline suspension was adjusted to that of a 0.06 to 1.0 McFarland standard. A total of approximately 0.1ml of the 1.0 McFarland and suspension was plated on a MH-II agar plate by using a sterile cotton swab. In doing this, the sterile cotton swab was dipped into the adjusted suspension, and rotated several times and pressed firmly on the inside wall of the tube above the fluid level to remove the excessive inoculum from the swab. Then the MH-II agar plate was inoculated by streaking the cotton swab over the whole sterile agar surface. This procedure was repeated at least two more times by rotating the plate approximately 60° each time to ensure an appropriate distribution of inoculum on the whole surface of the plate. In the final step, the rim of the MH-II plate was swabbed at least twice. Then the lid of the plate was kept open for approximately 5 minutes to allow for any excess surface moisture to be absorbed before applying the E-test strip. After adequate drying, a maximum of three E-strips (rifampicin, streptomycin and ciprofloxacin) were placed in one plate. The antibiotic strips were placed by maintaining a minimal distance between two antibiotics in order to avoid any potential drug interactions (i.e. antagonism, synergism, inhibition or induction) that may give rise to distortion of inhibition zones. All plates were inverted with the lid side up and placed inside a plastic bag and incubated at 30°C for 18 hours. MICs were read from the test strip where the elliptical zone of inhibition intersected with the MIC scale on the strip. Although there are no specific susceptibility breakpoints set by either the EUCAST (European Committee for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing) nor the CLSI (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, USA) for the tested antimicrobial stripes for the strain (A. baylyi) used in this study, we also carried out Etests on *E. coli* strain ATCC 25552 as a control to better interpret the MIC of our experimental strains.

Fitness estimation by competition experiment

For the competition assay, a kanamycin resistant *A. baylyi* ADP1 strain (trpE27 ACIAD0921::ecfp ACIAD3309::nptIII) was used as a reference marker strain [30]. Pairwise competition experiments for each of the evolved clones from the end point (~325 generations) populations and the clones from ancestral genotypes were carried out in the same culture conditions used to propagate the evolving populations. Specifically, each of the evolved clones, ancestral clones and the marker strain were taken from the freezer, plated on LB agar plates and incubated overnight at 30°C. Then, a single colony was transferred into 1mL of LB broth

in 24-well plates. These cultures were then incubated for 24 hours on an orbital shaker at 30°C with continuous shaking at 250 rpm, representing one complete growth cycle as has been done for the actual evolution experiment. Then, to start with the actual competition assay, equal densities of tested clone and reference marker clone were mixed in 990uL LB broth without antibiotics (i.e. 5uL of competitor and 5uL of reference culture was added into a well containing 990 uL of LB broth which represents the conditions of the actual evolution experiment). Individual samples (10uL) were taken immediately after mixing from the individual wells of 24-well plate into 990uL PBS containing 2mL tubes, returning the 24-well plate to the incubator, followed by dilution and plating of 100 uL on LB agar plates supplemented with or without kanamycin (at least 3 replicate plates per dilution per plate type). The rationale of this sampling at the beginning of the competition experiment was to determine the number of cells of both evolved clone and reference clone, then calculate the number of cells after 24 hours of competition, which gives an indication of the competitive ability of the evolved and reference strain. Thus, similarly, samples were taken after 24 hours, and serially diluted and plated on LB agar supplemented with or without kanamycin antibiotics. All plates were incubated for ~16 to 18 hours at 30°C, and subsequently colony forming units (CFUs) were counted visually. Then the relative fitness of the ancestral and evolved strains was determined according to Travisano et al. [34].

Genome sequencing

Based on initial growth rates, we selected eight replicate lineages from each of the sixteen evolved end-point resistant genotypes for whole genome sequencing. We also selected a completely susceptible and three different initial resistant genotypes (i.e. rifampicin resistant genotype, streptomycin resistant genotype and a double resistant genotype harbouring both rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutations) for whole genome sequencing. All these populations were also assessed with competitive fitness assays. Initially, individual clones were inoculated on LB agar plates from the cryotube followed by overnight incubation at 30°C. A single colony was then inoculated in 10mL LB broth and incubated overnight at 30°C on an orbital shaker (180 rpm). Then DNA extractions from pure culture of the individual clones were performed using PureLink® Genomic DNA Kits (Invitrogen). After extraction, DNA quantification was carried out using a spectrometer based microplate reader on Take3 plate (SynergyTM HT, Bio Tek, USA). Then samples were diluted in TRIS buffer to 8-10 ng/uL and stored at -20°C. Libraries were prepared using a Nextera XT kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions but with slight modifications. Overall, library

preparation comprises five different modules. In short, module 1 involves standardization of gDNA concentrations across samples. In module 2, input DNA is tagged and fragmented by the Nextera XT transposome. The Nextera XT transposome simultaneously fragments the input DNA and adds adapter sequences to the ends, allowing amplification by PCR in subsequent steps. In module 3, tagmented DNA is amplified via a limited-cycle PCR program. In module 4, PCR-amplified DNA fragments library is subject to purify using AMPure XP beads to remove short library fragments from the samples. In the final module, each library is normalized which ensures that equal library representation has been achieved in pooled sample. In doing so, we run our purified samples further on the Shimadzu bioanlyzer for the selection of expected fragment lengths between 300 and 800bp. Then we pooled the library and further purified with AMPure XP beads followed by Pippin-Prep size selection (250-800 bps). Finally, the pooled library was sequenced using 300bp paired-end reads on the Illumina MiSeq platform.

Analysis of sequencing data

The reads including both forward and reverse reads generated from Illumina MiSeq were first quality trimmed and paired into consensus sequences, and then aligned with our original wildtype *A. baylyi* which we had previously assembled against the reference genome of *A. baylyi*, from the NCBI GenBank database (Accession NC_005966) [30]. All these steps were carried out using the program Geneious version 9.1.4 (Biomatters, Inc.). We used the 'Find variations/SNPs' tool implemented in Geneious to identify SNPs and indels with a minimum sequencing coverage of 5 and a variant frequency of at least 95% (see Table S2 for different parameters used in bioinformatics analysis). Unique mutations were identified by direct comparison of the ancestral strains with the evolved resistant strains. We also classified other spontaneous mutations that could potentially emerge in the populations propagated in medium without supplementing any antibiotics during the course of the evolution experiment [35] for example, we speculated that some mutations will emerge in the populations to adapt to LB medium only. A subset of SNPs identified in different locations of the genome will be further verified by Sanger sequencing of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplicons as has been done in chapter 3.

Statistical analysis

Various statistical methods were employed at the population level for data analysis. We first employed an analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare growth rate of the ancestral genotypes with evolved endpoint populations with the genetic background and replicate lines as fixed factor. Differences in growth rates among genotypes were compared between ancestral and evolved lines, and were measured using an ANOVA model where genetic background and transfer were taken as fixed factors and replicate lines were used as random factor. We also employed a similar model for the relative comparison of finesses for evolved population between transfer 50 (T50) representing about ~325 generations of evolved populations, and transfer 0 (T0) representing the ancestral populations. We used least square (LS) means contrasts in the factorial ANOVA model. Similar analysis was employed for both competitive fitness and e-Test MIC assay for the ancestral and evolved populations. All statistical analyses were carried out using JMP version 12 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, 1989-2007).

Results

Determining mutants genotypes

From a susceptible ancestral genotype, we obtained a streptomycin resistant and a rifampicin resistant genotype through mutant screening. Sanger sequencing indicated a K43T substitution at the rpsL locus to be responsible for resistance to streptomycin (MIC >128 ug/mL) and a P573L mutation at the rpoB locus responsible for rifampicin resistance (MIC >32 ug/mL). We constructed a double resistant genotype carrying both of these mutations through natural transformation. The presence of both mutations was confirmed by Sanger sequencing and the strain was indeed found to be resistant to both streptomycin and rifampicin (MIC for rifampicin: >32ug/mL; MIC for streptomycin: >128ug/mL). This double resistant genotype forms the main focus of this study.

Costs of resistance

Growth rate and competitive fitness assays revealed that significant fitness costs are associated with the two single and the double resistant genotype (**Figure 2**). Fitness costs in growth rate were significantly higher in the double resistant genotype (p < 0.0001) compared to single resistant genotypes, and the cost associated with the rifampicin genotype was higher than that of the streptomycin genotype (p < 0.0001), and the streptomycin resistant genotype was also significantly different from the ancestral wild-type genotype (**Table1**).



Figure 2 Fitness cost among ancestral resistant genotypes. Results are based on growth rate are shown panel (a) in box plot. Here, green lines indicate the lower and upper quartile with an open circle represents an outlier. In panel (b), fitness cost is shown in negative competitive ability among three different resistant genotypes. Filled circle represent the mean negative competitive fitness connected. Error bar represents ± 1 standard error from the mean.

Ganatuna	Ganatuna	Differences	SE of Diff	Lower CI	Upper CI	n voluo
Genotype	-Genotype	Differences	SE OI DIII.	Lower CL	Opper CL	<i>p</i> -value
Susc	StpRRifR	0.0067385	0.000286	0.0061752	0.0073019	< 0.0001*
Susc	RifR	0.0047685	0.0001811	0.0044119	0.0051252	< 0.0001*
StpR	StpRRifR	0.004050	0.0002995	0.003460	0.0046399	< 0.0001*
Susc	StpR	0.0026886	0.0001774	0.0023391	0.0030380	< 0.0001*
StpR	RifR	0.002080	0.0002017	0.0016826	0.0024773	< 0.0001*
RifR	StpRRifR	0.001970	0.0003017	0.0013758	0.0025643	< 0.0001*

Table 1 ANOVA with mean growth rate vs. strain. Ordered differences report for comparisons for all pairs using Tukey-Kramer HSD test. Positive difference in a pair indicates significantly fitter genotype.

Similarly, significant fitness cost in competitive ability was also found in all the resistant strains, where streptomycin and rifampicin mutant genotypes were significantly fitter than the double resistant genotype. However, no significant difference was between streptomycin and rifampicin resistant genotypes (see **Table 2** for parameter estimates).

Genotype	-Genotype	Differnece	Std Err Di	Lower CL	Upper CL	<i>p</i> -value	
Stp	StpRif	1.924304	0.3337942	1.06300	2.785603	<0.0001*	
Rif	StpRif	1.120122	0.2977052	0.35194	1.888300	0.0046	
Stp	Rif	0.0804182	0.3142568	-0.00670	1.615068	0.0521	

Table 2 LS means differences in competitive fitness cost between different genotypes. Comparisons for all three pairs using Tukey HSD. Positive difference in a pair indicates significantly fitter genotype.

Growth rate trajectories over time

We measured the growth rates of mixed populations for all sixty-four replicate populations evolving from the four different genotypes at eight different time points during the course of the evolution experiment. First, we observed that the mean growth rate trajectories for all different genotypes were stably maintained throughout the evolution experiments except fir all lines that originated from rifampicin and the double resistant genotype. Overall, mean fitness varied most in double resistant genotypes, and two distinct groups are apparent: one group comprising seven lineages exhibited markedly increased growth rates whereas the other nine lineages did not. Rifampicin resistant genotypes, no apparent trajectories were classifiable, except for one lineage (L13) from the streptomycin genotype, which showed a series of adaptive walks but this lineage converged with others in the late phase of the evolution experiment (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3 Growth rate trajectories over time. The x-axis shows different sampling time points in day, which also corresponds to generation time. Mean growth rates over different time points

for all 16 mixed populations (indicated by L1-L16) evolved from each of the ancestral genotypes.

Further, we investigated whether the dynamics of fitness for all the genotypes over different sampling points imply any statistical significance by employing a linear mixed effect model. We find that all the genotypes were significantly different from each other ($p = <0.0001^*$), and also they significantly differ during the course of evolution ($p = <0.0025^*$). All statistical parameter estimates are given in **Table 3**.

Table 3 Results of a general mixed effect model. Table shows the result on the dynamics of fitness for different genotype and transfer.

Source	No. parm	DF	SSs	F-ratio	<i>p</i> -value
Genotype	3	3	0.00045397	196.9585	<0.0001*
Transfer	7	7	0.00002989	5.5577	<0.0001*
Gen*Tra	21	21	00.00003450	2.1385	<0.002*

The level of adaptation was further assessed by comparing growth rates of the evolved strains (i.e. after transfer 50, corresponding to ~325 generations) with their corresponding ancestral strains. We observed significant fitness differences between the T0 and T50 lineages originated from the double resistant genotype (StpRRifR) (ANOVA: F1, 30 = 4.3250, p = 0.0462). However, no significant differences were observed for the rifampicin and streptomycin resistant lineages (F1, 30 = 3.6629, p = 0.0652 and F1, 30 = 1.2779, p = 0.2672).



Figure 4 Histogram of minimum replication times. Histogram of replication time after \sim 325 generation representing distribution of fitness improvement in populations (founded on each of the resistant genotypes) in the absence of drug. Replication time for each of the ancestral

resistant genotypes is indicated by dashed vertical line. Numbers indicated above the bars represent the number of evolved lines.

In addition to this, we determined the distribution of minimum replication times for all different genotypes derived from endpoint population. We observed a higher number of double resistant lineages with improved fitness (10/16) than single mutant genotypes (**Figure 4**).

Growth compensation as a measure of mean competitive ability

Fitness compensation for each of the resistant genotypes from endpoint populations was further assessed among a subset of lineages by carrying out a head-to-head competition assays.



Figure 5 Mean selection rate (competitive fitness) vs. transfer (generation) of a subset of evolved resistant genotypes after ~325 generation. For each resistant genotype, competitive fitness was measured over a subset of 8 different endpoint populations at transfer 50 (8 populations per genotype were selected based on earlier growth rate trajectories). For example, 8 total populations for each resistant endpoint populations were tested for competitive fitness; At least 5 replicate measurements were made on each population and the resultant fitnesses (selection rates) were averaged, and finally grand completive fitness was calculated from these 8 populations. Competitive fitness for each ancestral genotype was carried out for at least 5 replicate measurements including the original wild type ancestor genotype. Error bar = ± 1 SEM.

The mean relative improvement of fitness compensation was higher in rifampicin and double mutant genotypes than their ancestral resistant counterparts indicated by transfer 0 (**Figure 5**).

Further, pairwise mean comparisons using Student's t-tests among these genotypes revealed that the double resistant genotypes were significantly different from single resistant genotypes. This test also revealed significant differences between the two of singly resistant genotypes (see parameter estimates in **Table 4**).

Genotype	-(Genotype)	Differences	SE of Diffe.	Lower CL	Upper CL	<i>p</i> -value		
StpR	StpRRifR	1.410458	0.1886498	1.037186	1.783731	< 0.0001*		
RifR	StpRRifR	1.010824	0.2009188	0.613228	1.40842	< 0.0001*		
StpR	RifR	0.399634	0.1998093	0.004238	0.79503	0.04760		

Table 4 LS means differences. Comparison of each pair using Student's t-test.

MIC-determination as a means of tracking the evolvability

The stability of the resistance profile was determined with the end point populations. This was done because the change in MIC in absence of drug pressure may be linked to adaptation in a number of ways: a decrease in MIC to a particular drug could indicate reversion of resistance, whereas an increase in MIC may indicate acquisition of compensatory mutations that at the same time are also new resistance mutation. More specifically, if the fitness improvement occurs through reversion, it can be expected that antibiotic resistance level will be reduced to the level of wild-type ancestor strain. Alternatively, fitness improvement can be effected through compensatory mutations without altering or even increasing the MIC. Thus, the MIC of rifampicin and streptomycin was determined using E-test for all genotypes previously assessed with the competitive fitness assay.



Figure 6 Stability of the antibiotic-resistant phenotype in the subsets of resistance populations after ~325 generations. MICs of ancestral rifampicin resistant population (Rif) was 32 mg/mL, ancestral streptomycin resistant genotype (Stp) was 128 mg/mL, and ancestral double mutant genotype (Stp^RRif^R) was 32 mg/mL for rifampicin and 128 for streptomycin (this is based on the maximum E-stripe concentration for each antibiotic).

This MIC profile among different resistant genotypes (**Figure 6**) revealed that most lineages did not exhibit any change in MIC, and that there was no an incident of reversion. For streptomycin resistant genotypes, marginal increases in MIC to rifampicin were observed without shifting the level of resistance to the original streptomycin antibiotic. For the rifampicin resistant genotype, in most of the cases, we observed no apparent changes in MIC to streptomycin, except in one case where resistance to streptomycin was increased by more than 2.5 fold. This higher MIC to streptomycin in this lineage could be the result of either acquisition of new drug specific resistance mutation (i.e. mutation in *rpsL* or *rrs* gene) or this lineage could have acquired adaptive resistance through phenotypic heterogeneity. In one evolved lineage of rifampicin resistant genotype, we observed a two-fold reduction in MIC of rifampicin antibiotics; and this could be due to either the original resistance mutation was swapped by a newly arising but weaker mutation or by other mutation during the course of evolution. Interestingly, all double resistant populations kept their MIC level unchanged, indicating that double mutant genotypes improved their average fitness through other mechanisms.

Genomic basis of compensation

We further explored the genomic basis of compensatory adaptations by carrying out whole genome sequencing on the evolved populations. Our objective was to investigate the actual mechanism of compensation at the genomic level after ~325 generations to primary resistance

mutations carried by both single and double resistant genotypes. We attempted to identify de novo mutations that accumulated in these genotypes during the course of evolution to uncover: 1) how pervasive these adaptive mutations are, and where they appear in the genome, 2) to what extent compensatory mutations are influenced by already existing drug specific resistance mutations, 3) which adaptive routes are more accessible, for example, adaptation to the cost of single vs. double resistance mutation, 4) to what extent de novo gene disruption can affect the evolvability in both single and double resistant genotypes, 5) to determine what genetic changes further exacerbate the cost of resistance (this is of particular importance for infection control), 6) to determine the mutations that improve fitness to an optimal level (for example, by rare mutation suggested by Fisher geometric model), 7) to determine mutations that are associated with pleotropic effects, for example, a genotype with a newly arisen mutation in a costly background is further away from the fitness peak, 8) or whether newly arising mutations that can both compensate and give rise to resistance to a new drug through epistatic interactions between resistance and compensatory mutations [29, 36], 9) whether compensation achieved by inactivation of other genes, for example through truncation or premature termination in the costly genome. Thus, we will be able to determine whether evolutionary adaptation to the cost of multiple drug resistance by compensatory mutations generates any substantial genetic variations, which differ from compensation to the cost of single drug resistant mutations. Therefore, we sequenced clones from eight independently evolved lines from each of the three evolved resistant genotypes, all of which we previously assessed for growth rate, competitive fitness, and antimicrobial susceptibility. Additionally, we sequenced the three ancestral resistant genotypes to compare the genomic changes underlying compensatory adaptations.

Whole genome sequencing investigation on the ancestral genotypes

Whole genome sequencing of ancestral origin has revealed an additional mutation in a less characterised *cyoA* locus in a double resistant genotype. This mutation unexpectedly occurred during construction of this genotype through natural transformation and this mutation also produced significant fitness cost (ANOVA: F-test: 319.87; DF: 2; p-value = <0.001). Although we did not construct any genotypes with identical *cyoA* mutation alone or in combination with other resistance mutations to determine the actual effect on bacterial physiology we assume that this additional mutation may also cause additional fitness cost through epistatic interaction (**Figure S1**). However, it has been reported that disruption in *cyoA* can give adaptive resistance to multiple antibiotics [37, 38]. We included this double resistant genotypes in our evolution

experiment and evolved for ~325 generations along with other three different genotypes since natural populations always undergo simultaneous acquisition of genetic determinants along with resistant elements from their exogenous sources via recombination. Therefore, we assumed that such additional deleterious mutations might occur in both natural populations as well as in the laboratory populations but the true role of such additional mutations were unexplored in absence of whole genomic information.

Whole genome sequencing investigation on the evolved endpoint populations

Whole genome sequencing detected 27 secondary mutations in each subset of the evolved endpoint populations founded on three different genotypes during the course of evolution (Table 5). Among these, we identified seven different secondary mutations in five of the eight different StpR evolved populations. However, none of these mutations occurred in putative compensatory loci such as *rpsL*, *rpsD*, *rpsE*, and *rrs* (detailed information on this mutation can be found in supplementary table S4). Three out of those five StpR evolved lineages each carried a single point mutation; two lineages each carried two different mutations. One lineage carried a secondary mutation in gene encoding FSR protein, which greatly benefitted growth improvement (by $\sim 6\%$). Minor growth improvement ($\sim 2\%$) was also observed in a single lineage carrying an intergenic mutation between a transcriptional regulatory protein and citrate transporter protein. We also identified 4 different secondary mutations in three different genes of unknown function encoding hypothetical proteins (HPs). We observed these 4 different mutation in three different lineages. Two lineages (C and E) harboured the identical substitution mutation in the same genetic location suggesting parallel evolution. Lineage C improved its fitness cost by $\sim 3\%$, which was accompanied by an additional point mutation (synonymous) in a gene encoding an ABC-transporter protein.

	Protein/locus affected										
Genotype	FSR	Int	ABC	HP	RNAP	S4	HRP	TCS	Lrp	СуоА	Lon
Rif ^R	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	6/8	0/8	1/8	1/8	1/8	0/8	0/8
Stp ^R	1/8	1/8	1/8	4/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8
Rif ^R Stp ^R	0/8	0/8	0/8	1/8	3/8	1/8	0/8	1/8	0/8	4/8	1/8

FSR-follic siderophore receptor protein; Int-intergenic mutation; ABC- abc tranporter protein; RNAP-RNA-polymerase; S4-ribosomal subunit protein 4; TCS-two component sensory kinase; Lrp- Leucine responsive protein; Lon – Lon protease

Mutations in these hypothetical loci suggest that all these mutations are alone not sufficient to improve the fitness burden, but the cost reduction is accelerated by a mutation in another genetic locus through an epistatic interaction. However, lineage E carried two secondary mutations (one non-synonymous and another one synonymous mutation) in a hypothetical gene that caused about 5% increase in fitness cost, and another lineage (line F) carried a single mutation in a hypothetical gene that caused about 1.4% increased fitness cost. However, three lineages (3/8) did not carry any secondary mutations where fitness was improved by $\sim 2\%$ among two of these lineages (lineage G and H), but the cost was further increased in one lineage (lineage D). The MIC of streptomycin was unchanged in all the evolved lineages, but interestingly increased resistance to rifampicin was observed among all these replicate populations evolved from streptomycin resistance genotypes (**Figure 6**) suggesting that less sensitive resistant genotypes (i.e. streptomycin resistance mutation with low fitness cost) helped these populations develop resistance to a new antibiotic (i.e. rifampicin) by avoiding both extreme beneficial or deleterious secondary mutations in the absence of selection pressure.

In seven out of eight RifR evolved populations, we identified a total of nine secondary mutations, of which six are intragenic mutations in rpoB (the same locus that carries the primary mutation conferring resistance to rifampicin), and four extragenic mutations (secondary mutations in loci other than the primary resistance locus). In one lineage we did not identify any secondary mutation. Among these six secondary mutations found in *rpoB*, four were newly arisen putative compensatory mutations of which two lineages carried the same mutation (lineage A and B), and thus suggesting a parallel compensatory evolution in this resistance locus. Surprisingly, in one lineage (lineage D), the primary resistance mutation (rpoBP571L) was replaced by another mutation (rpoBL571H). This lineage experienced greater fitness improvement (by more than 23%) than any other rifampicin resistant evolved lineages. In this clone, we also observed a reduced MIC to rifampicin (Figure 6) suggesting that this mutation represents an incomplete reversion mutation at the phenotypic level. This lineage also carried an additional truncation mutation (Q->Stop) in a gene encoding a multifunctional two-component sensory (TCS) kinase. A similar truncation mutation such as a premature stop codon in glutamine amino acid (Q->Stop) was also observed in a gene encoding two-component sensory kinase (lineage E) whose fitness cost was further intensified by more than 5% (detailed information for the observed mutation can be found in supplementary Table S5). In lineage H, a new extragenic secondary mutation was also observed in *lrp* gene encoding a global regulatory protein (leucine responsive protein) where fitness was improved by 2%.



Figure 7 Observed secondary mutations in different resistance lineages after ~325 generations in absence of drug pressure. Empty bar represents no secondary mutations observed after ~325 generations for particular lineages.

Disruption in this gene has been associated with reduced virulence in *E. coli* [39] suggesting a putative new mechanism of compensatory adaptation to the cost of rifampicin resistance. Overall, all the secondary mutations observed in the evolved RifR populations were sufficient to ameliorate the fitness cost incurred by *rpoB* P571L rifampicin resistance mutation (fitness cost improvement ranging from 3 to 23 %), these secondary mutations observed in rifampicin resistance evolved lineages are thus regarded as putative compensatory mutations. Such intragenic compensation has previously been identified in experimental bacterial population [17]. No other known secondary mutations (i.e. putative compensatory mutations in *rpoA* and *rpoC*) were observed in any of the eight evolved Rifr lineages (**Table S5**).

Following the evolution experiment, the double resistant lineages had acquired 11 different secondary mutations distributed in five out of eight lineages (**Figure 9**). Among these, three lineages of each carried a single intragenic secondary mutation where a putative compensatory mutation appeared in the same *rpoB* locus. Four lineages (B, C, E, F) carried a reversion mutation in the *cyoA* gene and, surprisingly, all these four lineages improved their growth rates ranging from 5% to 17%. Among these 4 lineages, we also identified a mutation in *rpsD* gene encoding small subunit of ribosome called S4 together with a secondary mutation in *rpoB* and a *cyoA* reversion mutation, and the highest fitness improvement was observed in this lineage (E).



Figure 8 Observed mutations and corresponding fitness compensation among $Rif^{R}Stp^{R}$ double resistant evolved lineages. Top panel shows the secondary mutations observed in the evolved lineages, and the bottom panel shows relative fitness compensation [% relative growth rate]. All the green bars and red bars represent positive and negative fitness respectively. Lineage G (indicated by the red bar) compensated cost compared to other three (A, D and H) by harbouring a secondary mutation in *lon* the gene.

However, one lineage (F) improved fitness by 5% without harbouring any secondary mutations in *rpoB* or *rpsL* locus suggesting that the greater fitness compensation in this lineage was mediated by *cyoA* reversion together with a secondary mutation in gene encoding TCS kinase (**Figure 8**). Interestingly, all the *rpoB* mutations found in the double resistance genotypes were distinct, and none of them were found to be common in any lineages initialised with the RifR resistant genotype (**Figure 9**).



Figure 9 A map of *rpoB* gene showing the distribution of secondary mutations observed in the populations evolved from both Rif^{R} and $\operatorname{Rif}^{R}\operatorname{Stp}^{R}$ after ~325 generations. The amino acid change highlighted in red is the primary rifampicin resistance mutation. Green and blue colour indicates the secondary mutations observed in the Rif^{R} and $\operatorname{Rif}^{R}\operatorname{Stp}^{R}$ population, respectively.

By contrast, in four lineages (A, D, G and H), we did not identify any secondary mutation in *rpoB*, *rpsD* or *cyoA*, and there was no compensation of the cost of resistance among these three lineages. However, we observed a secondary mutation in a gene encoding Lon protease in one lineage (G). This lineage experienced improved fitness compared to other three lineages (A, D, and H) suggesting a putative compensatory mutation. Spontaneous mutation in the lon gene has been found to be associated with tetracycline or chloramphenicol resistant *E. coli* [40]. However, in a recent study, it has been shown that mutations in lon genes confer low level of multidrug resistance via the activation of efflux pump systems [41]. For example, mutated Lon protease stabilizes MarA and SoxA transcriptional activators and induces the AcrAB-TolC efflux-pump, which in turn confers multidrug resistance. However, the co-occurrence of this mutation along with other resistance mutations may suggest that this mutation may be involved in simultaneously improving fitness as well as conferring strong resistance to other drugs through epistatic interaction.

Discussion

The frequency of resistant bacteria and their subsequent adaptation in the absence of antimicrobial compounds are associated with the amount of antibiotics used, the cost of resistance mutations (i.e., reduced competitive ability compared to the susceptible counterparts), and the ability of resistant genotypes to compensate this cost [14, 36-39]. This phenomenon of compensation in bacterial populations has been well characterised by employing both in vivo and in vitro experiments in many studies [17, 18, 40-42]. It is assumed that compensatory adaptation to the cost of resistance is critical to these evolutionary dynamics because it can slow or prevent the extinction of resistant genotypes in the absence of selection pressure. More specifically, the mechanism of compensation is thought to depend on many factors such as mutation in a particular genetic background, the degree of cost associated with the resistance mutation as well as adaptation to the infected hosts [13, 14, 22, 42]. In previous studies [16-18, 43, 44], the mechanism of compensation was mostly investigated by employing a bacterial population resistant to a single drug. For example, the mechanism of compensation was studied in strains carrying known rifampicin (rpoB resistance) and streptomycin (rpsL resistance) mutations. However, no comparative studies at the genomic level have been conducted to uncover the genetics of compensation in strains carrying multiple drug resistance mutations.

In this study, whole genome sequencing of a double resistant genotype of ancestral origin revealed an additional mutation in the cyoA gene (which encodes cytochrome bo terminal oxidase A associated with respiratory chain system) with other two distinct drug-specific resistance mutations in the *rpoB* and *rpsL* loci. This mutation in *cyoA* locus unexpectedly occurred during construction of this genotype by natural transformation assay. The mutation may have arisen for a number of reasons, for example: 1) natural transformation requires competent cells which are more vulnerable to the environmental perturbation, 2) natural transformation itself a costly metabolic process which involves many genes to take up the foreign DNA pieces into cytoplasm, and 3) this process also requires sets of other genes in the final step of homologous recombination. In our case, the additional cost of this transformation process incurred by a costly *rpoB* mutation may have given rise to this additional mutation. This mutant has previously been found to be associated with reduced rates of cellular respiration [45]. Recent studies also suggested that altered cellular respiration could be the result of the altered translation process, or translation inhibition may have other non-metabolic effects on the cell which in turn could give rise to decreased susceptibility to bactericidal antibiotics, as has recently been shown by a study carried out with mutant cyoA harbouring E. coli, which conferred high a level of resistance against bactericidal antibiotics such as norfloxacin, ampicillin, and gentamicin [37, 38]. Therefore, motivated by these findings, we also assume that this additional *cyoA* mutation was responsible for reduced growth rate through epistatic interaction, and also may have given rise to high-level resistance to other bactericidal antibiotics in our study organism that we have not tested in our yet. In addition to this, additional mutations in other genetic loci may occur in both single and multidrug resistant bacterial population of laboratory and natural origin. This additional mutation may have profound effects on the rate of bacterial adaptation in the absence of drug pressure, especially in cases where resistance to multiple drugs conferred by mutations at multiple loci. One recent study [44] has opined the importance of general beneficial mutations in overcoming the fitness cost of the compensatory mutation. This study has suggested to include antibiotic-resistant mutants that carry other types of resistance mutations and assess compensatory adaptation in those genotypes evolved from experimental evolution, since the mechanism of antibiotic resistance is diverse and many other parts of the genome are also affected by antibiotics, for example resistant genotypes may enriched with other beneficial or deleterious mutations in the genome.

One of the main findings in our study is that 50% of evolved multidrug resistant lineages (4/8 lineages) carried reversion mutations in the cyoA gene, suggesting parallel evolution [46, 47]. Thus, the *cyoA* gene in these populations under strong positive selection also played a central role in the adaptive process. Surprisingly, three of these lineages (B, C, E) experienced higher fitness compensation and also harboured a secondary mutation in the rpoB locus, but one lineage (F) was less fit because this lineage evolved with a mutation in a gene encoding TCS kinase protein with no secondary mutation in the *rpoB* locus. This result suggests that all the rpoB secondary mutations that occurred in these populations were indeed involved in the compensatory adaptation. Most notably one lineage (E) that experienced greater fitness improvement (17.5%) harboured a secondary mutation in the rpsD gene. Mutations in the rpsD gene are well known for fitness compensation of rpsL mutations conferring resistance to streptomycin [48]. It is also worth mentioning that *rpsD* mutations are associated with fitness compensation of streptomycin resistance mutations in the *rpsL* gene, but in the absence of *rpsL* mutations rpsD mutations alone can confer resistance to streptomycin [43]. Thus, these results suggest that, even in presence of an additional mutation in the cyoA locus, both rpoB and rpsD are indeed common loci, where most of the secondary mutations involved in fitness compensation for rifampicin and streptomycin resistant genotypes occurred. In one case, we have also found a minor fitness compensation induced by a secondary mutation in a gene encoding two-component sensory kinase (TCS). This result suggests that adaptation to the cost of multiple resistance mutations can also be achieved by acquiring secondary mutation in offtargeted region (different from commonly found compensatory regions, such as rpoB and *rpoD*) of the genome. However, we have not observed any fitness compensation among four other lineages owing to the fact that none of these lineages harboured any secondary mutations like what we have observed in four different fitness-compensatory double resistant lineages. Interestingly, in one lineage, we have observed that fitness cost was further exacerbated by a mutation in the lon gene previously reported to be associated with low level of multidrug resistance [41, 49-51]. Competitive fitness estimate for all the double resistant genotypes also revealed that all the lineages harbouring secondary mutations together with cyoA reversion greatly improved fitness cost after ~325 generation. Together with this, our results suggest that fitness compensation among multidrug resistant population is caused mainly by secondary mutations commonly occurring at compensatory loci (targeted regions such as *rpoB* and *rpsL*) and also follow a parallel evolutionary trajectory (i.e. reversion mutation) for costly mutations in other loci in the same genome. Furthermore, our results suggest that in the absence of compensation multidrug resistant populations can intensify their fitness cost further by acquiring additional drug resistance mutations in other locations of the genome. Reversion in the *cyoA* locus may also suggest that some genomic loci may accidentally acquire deleterious mutations, which can then revert back to the original state at high rate owing to the cost associated with it.

We have observed seven different secondary mutations in five of the eight different StpR evolved populations, but none of them were found in the expected *rpsD* or rpsE loci [16, 48]. Most of the observed secondary mutations in StpR resistant evolved lineages were either neutral or deleterious given that some mutations were either involved in negligible fitness compensation or were found to be associated with further increase in fitness cost. This could be due to the fact that mutation conferring resistance to streptomycin antibiotic incurred low fitness cost in absence of drug pressure; thus this low cost resistance mutation has given rise to secondary mutations in less-known genetic loci which are involved in minor fitness compensation or slight increases in fitness cost, as has been found in earlier studies [52]. Among these, in two lineages, we have observed identical transversion mutation in genes encoding hypothetical proteins, which were not involved in significant fitness compensation. This observation, though found in a limited number of lineages, may also suggest parallel evolution in uncharacterised hypothetical genes of strains carrying streptomycin resistance mutation in rpsL locus. Among these, only a single lineage carried a secondary mutation in a gene encoding ferric siderophore receptor protein greatly benefitted from growth improvement (by ~6%). However, one lineage that carried a secondary mutation in a hypothetical gene improved its fitness by about 3%, which was accompanied by an additional point mutation (synonymous) in a gene encoding the ABC-transporter protein. Mutations in these hypothetical loci suggest that all these mutations are alone not sufficient to improve the fitness burden, but the cost reduction could be accelerated by a mutation in other genetic locus through an epistatic interaction [16, 53]. The MIC of streptomycin was unchanged in all the evolved lineages, but interestingly increased resistance to rifampicin was observed among all these replicate populations evolved from streptomycin resistance genotypes (Figure 6) suggesting that less sensitive resistant genotypes (i.e. a streptomycin resistance mutation with low fitness cost) helped these populations develop resistance to a new antibiotic (i.e. rifampicin) by avoiding both extremely beneficial or deleterious secondary mutations in the absence of selection pressure. However, none of these secondary mutations were commonly detected in any of the double resistant genotypes. This could be explained by the fact that selection for the low-cost resistance mutation (conferred by streptomycin resistance mutation) in the double resistant background is less effective since the selection of compensatory adaptation for the costly rifampicin resistant mutation in *rpoB* locus in the genome is stronger.

We observed secondary mutations in six different RifR resistant evolved lineages, whereas no secondary mutation was observed for two lineages. Interestingly, two of these lineages have evolved with an identical secondary mutation in the *rpoB* gene suggesting parallel evolution and thus this mutation was fixed in these populations by positive selection. Interestingly, this mutation has also helped these lineages recover maximum fitness. We have also identified identical transition mutations in two other lineages but in two different loci; in one lineage this mutation was accompanied by a secondary mutation in the *rpoB* gene and improved fitness, whereas this transition mutation was found in another locus but not accompanied by other secondary mutations and fitness cost was further accelerated in this lineage. These results support the proposition that this secondary mutation in *rpoB* locus is indeed a fitness compensatory mutation which can improve fitness to a greater extent in presence of a transition mutation in the *rpoB* locus. In addition to this, our results support the notion that owing to the costly resistance mutation, rifampicin resistant genotypes evolved with more compensatory mutations rather than other beneficial mutation.

Furthermore, we were interested to see whether the secondary mutations that occurred in RifR lineages were also observed in the RifRStpR lineages. Therefore, we mapped the location of all *rpoB* secondary mutations (**Figure 9**). The map shows that none of these mutations were commonly shared by any RifR and RifRStpR evolved populations suggesting that the genetic basis of compensation of multidrug resistant bacteria is independent of the genetic backgrounds associated with the single drug resistant bacteria. In three other lineages of RifRStpR, fitness costs were further magnified where no secondary mutations were observed. In all these double mutant lineages, the MIC to both rifampicin and streptomycin remained unchanged.

Our experimental evolution experiment using single and double resistant genotypes with an additional mutation has revealed the genetic basis of adaptation to the cost of resistance. In most cases, we have observed minor improvements in fitness due to off-targeted beneficial mutations, and this has constrained the compensatory evolution which is thought to occur in the same protein or pathway where antibiotic resistance mutations also arise [1, 54]. In our

case, we have observed pathway-specific secondary mutations, which improved highest fitness among genotypes belonging to both rifampicin resistant genotype and the double resistant genotype, highlighting the dependency of compensatory adaptation on costly resistance mutation.

In conclusion, our data supports the empirical observation that genetic basis of compensation in both single and double resistant genotype depends on both intragenic and extragenic mutations. In double resistant genotypes, this compensation is independent of the genetic background of mutations occurred in single resistant genotypes. Furthermore, we have identified some regions in the *rpoB* locus from costly RifR and RifRStpR lineages where most of the secondary mutations were observed. Overall, the results we have presented here further increase our understanding of the adaptive molecular evolution, and partially explain the increasing clinical problem of multidrug resistant bacteria.

References

1. Maisnier-Patin, S. and D.I. Andersson, *Adaptation to the deleterious effects of antimicrobial drug resistance mutations by compensatory evolution*. Research in Microbiology, 2004. 155(5): p. 360-369.

2. Wright, S., *The shifting balance theory and macroevolution*. Annual review of genetics, 1982. 16(1): p. 1-20.

3. Kimura, M., Some models of neutral evolution, compensatory evolution, and the shifting balance process. Theoretical population biology, 1990. 37(1): p. 150-158.

4. Keightley, P.D. and A. Eyre-Walker, *Deleterious mutations and the evolution of sex*. Science, 2000. 290(5490): p. 331-333.

5. Kondrashov, A.S., *Deleterious mutations and the evolution of sexual reproduction*. Nature, 1988. 336(6198): p. 435-440.

6. Burch, C.L. and L. Chao, *Evolution by small steps and rugged landscapes in the RNA virus* ϕ 6. Genetics, 1999. 151(3): p. 921-927.

7. Poon, A. and S.P. Otto, *Compensating for our load of mutations: freezing the meltdown of small populations*. Evolution, 2000. 54(5): p. 1467-1479.

8. Lande, R., *Risk of population extinction from fixation of deleterious and reverse mutations*. Genetica, 1998. 102: p. 21-27.

9. Moore, F.B.-G., D.E. Rozen, and R.E. Lenski, *Pervasive compensatory adaptation in Escherichia coli*. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 2000. 267(1442): p. 515-522.

Tenover, F.C., *Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria*. Am J Med, 2006.
119(6 Suppl 1): p. S3-10; discussion S62-70.

11. McManus, M.C., *Mechanisms of bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents*. American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, 1997. 54(12): p. 1420-1433.

12. Blair, J.M., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2015. 13(1): p. 42-51.

13. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2010. 8(4): p. 260-71.

14. Andersson, D.I. and B.R. Levin, *The biological cost of antibiotic resistance*. Current opinion in microbiology, 1999. 2(5): p. 489-493.

15. Lenski, R.E., *Bacterial evolution and the cost of antibiotic resistance*. International Microbiology, 2010. 1(4): p. 265-270.

16. Björkman, J., et al., *Effects of environment on compensatory mutations to ameliorate costs of antibiotic resistance*. Science, 2000. 287(5457): p. 1479-1482.

17. Brandis, G. and D. Hughes, *Genetic characterization of compensatory evolution in strains carrying rpoB Ser531Leu, the rifampicin resistance mutation most frequently found in clinical isolates.* J Antimicrob Chemother, 2013.

18. Brandis, G., et al., *Fitness-compensatory mutations in rifampicin-resistant RNA polymerase*. Mol Microbiol, 2012. 85(1): p. 142-51.

19. Levin, B.R., V. Perrot, and N. Walker, *Compensatory mutations, antibiotic resistance and the population genetics of adaptive evolution in bacteria.* Genetics, 2000. 154(3): p. 985-997.

20. Maisnier-Patin, S., et al., *Compensatory adaptation to the deleterious effect of antibiotic resistance in Salmonella typhimurium*. Molecular microbiology, 2002. 46(2): p. 355-366.

21. Nagaev, I., et al., *Biological cost and compensatory evolution in fusidic acid-resistant Staphylococcus aureus*. Molecular microbiology, 2001. 40(2): p. 433-439.

22. Comas, I., et al., *Whole-genome sequencing of rifampicin-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains identifies compensatory mutations in RNA polymerase genes.* Nature genetics, 2012. 44(1): p. 106-110.
23. Soskine, M. and D.S. Tawfik, *Mutational effects and the evolution of new protein functions*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2010. 11(8): p. 572-582.

24. Hughes, D. and D.I. Andersson, *Evolutionary consequences of drug resistance: shared principles across diverse targets and organisms*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2015. 16(8): p. 459-471.

Schrag, S.J. and V. Perrot, *Reducing antibiotic resistance*. Nature, 1996. 381(6578): p.
 120.

26. MacLean, R.C., G. Bell, and P.B. Rainey, *The evolution of a pleiotropic fitness tradeoff in Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2004. 101(21): p. 8072-8077.

27. Pelchovich, G., et al., *The contribution of common rpsL mutations in Escherichia coli to sensitivity to ribosome targeting antibiotics*. Int J Med Microbiol, 2013.

28. Gagneux, S., et al., *The competitive cost of antibiotic resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Science, 2006. 312(5782): p. 1944-1946.

29. Trindade, S., et al., *Positive epistasis drives the acquisition of multidrug resistance*. PLoS genetics, 2009. 5(7).

30. Barbe, V., et al., Unique features revealed by the genome sequence of Acinetobacter sp. ADP1, a versatile and naturally transformation competent bacterium. Nucleic Acids Res, 2004. 32(19): p. 5766-79.

31. Tupin, A., et al., *Resistance to rifampicin: at the crossroads between ecological, genomic and medical concerns.* International journal of antimicrobial agents, 2010. 35(6): p. 519-523.

32. Springer, B., et al., *Mechanisms of streptomycin resistance: selection of mutations in the 16S rRNA gene conferring resistance*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2001. 45(10): p. 2877-84.

33. de Vries, d.J. and W. Wackernagel, *Detection of nptII (kanamycin resistance) genes in genomes of transgenic plants by marker-rescue transformation*. Molecular and General Genetics MGG, 1998. 257(6): p. 606-613.

34. Travisano, M. and R.E. Lenski, *Long-term experimental evolution in Escherichia coli*. *IV. Targets of selection and the specificity of adaptation*. Genetics, 1996. 143(1): p. 15-26.

35. Hall, A., *Genotype-by-environment interactions due to antibiotic resistance and adaptation in Escherichia coli.* Journal of evolutionary biology, 2013. 26(8): p. 1655-1664.

36. Durão, P., et al., *Multiple resistance at no cost: rifampicin and streptomycin a dangerous liaison in the spread of antibiotic resistance.* Molecular biology and evolution, 2015. 32(10): p. 2675-2680.

37. Erickson, K.E., P.B. Otoupal, and A. Chatterjee, *Gene expression variability underlies adaptive resistance in phenotypically heterogeneous bacterial populations*. ACS Infectious Diseases, 2015. 1(11): p. 555-567.

38. Lobritz, M.A., et al., *Antibiotic efficacy is linked to bacterial cellular respiration*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. 112(27): p. 8173-8180.

39. Baek, C.-H., et al., *Leucine-responsive regulatory protein (Lrp) acts as a virulence repressor in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium*. Journal of bacteriology, 2009. 191(4): p. 1278-1292.

40. Nicoloff, H., V. Perreten, and S.B. Levy, *Increased genome instability in Escherichia coli lon mutants: relation to emergence of multiple-antibiotic-resistant (Mar) mutants caused by insertion sequence elements and large tandem genomic amplifications*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2007. 51(4): p. 1293-303.

41. Nicoloff, H. and D.I. Andersson, *Lon protease inactivation, or translocation of the lon gene, potentiate bacterial evolution to antibiotic resistance*. Molecular Microbiology, 2013. 90(6): p. 1233-1248.

42. Vogwill, T., et al., *Testing the role of genetic background in parallel evolution using the comparative experimental evolution of antibiotic resistance*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2014: p. msu262.

43. Bjorkman, J., et al., *Novel ribosomal mutations affecting translational accuracy, antibiotic resistance and virulence of Salmonella typhimurium*. Mol Microbiol, 1999. 31(1): p. 53-8.

44. Qi, Q., et al. *The genomic basis of adaptation to the fitness cost of rifampicin resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa.* in Proc. R. Soc. B. 2016. The Royal Society.

45. Portnoy, V.A., M.J. Herrgård, and B.Ø. Palsson, *Aerobic fermentation of D-glucose by an evolved cytochrome oxidase-deficient Escherichia coli strain*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2008. 74(24): p. 7561-7569.

46. Lieberman, T.D., et al., *Parallel bacterial evolution within multiple patients identifies candidate pathogenicity genes.* Nature genetics, 2011. 43(12): p. 1275-1280.

47. Tenaillon, O., et al., *The molecular diversity of adaptive convergence*. Science, 2012. 335(6067): p. 457-461.

48. Björkman, J., et al., *Novel ribosomal mutations affecting translational accuracy, antibiotic resistance and virulence of Salmonella typhimurium*. Molecular microbiology, 1999. 31(1): p. 53-58.

49. Adler, M., et al., *Combinations of mutations in envZ, ftsI, mrdA, acrB and acrR can cause high-level carbapenem resistance in Escherichia coli*. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2016. 71(5): p. 1188-1198.

50. Bhaskarla, C., et al., Roles of Lon protease and its substrate MarA during sodium salicylate-mediated growth reduction and antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli. Microbiology, 2016. 162(5): p. 764-776.

51. Fang, L., et al., *Step-wise increase in tigecycline resistance in Klebsiella pneumoniae associated with mutations in ramR, lon and rpsJ.* PloS one, 2016. 11(10): p. e0165019.

52. Angst, D.C. and A.R. Hall, *The cost of antibiotic resistance depends on evolutionary history in Escherichia coli*. BMC evolutionary biology, 2013. 13(1): p. 163.

53. Schrag, S.J., V. Perrot, and B.R. Levin, *Adaptation to the fitness costs of antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli*. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 1997. 264(1386): p. 1287-1291.

54. Davis, B.H., A.F. Poon, and M.C. *Whitlock, Compensatory mutations are repeatable and clustered within proteins.* Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 2009. 276(1663): p. 1823-1827.

Supplementary materials

Table S 4 List of primers used in amplifying target genes.

Gene name	Primer sequence
rpoB 1 (forward)	TTCGATTCAGGTCGACTCGT
rpoB 1 (reverse)	CAGGCGTTCTGGAACAAGAT
rpoB 2 (forward)	TGGATCAAAACAACCCATTG
rpoB 2 (reverse)	ATCGCCACGACCCACTTTAT
rrs 1 (forward)	GGCAGGCTTAACACATGCAA
rrs 1 (reverse)	CTACGCATTTCACCGCTACA
rrs 1 (forward)	CTGGAGGAATACCGATGGCG
rrs 1 (reverse)	TAACCGCCCTCTTTGCAGTT
rpsL (forward)	ATGGCAACAACAAATCAGTT
rpsL (reverse)	TTATTTCTTAGGACGTTTAG

Table S5 PCR master mix preparation per reaction

Reagents	Amount [uL/reaction tube]
PCR buffer 10x	2.5
MgCl2 25 mM	2.5
dNTP 10mM	0.5
TaqGold 5U /μL	0.1
Primer mix (conc. 0.5µM) (F+R)	1.5
Sigma H2O	17.9
Template DNA	5
Tolal volume	30

Table S6 Setup for PCR program

PCR program:					
Step	Temperature	Time			
1 (hold)	95°C	6 minutes			
2 (denaturation)	94°C	45 seconds			
3 (annealing)	58°C	45 seconds			
4 (elongation)	72°C	2 minutes			
5 (repetition)	Step 2 to 4 for 35 cycles				
6 (final elongation)	72°C	10 minutes			

Table S7 Observed mutations in the evolved streptomycin resistant lineages.

Original	Technical	Position	Amino Acid	Protein Effect	Mutaion history
lineage	lineage		Change		
3	А	732,196	V -> M	Substitution	FSR
3	А	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original <i>rpsL</i>
					resistance mutation
5	В	2,755,427	Intergenic	Intergenic	Int (between Trp and
					CitN)
5	В	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original rpsL
					resistance mutation
6	С	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original rpsL
					resistance mutation
6	С	943,763	I -> R	Substitution	HP
6	С	1,487,504	L -> L	Synonymous	ABC transporter
7	D	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original rpsL
					resistance mutation
8	Е	943,763	I -> R	Substitution	HP
8	Е	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original rpsL

					resistance
					mutation
8	Е	2,747,986	T-> T	Synonymous	HP
9	F	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original <i>rpsL</i>
					resistance mutation
9	F	294,112	M -> T	Substitution	HP
10	G	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original rpsL
					resistance mutation
11	Н	865,048	K -> T	Substitution	Original <i>rpsL</i>
					resistance mutation

Table S8 Observed mutation in the evolved rifampicin resistant lineages.

Lineage	Technical	Position	Amino acid	Protein ffect	Mutation history
	lineage		change		
1	А	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB, original mutaion
1	А	302,864	T -> A	Substitution	rpoB, compensatory
2	В	302,864	T -> A	Substitution	rpoB, compensatory
2	В	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB, original mutaion
3	С	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB, original mutaion
3	С	304,608	D -> A	Substitution	<i>rpoB</i> , compensatory
4	D	304,167	P -> H	Substitution	New mutation in <i>rpoB</i>
4	D	931,154	Q -> Stop	Truncation	hemagglutinin/hemolysin-related protein
5	Е	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB, original mutaion
5	Е	3,392,952	Q -> Stop	Truncation	Two component sensor kinase
8	F	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB, original mutaion
8	F	304,196	S -> A	Substitution	rpoB, compensatory
10	G	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB, original mutaion
15	Н	115,202	Y -> C	Substitution	Lrp
15	Н	304,167	P -> L	Substitution	rpoB original mutation

Lineage	Technical	Position	Amino Type of mutaion		Mutation history
	lineage		acid		
			change		
1	А	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
1	А	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
1	А	2,391,960	S -> P	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>cyoA</i> mutation
2	В	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
2	В	304,466	A -> S	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
2	В	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
2	В	2,392,267	S -> L	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
4	С	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
4	С	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
6	D	302,860	N -> K	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
6	D	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
6	D	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
9	Е	304,029	N -> T	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
9	Е	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
9	Е	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
9	Е	3,123,145	S -> F	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
10	F	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
10	F	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
10	F	3,392,837	S -> R	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
11	G	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
11	G	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original rpsL resistance mutation
11	G	1,102,100	G -> D	Nonsynonymous	Compensatory
11	G	2,391,960	S -> P	Nonsynonymous	Original cyoA mutation
16	Н	304,167	P -> L	Nonsynonymous	rpoB original resistance mutation
16	Н	865,048	K -> T	Nonsynonymous	Original <i>rpsL</i> resistance mutation
16	Н	2,391,960	S -> P	Nonsynonymous	Original cyoA mutation

Table S9 Observed mutation in the evolved double resistant evolved lineages



Figure S5 Fitness of double resistant genotype. Plot shows two different double mutant genotypes ($\text{Stp}^{R}\text{Rif}^{R}$) with a star indicating an additional mutation in *cyoA* harboured by one double resistant ($\text{Stp}^{R}\text{Rif}^{R}$) genotype. locus and a completely susceptible genotype. Error bar = ± 1 S.E.M. Susc: completely susceptible genotype; $\text{Stp}^{R}\text{Rif}^{R}$: double mutant genotype harbouring both K43T in *rpsL* gene and P571L mutation in *rpoB* gene.

Chapter 5: General discussion

Multidrug therapy has been regarded as an effective treatment strategy over traditional monotherapy because of the rapid evolution of resistant pathogen against single drug. For example, combination therapy produces effective therapeutic response by producing synergistic interactions with different cellular targets of the pathogen simultaneously [1]. Therefore, drug combination yet regarded as a standard-of-care treatment. One prominent example of such treatment protocol widely being used is against *M. tuberculosis*. In recent days this therapy is also extensively being prescribed against many other important clinical pathogens, such as Gram negative bacilli [2]. However, the widespread prevalence of bacterial resistance to multiple antibiotics has restricted our current therapeutic arsenal to a greater extent. This is due to the fact that multidrug resistance and subsequent adaptation to multiple drugs present both practical and theoretical challenges for proposing successful therapeutic interventions and control of such problematic infectious organisms.

Many earlier studies have drawn different conclusions concerning factors contributing to the rate of resistance evolution under varying contexts, including the molecular characteristics of the resistance mutations, the fitness effects of drug resistance mutations in the presence and absence of drug induced selective pressure, and how these factors impact the evolutionary trajectories of the resistant population [3-7]. However, it is not fully understood how *de novo* multidrug resistance evolution takes place in an environment enriched with drug combinations. In relation to this, we remain largely ignorant of many factors, for example to what extent two-drug pharmacodynamics, drug-drug interaction, cross-resistance, epistasis, recombination and compensatory mutations contribute to the emergence, spread and adaptation of *de novo* multidrug resistance evolution [8]; therefore these factors deserve to be assessed by taking proper experimental approaches. This PhD thesis attempted to expand our understanding further by investigating these factors involving the de novo multidrug resistance evolution and subsequent adaptation under laboratory conditions.

In chapter 2, fitness landscapes comprising both susceptible and resistant genotypes were characterised under two-drug antimicrobial therapy to understand the evolutionary dynamics of

mutations at multiple loci conferring resistance to multiple drugs. Specifically, motivated by a recent theoretical work [9], I investigated to what extent two-drug pharmacodynamics, drugdrug interaction, and cross-resistance are associated with epistasis – an important property of the pharmacodynamic fitness landscapes and a determinant of the evolution of antibiotic resistance [10, 11]. Epistasis can occur between genes [12], within a single gene encoding a single resistance protein [13, 14], or between chromosomal gene and plasmid [15]. Many studies have identified a pervasive epistasis in bacterial adaptive evolution of multidrug resistance under diverse conditions. For example, in two studies positive epistasis between resistance mutations was reported in the cost of resistance [16, 17].

Here, our results show mostly weak or no epistasis between different sets of resistance conferring mutations in absence or presence of varying concentrations of two-drug combinations. In all but except one cases (i.e., epistasis between kanamycin-rifampicin and kanamycin-streptomycin resistance mutation) diminished fitness for all double resistant genotype was apparent in absence of drug pressure. These slower growth rates in absence of drug pressure were mostly due to the fitness cost incurred by drug specific resistant mutations occurred in the chromosomes, which has given rise to non-epistatic fitness landscapes. Although the genetic context is different, such non-epistatic fitness landscape was previously reported in E. coli [18], but at the same time our result in absence of drug pressure differs from earlier empirical studies where positive epistasis was pervasive [17, 19]. Therefore, from our data it is apparent that in order to have an epistatic effect on the fitness landscape, genetic background or mutational history with degree of fitness cost incurred by different resistance conferring mutations is important component. We observed negative epistasis between rifampicin and streptomycin resistance mutation when the concentration of rifampicin was higher and combined with streptomycin antibiotics. This could be explained by the fact that the high cost rifampicin resistance mutation requires higher concentration of rifampicin antibiotic in order to release its high fitness cost. However, it is also important to mention here that an additional point mutation (i.e. mutation in cyoA gene we identified by whole genome sequencing) was present in this genotype; cyoA was previously reported to be involved in bacterial intrinsic physiological constraint [20-22] and also incurred additional fitness cost. We speculate that without this additional mutation, the fitness landscape comprising this genotype might also be less or non-epistatic. Therefore, we suspect that this type of deleterious mutation may be also have occurred and confounded previous studies where epistasis was measured without conducting whole genome sequencing [16, 17, 23, 24].

We further investigated the occurrence of cross-resistance and its association with epistasis. Theoretical observation suggests that epistasis can emerge when cross-resistance is pervasive. For example, in presence of cross-resistance (i.e., when both drugs confer resistance to each other with the same degree) positive epistasis will ensue when two resistance mutations jointly increase the MIC of both drugs but negative epistasis will follow when combined effect of both mutations only entails slightly increase or does not increase in MIC compared to individual mutational effect [51]. Multidrug resistance through cross-resistance has already been reported in many clinical situations. For example, bacteria harbouring a single point mutation or a resistance enzyme capable of neutralizing many different antibiotics, including NDM-1 (New-Delhi Metallo-B-lactamase carried by the plasmid) producing K. pneumoniae capable of hydrolysing many other different antibiotics [25], or altered efflux-pump mediated crossresistance has also been found to be associated with resistance to multiple drugs in many bacterial species, including P. aeruginosa and many other Gram negative bacilli [26, 27]. We also observed cross-resistance in single resistant genotype; for example streptomycin resistant genotype can grow slowly in presence of high concentration of rifampicin or kanamycin. The observed cross-resistance between streptomycin and kanamycin would be due to the fact that both antibiotics belong to the same chemical class and also target the same cellular process. Therefore, only a single resistance gene can provide accelerated growth advantage. Our result is also well aligned with a previous systematic study, which also identified cross-resistance between these two drugs [28]. However, in another case we observed that the same resistant genotype exhibited cross-resistance when exposed to rifampicin antibiotics and this finding differ by previous study [28]. One plausible explanation is such that both antibiotics target the same flow of the cellular process of protein synthesis, involving bacterial transcription and translation inhibition. This means that a genotype with an altered protein synthesis machinery may be capable of conferring resistance to other antibiotics when the target of both antibiotics are belonging to a fundamental cellular process. Therefore, our study highlights the need for more detailed studies for further understanding of cross-resistance, which might be helpful in designing effective treatment strategies in many clinical situations, especially in the case of drug cycling.

Theoretical and empirical studies suggest that synergistic and antagonistic drug interaction leading to positive and negative epistasis can also accelerate or slow down the evolution of multidrug resistance, respectively [9, 29]. We observed a varying degree of synergistic drug

interaction between kanamycin and rifampicin. This result indicates a good concordance with previous studies [17, 29], but differs from the expected epistasis [9], where we observed no epistasis. This result signifies the fact that evolution of multidrug resistance can be accelerated by synergistic drug interaction with non-epistatic fitness landscapes.

Although our fitness landscapes were largely non-epistatic, we further explored how the mutant selection window (MSW) was affected by different genotypes in the presence of multidrug environment. Previous studies have reported that the MSW can vary or remain static under two-drug antimicrobial environment [30, 31]. In our case, we observed extended MSWs ranging from minimal selective concentration (MSC) to the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). This wider MSW is implicated with resistance emergence such that some drug concentrations allowed wild-type susceptible bacteria to grow at very low concentrations of kanamycin and rifampicin combination. This clearly suggests that selection of resistance, multidrug resistance in particular, may occur at the MSC concentration of this drug pair. Similar observations was made by an earlier study in experimental bacterial population in presence of a single drug [32]. Wider MSW was observed for the kanamycin-streptomycin antibiotic combination, but a narrower MSW was observed for the rifampicin and streptomycin drug pair followed a traditional MSW. Overall, our results suggest that selection of resistance against multiple drugs may also occur at sub-MIC combination of two-drugs and/or in a situation when there is a cross-resistance imparted by a singly resistant genotype. The result we have presented here also supports the concept of minimal selective concentration (MSC) as has been suggested by an earlier study [32]. Overall, the results we have presented here may enhance our understanding of the multidrug resistance evolution under variety of drug environments. Our results together with previous study [33] suggest that resistance selection occurs at very low antibiotic concentration. Therefore, our study warrants the need for the revision of the traditional concept of mutant selection window, especially in the case of evolution of multidrug resistance.

Our results may be constrained by some factors such that we use only growth rate as the proxy for fitness, but we have not measured kill rates, which may be associated with epistasis beyond the MIC. Besides this, additional fitness components such as carrying capacity and growth rate at lag phase were not assessed which are also determinants of the maintenance of resistance. In one previous study, it has been shown that rifampicin resistant genotypes were beneficial with respect to growth rate but deleterious with respect to their carrying capacity despite their competitive superiority [20]. Our results also highlight the importance of studying epistasis

between multiple resistance mutations in various organisms to explore the pattern of epistasis across species belonging to both Gram positive and Gram negative, since previous studies, including ours were predominantly carried out in a limited number of bacterial systems of Gram negative origin.

In chapter 3, an experimental evolution experiment was employed where replicate populations of both naturally competent (Rec+) and non-competent (Rec-) A. baylvi was propagated by daily serial transfer in presence of two antibiotics used in combinations for ~650 generation. Following, evolved populations were systemically investigated to understand how a fully susceptible bacterial population gives rise to multiple drug resistance by recombination via natural transformation under sub-lethal concentration of rifampicin and streptomycin combination. While our phenotypic observation revealed a minor effect of adaptive potential of recombination via natural transformation under low selection pressure, but indistinguishable fitness between Rec+ and Rec- populations invalidated the benefit of recombination. We hypothesized that such uniform fitness between Rec+ and Rec- populations might be due to static selection pressure maintained throughout the serial transfer, which only affected selectively important regulatory genes of both Rec+ and Rec- populations such that resistance mutations arose and selected during the early phase of evolution and this has resulted in elevated fitness improvement irrespective of genetic competence. This idea was supported by one previous study, which reports selection of resistance at very low MIC [32]. In our study, this prediction was supported by the fold-MIC changes in antimicrobial susceptibility, which revealed that adaptation to both drugs that we used for the low and high drug treatments was strong enough to produce selection based benefit for all the populations, irrespective of competence or non-competence. Taken together, these results further suggest that under antibiotic combination, adaptation did occur, and it was primarily driven by (1) selection of resistance mutations against drug pairs that we applied, and (2) limited genetic diversity in the evolving population in response to these selection pressures.

It is assumed that recombination via natural transformation can accelerate bacterial adaptation with higher mutation rates or by decreasing mutational loads [34]. The mechanistic basis of high mutational load in the population is accomplished by bringing beneficial mutations (i.e., here different drug resistance mutations) from separate cells into a single genetic background. This phenomenon is called Fisher and Muller effect), this would increase the fixation rate of the recombinant cells [35]. Conversely it was suggested that competence could reduce the

fixation rate of the recombinant cells and eliminate them from the experimental population given that deleterious mutations would be naturally selected and integrated into a single genome alone or in combination by epistatic interaction, or the new mutations arising in the recipient strain would be replaced or corrected by wild type allele in the population. In the latter case, recombination event would be undetectable [36]. In our case, under antibiotic combination, we anticipated that Rec+ populations would potentially alter mutation fixation rate by bringing drug specific resistant mutations from separate cells into a single genetic background and increase the fixation rate of the recombinant cells conferring resistance to multiple drugs. However, after one hundred days of evolution our genome data revealed a lower abundance of substitution mutations compared to previous naturally transformable opportunistic pathogen S. pneumoniae [36], H. pylori [37], Haemophilus influenza [38], and P. aeruginosa [39]. Even in the presence of such low number of mutations, Rec- populations were enriched with high number of mutations. Large deletions and intergenic mutations were also different in both Rec+ and Rec- population. One plausible explanation for the high number of mutations in Rec- would be due to the disruption of competence associated genes, and this has likely help them acquire more mutations than Rec+ populations. On the contrary, Rec+ populations were enriched with high number of intergenic and deletion mutations than Recpopulations. Together these results also suggest that some of these mutations were naturally selected irrespective of recombination efficient and deficient populations, as has been the case in P. aeruginosa [52].

Mutation in *rpoB* locus was predominantly observed in both Rec+ and Rec- populations. Mutation in *rpoB* gene encoding RNA-polymerase β -subunit is widely responsible for resistance to rifampicin antibiotics [46, 55]. This high abundance of *rpoB* mutation correlates with elevated fitness gain during early phase of evolution – irrespective of Rec+ and Rec-populations. These results also support that *rpoB* mutation was fixed by natural selection at the early phase of evolution, and also suggest that the frequency of rifampicin resistance is higher than the streptomycin resistance. In addition to the *rpoB* mutation, we observed mutations in other genetic loci as has been found in clinically significant bacterial pathogens. Among these, some mutation [45, 46], while others contribute to the high level phenotypic resistance to multiple drugs, including common fluoroquinolone resistance [56-58]. Thus, we suggest that this high number of mutations in the populations evolved under stressful environments possibly played an adaptive process. Furthermore, high number of *rpoB* mutation indicates a

substantial parallel evolution, which means that natural selection acted upon this mutation in antibiotics induced selective environments. Genotypic parallelism has been documented in many experimentally evolved bacterial populations, including evolution of *P. aeruginosa* under ciprofloxacin antibiotic drug pressure [52]. Similar *rpoB* mutation in each replicate population line suggesting that the majority of parallel evolution was indeed due to the selection of drug specific resistance mutations.

We further attempted to determine to what extent low number of genomic mutations that we have observed is associated with the evolution and maintenance of natural transformation under sub-lethal concentration of rifampicin and streptomycin antimicrobials. Therefore, we explored transformation frequency (data not presented here) among Rec+ ancestral genotype of A. baylyi in identical selective environments, as has been used for the evolution experiment. Our result on the low frequency of tranformants cells in the populations across all three environments suggesting that the selective environment that we have used is independent of transformation frequency. Additionally, low number of transformants may also reflect the fact that different pathways involving DNA recombination process basically corrected the altered DNA strand, which occurs during taking up DNA under sub-lethal selection environments. Thus, we observed a low number of mutations or we were unable to detect the benefit of natural transformations in the endpoint populations. Such diminished transformation efficiency in A. baylyi was previously reported under variety of environments [40, 41]. In general, the genomic changes that we have identified were previously shown to potentiate resistance to multiple other antimicrobial compounds through targeted and off-targeted mechanisms [42, 43]. This has been reflected by the elevated level ciprofloxacin resistance after ~650 generations. High substitution rates were previously thought to be involved in simultaneous fixation of several mutations in presence of an antibiotic environment [44], our results here suggest that several drug specific resistance mutations can be fixed under sub-lethal combination of two drugs even in presence of low substitution rates. Overall, we observed no significant evidence that recombination by natural transformation facilitates adaptation to multiple antibiotics, presumably because the limited number of mutations that were spreading in the populations prevented clonal interference.

Under antibiotics induced selective environments, bacteria evolve resistance to particular antibiotics by acquiring drug specific genomic mutations (as has been shown in chapter 2 and 3) or by horizontally transferred genetic material carrying resistance determinants [27, 45, 46].

These mutational alterations or acquisition of new genomic determinants weaken or interfere with bacterial important physiological functions. And not surprisingly these interruptions are often associated with fitness cost, which has resulted in decreased survival, reduced growth rate, reduced transmission, and/or reduced virulence in pathogenic bacteria [3, 4, 47]. In absence of antibiotics, some of these resistance mutations disappear from the population or revert back to the original wild type state, or in some cases the deleterious effect of resistance mutations is reduced by so called second-site compensatory/suppressor mutations (CMs) at the same or different locus in the genome [48]. CMs are thought to be deleterious when they appear alone but beneficial when co-occurring with the original deleterious mutation thus representing a form of sign-epistasis. This is yet a poorly understood biological phenomenon, and has important implications not only for the evolutionary consequences of mutations but also for the genetic complexity of adaptation in many biological systems, including bacterial resistance to antibiotics [48]. The study conducted by Schrag and Perrot [49] provided direct evidence of the mechanism of compensation by evolving streptomycin resistant E. coli population in the absence of streptomycin which found 6% of fitness improvement by evolving second-site compensatory mutation. Since then, many other observations have been made by studying both clinical and laboratory populations, including in Salmonella typhimurium [50], M. tuberculosis [51], Pseudomonas species [52-54] and many more. In the mentioned studies, mechanisms of compensation were investigated only for single chromosomal resistance mutations. However, the mechanism of compensation of the additional mutations that have been frequently associated with multiple drug resistance is not explored properly. From a clinical viewpoint understanding of compensatory adaptation in multidrug resistant populations is crucial since resistant pathogens can stabilize inside patients by simultaneous adaptation to the cost followed by conservation of the resistance phenotype to the drugs. This particular scenario probably makes treatment very difficult to eradicate the pathogen from the patients by traditional antimicrobial therapy.

In chapter 4, we investigated this adaptive role of compensatory mutations by employing an experimental evolution experiment to explore the potential phenotypic and genomic basis of compensatory adaptation in resistant genotypes of both single and multidrug resistance origin. Specifically, we intended to explore some of the yet unknown questions in terms of the dynamics of mutational spectra, effect of additional deleterious mutations on compensation, or other genetic changes that arise during adaptive evolution. Uncovering these factors is important to determine whether evolutionary adaptation to the cost of multiple drug resistance

mutations generate any substantial genetic variations which differ from compensation to the cost of single drug resistance mutation.

Although the genetic locations of the evolved mutations were different, whole genome sequence data revealed an abundance of pathway specific secondary mutation, namely in *rpoB* locus in both rifampicin resistant genotype and the doubly resistant genotype suggesting a putative compensatory mutation. Secondary mutations in other non-specific loci, intergenic locations or truncation mutations in both single and double resistant genotypes also provided genetic basis of compensation since none of these mutations were detected in the susceptible genotype. Surprisingly whole genome sequencing revealed an identical reversion mutation in *cyoA* locus, which was an additional mutation harboured by multidrug resistance populations. This additional mutation also contributes to the elevated fitness compensation when coupled with putative compensatory or small effect beneficial mutation in costly resistance locus. This finding suggests, in terms of clinical relevance, that natural populations constantly facing different environmental perturbations inside the body host may acquire deleterious mutation. Therefore, the rate of compensation by reversion in these populations is high compared to the traditional laboratory reversion rate. We suspect that such additional mutation may have occurred in previous studies [50, 55-63] where mechanism of compensation was studied for a single drug resistance mutation with unexploited genomic information. Therefore, the true biological role of compensatory mutations in those studies may have been misrepresentative. However, this additional mutation may have profound effects on the rate of bacterial adaptation in absence of drug pressure, especially in the case where resistance to multiple drugs conferred by mutation at multiple loci in clinical populations. Another relevance for the inclusion of this genotype is that this mutation may have occurred during recombination process; therefore it is also possible that this type of mutations may frequently appear in dynamic host environment where bacteria frequently acquire resistant determinants by horizontal gene transfer.

In this study, putative compensatory mutations were not identified for the less costly streptomycin resistant genotype but were present in the costly rifampicin resistant genotype. Such trend also was apparent in double resistant genotype. Two important plausible reasons can be drawn: 1) *rpoB* acts as a global regulator for other genes and thus affect many different important cellular pathways. Therefore, any alteration in this global regulator entails significant fitness burden, 2) the simplest explanation for the absence of compensatory mutations to streptomycin mutation is presumably owing to the low fitness cost, or *rpsL* gene is more

restrictive because of the high fidelity translation process, thus only minor fitness cost conferring single mutation is accessible for streptomycin resistance but cannot accommodate more mutations in any ribosomal proteins but can improve fitness by acquiring small step secondary mutations in other loci, 3) similar explanation could be drawn for the double resistant genotype where we observe compensatory mutation in the *rpoB* locus, except one where *rpsD* compensatory mutation was also observed. This is due to the fact that *rpsL* mutation can cause streptomycin dependency, which means that streptomycin resistant genotype can grow better in presence of elevated concentration of streptomycin antibiotic, and secondary mutation in *rpsD* can release the streptomycin dependency and also can compensate for the fitness cost. Overall, we did not find any overlap across the three mutant backgrounds suggesting that genetic basis of compensation is independent of genetic background between single and multidrug resistant bacteria.

In conclusion, determining evolutionary routes towards antibiotic resistance is essential, and this will extend the successful use of antibiotics in real clinical situation. Among many factors, evolution of resistance can be predicted once we know about factors such as the mutation supply rate, the degree and level of resistance conferred by different resistance mechanisms, the fitness (i.e., growth rate and death rate) of the resistant bacteria in presence and absence of antibiotics, and the strength of selective pressures [3, 5, 64, 65]. Additionally, other factors such as epistatic interactions, compensatory evolution, co-selection of drug resistances, and population bottlenecks with clonal interference can strongly impact the resistance evolution [8]. Determining all these factors is challenging owing to the lack of quantitative data. However, this PhD thesis attempted to explore some of these factors involving the evolution of antibiotic resistance, multidrug resistance in particular. For example, our findings suggest that the sub-MIC antibiotic concentrations thought to be generated in certain body compartment during combination therapy may potentiate the evolution of *de novo* multidrug resistance, as has previously been reported for different single drugs [66, 67]. Another important aspect of this current study is the occurrence of cross-resistance [28]. We suggest that a wider MSW can also occur in presence of cross-resistance. Overall, our results underlies the importance of choosing the right drug during cyclic treatment, as well as using optimal treatment dosing regimes during combination therapy that exclude the prolonged exposure of sub-MIC level of antibiotics. In future more extension of our works would be necessary to pinpoint different factors implicating the evolution of de novo multidrug resistance in bacteria.

Reference

- Leekha, S., C.L. Terrell, and R.S. Edson. *General principles of antimicrobial therapy*. in *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 2011. Elsevier.
- Tamma, P.D., S.E. Cosgrove, and L.L. Maragakis, *Combination therapy for treatment* of infections with gram-negative bacteria. Clinical microbiology reviews, 2012. 25(3): p. 450-470.
- 3. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2010. **8**(4): p. 260-71.
- 4. Andersson, D.I. and B.R. Levin, *The biological cost of antibiotic resistance*. Current opinion in microbiology, 1999. **2**(5): p. 489-493.
- Hughes, D. and D.I. Andersson, Evolutionary consequences of drug resistance: shared principles across diverse targets and organisms. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2015. 16(8): p. 459-471.
- Martínez, J.L., F. Baquero, and D.I. Andersson, *Predicting antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2007. 5(12): p. 958-965.
- Levin, B.R., et al., *The population genetics of antibiotic resistance*. Clin Infect Dis, 1997. 24 Suppl 1: p. S9-16.
- Hughes, D. and D.I. Andersson, *Evolutionary Trajectories to Antibiotic Resistance*. Annual Review of Microbiology, 2017(0).
- 9. Engelstadter, J., *Fitness landscapes emerging from pharmacodynamic functions in the evolution of multidrug resistance.* J Evol Biol, 2014.
- Kondrashov, A.S., *Deleterious mutations and the evolution of sexual reproduction*. Nature, 1988. **336**(6198): p. 435-440.
- Wong, A., *Epistasis and the Evolution of Antimicrobial Resistance*. Frontiers in Microbiology, 2017. 8(246).
- 12. Angst, D.C. and A.R. Hall, *The cost of antibiotic resistance depends on evolutionary history in Escherichia coli*. BMC evolutionary biology, 2013. **13**(1): p. 163.
- 13. Schenk, M.F., et al., *Quantifying the adaptive potential of an antibiotic resistance enzyme*. PLoS Genet, 2012. **8**(6): p. e1002783.
- 14. Weinreich, D.M., et al., *Darwinian evolution can follow only very few mutational paths to fitter proteins.* science, 2006. **312**(5770): p. 111-114.
- 15. San Millan, A., et al., *Interactions between horizontally acquired genes create a fitness cost in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Nature communications, 2015. **6**.

- 16. Durão, P., et al., *Multiple resistance at no cost: rifampicin and streptomycin a dangerous liaison in the spread of antibiotic resistance*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2015. **32**(10): p. 2675-2680.
- 17. Trindade, S., et al., *Positive epistasis drives the acquisition of multidrug resistance*.
 PLoS genetics, 2009. 5(7).
- Elena, S.F. and R.E. Lenski, Test of synergistic interactions among deleterious mutations in bacteria. Nature, 1997. 390(6658): p. 395-398.
- 19. Ward, H., G. Perron, and R. Maclean, *The cost of multiple drug resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa.* Journal of evolutionary biology, 2009. **22**(5): p. 997-1003.
- Lobritz, M.A., et al., *Antibiotic efficacy is linked to bacterial cellular respiration*.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. 112(27): p. 8173-8180.
- Mempin, R., et al., *Release of extracellular ATP by bacteria during growth*. BMC Microbiology, 2013. 13(1): p. 301.
- 22. Portnoy, V.A., M.J. Herrgård, and B.Ø. Palsson, *Aerobic fermentation of D-glucose by an evolved cytochrome oxidase-deficient Escherichia coli strain*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2008. **74**(24): p. 7561-7569.
- 23. MacLean, R.C. and A. Buckling, *The Distribution of Fitness Effects of Beneficial Mutations in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. PLOS Genetics, 2009. **5**(3): p. e1000406.
- 24. MacLean, R., Predicting epistasis: an experimental test of metabolic control theory with bacterial transcription and translation. Journal of evolutionary biology, 2010.
 23(3): p. 488-493.
- 25. Yong, D., et al., Characterization of a new metallo-β-lactamase gene, blaNDM-1, and a novel erythromycin esterase gene carried on a unique genetic structure in Klebsiella pneumoniae sequence type 14 from India. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2009. 53(12): p. 5046-5054.
- Hancock, R.E., Resistance mechanisms in Pseudomonas aeruginosa and other nonfermentative gram-negative bacteria. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 1998.
 27(Supplement 1): p. S93-S99.
- 27. Tenover, F.C., *Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria*. Am J Med, 2006.
 119(6 Suppl 1): p. S3-10; discussion S62-70.
- Imamovic, L. and M.O.A. Sommer, Use of Collateral Sensitivity Networks to Design Drug Cycling Protocols That Avoid Resistance Development. Science Translational Medicine, 2013. 5(204): p. 204ra132-204ra132.

- 29. Hegreness, M., et al., *Accelerated evolution of resistance in multidrug environments*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. **105**(37): p. 13977-13981.
- Michel, J.-B., et al., *Drug interactions modulate the potential for evolution of resistance*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(39): p. 14918-14923.
- 31. Zhanel, G.G., et al., Mutant prevention concentrations of levofloxacin alone and in combination with azithromycin, ceftazidime, colistin (Polymyxin E), meropenem, piperacillin-tazobactam, and tobramycin against Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2006. 50(6): p. 2228-2230.
- 32. Gullberg, E., et al., Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations.PLoS Pathog, 2011. 7(7): p. e1002158.
- Drlica, K. and X. Zhao, *Mutant Selection Window Hypothesis Updated*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2007. 44(5): p. 681-688.
- 34. Redfield, R.J., *Evolution of bacterial transformation: is sex with dead cells ever better than no sex at all?* Genetics, 1988. **119**(1): p. 213-221.
- 35. Fogle, C.A., J.L. Nagle, and M.M. Desai, *Clonal interference, multiple mutations and adaptation in large asexual populations*. Genetics, 2008. **180**(4): p. 2163-2173.
- 36. Engelmoer, D.J., I. Donaldson, and D.E. Rozen, *Conservative sex and the benefits of transformation in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. PLoS Pathog, 2013. **9**(11): p. e1003758.
- Björkholm, B., et al., *Mutation frequency and biological cost of antibiotic resistance in Helicobacter pylori*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2001. 98(25): p. 14607-14612.
- Watson Jr, M.E., J.L. Burns, and A.L. Smith, *Hypermutable Haemophilus influenzae* with mutations in mutS are found in cystic fibrosis sputum. Microbiology, 2004. 150(9): p. 2947-2958.
- Oliver, A., et al., *High frequency of hypermutable Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis lung infection*. Science, 2000. 288(5469): p. 1251-1253.
- 40. Bacher, J.M., D. Metzgar, and V. de Crécy-Lagard, *Rapid evolution of diminished transformability in Acinetobacter baylyi*. Journal of bacteriology, 2006. **188**(24): p. 8534-8542.
- 41. Utnes, A.L., et al., *Growth phase-specific evolutionary benefits of natural transformation in Acinetobacter baylyi.* The ISME journal, 2015.

- 42. Wang, K.K., et al., *A hybrid drug limits resistance by evading the action of the multiple antibiotic resistance pathway*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2016. **33**(2): p. 492-500.
- 43. Toprak, E., et al., *Evolutionary paths to antibiotic resistance under dynamically sustained drug selection*. Nature genetics, 2012. **44**(1): p. 101-105.
- 44. Wong, A. and K. Seguin, *Effects of genotype on rates of substitution during experimental evolution*. Evolution, 2015. **69**(7): p. 1772-85.
- 45. Blair, J.M., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2015. **13**(1): p. 42-51.
- 46. McManus, M.C., *Mechanisms of bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents*. American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, 1997. **54**(12): p. 1420-1433.
- 47. Lenski, R.E., *Bacterial evolution and the cost of antibiotic resistance*. International Microbiology, 2010. **1**(4): p. 265-270.
- 48. Maisnier-Patin, S. and D.I. Andersson, *Adaptation to the deleterious effects of antimicrobial drug resistance mutations by compensatory evolution*. Research in Microbiology, 2004. **155**(5): p. 360-369.
- 49. Schrag, S.J. and V. Perrot, *Reducing antibiotic resistance*. Nature, 1996. 381(6578): p. 120.
- 50. Maisnier-Patin, S., et al., Compensatory adaptation to the deleterious effect of antibiotic resistance in Salmonella typhimurium. Molecular microbiology, 2002. 46(2): p. 355-366.
- 51. Gagneux, S., et al., *The competitive cost of antibiotic resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Science, 2006. **312**(5782): p. 1944-1946.
- 52. MacLean, R.C., G. Bell, and P.B. Rainey, *The evolution of a pleiotropic fitness tradeoff* in *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2004. **101**(21): p. 8072-8077.
- 53. MacLean, R.C., G.G. Perron, and A. Gardner, *Diminishing returns from beneficial mutations and pervasive epistasis shape the fitness landscape for rifampicin resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Genetics, 2010. **186**(4): p. 1345-54.
- 54. Qi, Q., et al. *The genomic basis of adaptation to the fitness cost of rifampicin resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa.* in *Proc. R. Soc. B.* 2016. The Royal Society.
- 55. Vogwill, T., et al., *Testing the role of genetic background in parallel evolution using the comparative experimental evolution of antibiotic resistance*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2014: p. msu262.

- 56. Nagaev, I., et al., *Biological cost and compensatory evolution in fusidic acid-resistant Staphylococcus aureus*. Molecular microbiology, 2001. **40**(2): p. 433-439.
- Moore, F.B.-G., D.E. Rozen, and R.E. Lenski, *Pervasive compensatory adaptation in Escherichia coli*. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 2000. 267(1442): p. 515-522.
- 58. de Vos, M., et al., *Putative compensatory mutations in the rpoC gene of rifampinresistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis are associated with ongoing transmission.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2013. **57**(2): p. 827-32.
- 59. Brown, K.M., et al., *Compensatory mutations restore fitness during the evolution of dihydrofolate reductase*. Molecular biology and evolution, 2010. **27**(12): p. 2682-2690.
- 60. Brandis, G., et al., *Fitness-compensatory mutations in rifampicin-resistant RNA polymerase*. Mol Microbiol, 2012. **85**(1): p. 142-51.
- 61. Brandis, G. and D. Hughes, *Genetic characterization of compensatory evolution in strains carrying rpoB Ser531Leu, the rifampicin resistance mutation most frequently found in clinical isolates.* J Antimicrob Chemother, 2013.
- Bjorkman, J., et al., Novel ribosomal mutations affecting translational accuracy, antibiotic resistance and virulence of Salmonella typhimurium. Mol Microbiol, 1999.
 31(1): p. 53-8.
- 63. Bjorkman, J., et al., *Effects of environment on compensatory mutations to ameliorate costs of antibiotic resistance*. Science, 2000. **287**(5457): p. 1479-82.
- 64. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Persistence of antibiotic resistance in bacterial populations*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 2011. **35**(5): p. 901-11.
- 65. Andersson, D.I. and D. Hughes, *Evolution of antibiotic resistance at non-lethal drug concentrations*. Drug Resist Updat, 2012. **15**(3): p. 162-72.
- 66. Negri, M.C., et al., *Concentration-dependent selection of small phenotypic differences in TEM beta-lactamase-mediated antibiotic resistance*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2000. **44**(9): p. 2485-91.
- 67. Gullberg, E., et al., Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations.
 PLoS pathogens, 2011. 7(7): p. e1002158.